Annexure-I

UNDERTAKING BY THE INFORMER

I am aware that the extent of reward depends on the precision of the information furnished by me; that the provision of section 82 of the Indian Penal Code have been read by and/or explained to me; that I am aware that if the information furnished by me is found to be false, I would be liable to prosecution; that I accept that the Government is under no obligation to enter into any correspondence regarding details of seizure made etc., if any, and that the payment of reward is ex-gratia in the absolute discretion of the authority competent to grant reward. It is clear to me that the Government is under no obligation to grant/sanction the maximum admissible reward upto 20% of the net sale proceeds of the seized/confiscated goods, (if any) and/or the amount of additional duty/penalty/redemption fine recovered and that the amount of reward to be sanctioned to me will purely depend on the specificity and accuracy of the information and other dependant factors as per the reward instructions dated 20th June, 2001. 
Left thumb impression or signature of the informer

 Annexure –II
AE-1 INFORMATION REPORT

AE-I Number……      .                                                         Date:………………..

1.  Source & Date of Information


:

2.
Subject Report:




          :

(a)  Name of the assessee



:

(b)  Name of the jurisdictional Division  &  
:

       Commissionerate

(c)   Modus Operandi



         :

(d)   Estimated amount of duty evasion

:

(e)   Value of the offending goods


:

3.  Information

4.  Proposed action with details of  premises      
 :

     to be covered

5. For working out, the information
is      

 :

forwarded to

6.  Grading (must be completed by reporting    
 :                               

     officer

Source


                  Information

    Reporting officer                       

Completely reliable

1.
Confirmed               

Usually reliable
           
2.
Probably true

Fairly reliable


3.
Possibly true

Not usually reliable

4.
Doubtfully true

Unreliable


          5.
Improbable report

Reliably unknown

          6.
Truth can’t be judged

____________________________________________________________________
Time    : 





Signature of Reporting officer with date

Place   :

Annexure –III
WARRANT OF AUTHORISATION FOR SEARCH
To


Shri……………………………..


………………………………


……………………………


Whereas an information has been laid before me which is considered to be reliable and due enquiry having been made thereupon, I have reason to believe that goods liable to confiscation and documents relevant to the proceedings under the Central Excises Act, 1944 are secreted in the business / residential premises of 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………


Now, therefore, in exercise of the powers conferred upon me under Section 105 of the Customs Act, 1962, made applicable to Central Excise vide Government of India (Ministry of Finance) Notification No.68/63-CE dated 4.5.1963 (as amended), issued under section 12 of the Central Excises Act, 1944, I authorize and require you to search the above premises with such assistance as may be necessary for the said goods or documents and/or any other things relevant to the proceedings, under the said Act, and, if found, to seize and  produce the same forthwith before me for further disposal under the Central Excises Act, 1944 and rules made thereunder.


Given under my hand & seal this…………………………………………..day of

……………………..month………………………….200…..








Signature, Name and designation of the 





           issuing authority

Seal of issuing Authority

Annexure – IV

FORM OF SUPURDNAMA

To


The President of India


I/We ……………………………………..S/.o……………………………..of M/s…………………………………………………………………………………………..R/o…………………………………………P.O…………………………Distt…………...do hereby state that I/We have on this…………………………day of…………………..200……………………….received from……………………….of Central Excise…………………………………….the following number of packages containing……………………………………………………………………………


(State the description of the goods)

valued at Rs…………………………in consideration of the sum of Rs……………………..paid by the Central Excise Department.


I/We hereby undertake to keep the said packages with me/us for safe custody.  I/We further undertake to produce the said packages containing the said goods intact and in the same condition as they are (reasonable wear and tear accepted), whenever called upon to do so by the competent authority of Central Excise Department and not to deliver the same to any person or otherwise dispose of or deal with the same without an order from the proper officer of Central Excise Department. I shall neither claim any ownership of the goods nor charge any rent for keeping the goods in safe custody.

Witnesses





                     Signature of Bailer

1.

2.




PARTICULARS OF THE SEIZED GOODS


1.
Name of owner of the seized goods…………………………………….


2.
Description & Qty. of goods……………………………………………


3.
Value ……………………………………………………………………


4.
Amount of duty involved………………………………………………


5.
Condition of goods……………………………………………………..








                            Signature of the bailer

Signature & Designation of the officer before

Whom the goods are given in the custody of

Shri……………………………………….

Annexure-V

GENERAL FORMAT OF PANCHNAMA DRAWN FOR SEARCH

Panch No.1

Complete details viz. Name, age, parentage

Panch No.2

Residential address & occupation


We the above named Panchas having been called upon by Shri ………..  (named & designation of the s/w holder) presented ourselves today……….at ………..at (address of the premises to be searched) to witness the search operation intended to be conducted by a team of officers of Central Excise led by Shri………


On reaching the aforesaid premises, the officers met Shri………… (name of the person incharge of the premises) and introduced themselves as the officers of Central Excise.  The officers introduced themselves by showing their identity card and disclosed the purpose of visit by showing the warrant of authorisation for search issued by………………………….  (details of S.W. issuing authority) under section 105 of the Customs Act, 1962 made applicable to Central Excise cases under section 12 of the Central Excise Act, 1944.  Shri………………  (person incharge of the premises) and we, the panchas have put out dated signatures on the search warrant in token of having seen the same. The officers of Central Excise offered themselves for personal search which was politely declined by Shri ………….. (person incharge).  The team of officers also included Smt. ……………. as a lady officer.  The search was, thereafter, commenced. 

DETAILS OF SEARCH
……………………………

……………………………


Details of search conducted should include goods and documents recovered and seized enclosed in Annexures. The legal grounds for seizure being liable for confiscation or relevant for proceedings etc. should be recorded. The place from where these recoveries were made should be recorded in the panchnama.  Procedure adopted for quantification of goods should also be recorded.  Pages should be properly numbered and signed by the person incharge as well as the witnesses.  Locker, almirahs etc. if any sealed should be recorded.  Cash seized should be recorded.  Any other important event also be recorded.  


The search operation started at …………… hours and concluded at ……….. hours.  The officers after conclusion of search offered themselves for personal search which was declined by the party. The officers have taken into possession nothing except for the goods/records/documents seized as detailed in Annexure to this Panchnama.  The proceedings were conducted peacefully and no damage was done either to property or to persons.  The aforesaid proceedings were conducted in our presence. The panchnama was read over and explained to us in Vernacular also.  We are satisfied with the manner of search and the contents of Panchnama.

Signature of the officer              Signature of the party                Panch No.1

authorised to search                                                                      Panch No.2
Annexure-VI

C.No…….                                                                             Date:

A.E. II (OFFENCE REPORT/SEIZURE REPORT)

1.
Name & address of party 
:

2.
Date & time of detection
:

3.
Commodity & Chapter
:

4.
Value and the duty 

:


involved in seized goods

5.
Estimated duty involved
:

         in offending goods – other

         than seized goods, if any.

6.
Modus operandi

:

7.
Rules contravened

:

8.
Name of the officers

:

        and role played.

9.
Brief facts of the case
:

Name & Designation

Copy to:


1.
The Director General, DGCEI, New Delhi.

2.
The Additional Director General, DGCEI, 


Jurisdictional Zonal Units.

         3.   The Commissioner Central Excise

Annexure – VII

SUMMONS

To


……………………………….


……………………………….


Sub:- Case of………………………………………..


Whereas a case against/about…………………………………………………
Under Section(s) ……….of the Central Excise Act, 1944, the Central Excise Rules 2002/the Customs Act, 1962 is being enquired by me/under my orders.


And whereas I have reason to believe that you are in possession of facts or/and documents and records which are material to the above enquiry.


You are hereby summoned under Section 14 of the Central Excise Act, 1944/108 of the Customs Act, 1962 to appear before me in person/by an authorized agent on…………………………..the day of……………………..at……………………hrs. in the office of………………………………………………………to give evidence truthfully on such matters concerning the enquiry as you may be asked and produce the documents and records mentioned in the Schedule for my examination.


If you fail to comply with this summons without lawful excuse, you will be liable to be punished under the law.






-Schedule-

Given under my hand and seal of office to-day the…………………………………







Signature………………………………







Designation……………………………

Seal of Office.

Note- Under sub section 3 of Section 14 of the Central Excise Act, 1944, the above enquiry is deemed to be a judicial proceeding within the meaning of section 193 and 228 of the Indian Penal Code, 1860.

Annexure –VIII
ARREST MEMO





                                                 Dated ………………

To


_________________________


__________________________


Consequent upon recovery of incriminating documents and the statements of other witnesses it has emerged that ……………………………..(Name of the person to be arrested and his designation and address) having a factory of…………….(name of the commodity) situated at……………………(name and address of the factory) had actively participated in the………………………..(nature of the offence) in violation of the provisions of Central Excises Act, 1944 and Rule………………..of Central Excise Rules made thereunder.


I, ………………………..Inspector (Preventive), Office of the Commissioner, Central Excise/Additional Director General, DGCEI………………having office at…………………………, therefore, having reason to believe that you are liable to punishment under the provisions of section………………………………………………………….of the Central Excise Act, 1944 and being duly authorized, hereby arrest you today the………………….(date & time) at…………….(Place) under the powers vested in me under Section 13 of the said Act.







Name & designation of the arresting officer


Before arresting, the JAMA TALASHI of Shri……………………….(name of the person arrested) was taken and he is possessing………………..(description of the valuables and cash) which are kept with the arresting officer under sealed envelope with the inventory written over the envelope.   

Name & designation of the arresting officer

Witnesses to the arrest:-
1.

2.

    (Signature, name & address)

Annexure – IX
CHALLAN FOR HANDING OVER PERSONS ARRESTED

To


The Officer in Charge,


………………………………………….Police Station,


The person(s) mentioned below is/are forwarded to you under Section 19 of the Central Excise Act, 1944 for safe custody.  He/they were arrested by me at……………………………………………on……………………………under section…………………………………of the Central Excise Act, 1944, for violation of Section…………………………………of the said Act.  He/they should be produced before the Court of……………………………………………at 10AM on the………………    OR  the undersigned shall take back the custody of the arrested person on …………. (date & time) for producing him before the court of …………………. . 




Particulars of the arrested person(s)

_______________________________________________________________​_
Sl.   No.
  Name
Father’s name

Full Address

Remarks
_________________________________________________________________







Signature, name & designation of the  

                                                                        Central Excise Officer








Date………………………………..

Signature of the Officer-in-Charge to

whom the arrested person(s) is/are

forwarded………………………….

Date  ……………………………..

Annexure – X

BAIL BOND AND SECURITY BOND


I………………………………………….Son of…………………………………

of (address)…………………………………………………………………..being charged with the offence of………………………………………………………………………….

do hereby bind myself to appear at…………………………………………………………

in the court of………………………………………………………at…………………….

hours on……………………the day of…………………………….and thereafter from day today until otherwise directed by such Magistrage, to answer further to the said charge, and in the case of my making default therein, I bind myself to forfeit to the President of India the sum of Rs,……………………………………………………..


Dated, the………………………………day of……………………19……….







Signature of the arrested person………..






Surety/Sureties


I/We ……………………………………….Son of…………………………..

Jointly and severally hereby declare myself/ourselves surety/sureties for the aforesaid…………………………………………..son of………………………………….

of……………………………………that he shall appear before………………………….

At……………………..hours on the…………………………day of and thereafter from day to day until otherwise directed to answer to the charge pending against him, and in case of his failure to do so, I/We jointly and severally bind myself/ourselves to forfeit to the President of India the sum of Rupees………………….







Signature…………………………………..







Profession…………………………………







Address……………………………………







Date……………………………………….

Annexure XI
FORMAT FOR APPROVAL OF PROSECUTION

Commissionerate ……………
                                          Division…………..
1.  Name & address of the company

:

2.  Nature of offence including commodity
:

3.  Charges





:

4.  Period of offence



:

5.  Amount of evasion involved


:

6.  Particulars of persons proposed to be prosecuted:
	(1)(a)
	Name
	

	    (b)
	Father’s Name
	

	    (c)
	Age of Sex
	

	    (d)
	Address
	

	    (e)
	Occupation
	

	    (f)
	Position held in the company
	

	    (g)
	Role played in the offence
	

	    (h)
	Material evidence available against the accused (Please indicate separately documentary and oral evidence).
	

	     (i)
	Action ordered against the accused in adjudication.
	


7. Brief note why prosecution is recommended:

NOTE:

A. The proposal should be made in the above form in conformity with the guidelines issued by the Ministry.  With regard to column 3 above, all the charging sections in the Central Excise Act and other allied Acts should be mentioned.  If the provision for conspiracy as under Section 120B of IPC is sought to be invoked, this fact should be clearly mentioned.  With regard to column 6, information should be filed separately for each person sought to be prosecuted.

B. A copy of the Show Cause Notice as well as the order of adjudication should be enclosed with this Report.  If any appeal has been filed, this fact should be specifically stated.

Annexure XII
CERTIFICATE OF DISBURSAL OF REWARD FOR DEPARTMENTAL USE
 Certified that a sum of Rs. …………… /- (Rs..  ………………………     only), sanctioned as advance/final reward vide Director General/ Additional Director General of Central Excise Intelligence, New Delhi’s Order No.  …………  … dated …………  issued under F. No. ……………..     ……..  in the case against M/s  ………………………………….                detected on   …………………..and drawn in contingent bill No…………………………      dated   ……………  from State Bank of India, I.P. Estate, New Delhi, was paid in cash to the right informer from whom a receipt has been obtained by me in the presence of  two witnesses.

Signature of disbursing authority

With rubber stamp affixed giving

           his full name and designation

Note: - Two copies are made.  One copy is kept in case file from where reward is 

            disbursed and another copy sent to cashier.


Annexure -XIII
CERTIFICATE OF DISBURSAL OF REWARD TO THE CORRECT INFORMER
Received a sum of Rs. ………………….. (Rs.   ………………….                   only) in cash as advance/final  reward in the case against M/s.                                  detected on       from Director General, DGCEI, New Delhi today i.e.    .

Thumb Impression/Signature

Signature of the identifying officer 

of the informer with date of                            with name and designation

payment and code No.

Certified that the payment has been made to the right informer whose thumb impression/signature appears on the above receipt, this day the                      , 2003.










Name and designation of the disbursing officer 

Signature of witness Officer:

1.

(Name & Designation )

2.

(Name & Designation )

Note:- Only one copy of this Certificate is made and kept in a separate sealed 
envelope with the sealed envelope containing original information.  Both 
envelops are kept in safe custody.

Annexure XIV

CERTIFICATE OF DISBURSAL OF REWARD FOR INCOME TAX PURPOSES

Certified that a sum of Rs.  ……………. /- (Rs. ………………                          only) sanctioned as advance/final reward vide Director General/Additional Director General, New Delhi’s order No                      dated           issued under F. No        ………………………has been paid to the right person whose thumb impression/signature is given below.

Thumb Impression/Signature of

the informer.

Signature of the Disbursing authority 

                                                                   with rubber stamp affixed giving 

                                                                   his full name and designation.

Note: - Name and address of informer should never be recorded in this Certificate.  Two copies of this Certificate are made.  The first certificate in which thumb impression of informer is available is given to the informer. The second certificate retained in case file does not have thumb impression of the informer. 
Annexure-XV

VOUCHER


I have incurred Rs…………(Rupees………………….only) from Secret Service Fund in connection with collection and development of intelligence and the developing contacts and sources of information relating to (Name of the office)

Name

Designation

F.No.

Month

Annexure-XVI
STATEMENT OF EXPENDITURE OF SSF FOR THE MONTH OF ………………..

 (Name of  the office)

Opening  Balance

Receipt

Expenditure

Closing Balance

(SPENDING OFFICER)

DESIGNATION

Details of expenditure during the month

S/Shri

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

Total


Certified that an amount of Rs…………(in figures and words) has been spent from the Secret Service Fund during the month of ………………in connection with collection and development of intelligence and for developing contacts and sources of information in the (name of office)

(SPENDING OFFICER)

DESIGNATION

F.No.









Dated:


Forwarded to the (Controlling Officer) alongwith vouchers as above.

(SPENDING OFFICER)

                             DESIGNATION


-I

          INTRODUCTORY

1.
Preamble: This Manual of Departmental Instructions on Preventive and Investigation Work deals with the collection and co-ordination of intelligence relating to the preventive work and the detection of offences, particularly offences relating to Central Excise impinging on duty collection. The instructions contained in this Manual can also be followed with advantages by the regular executive staff in the detection of offences in the course of their normal office work.

2. 
Scope of Instructions: These instructions are supplemental to and must be read in conjunction with the Central Excise Act and rules framed thereunder and the instructions issued by the Board from time to time. They are applicable throughout the territory of India and should not be departed from without strong reasons to be recorded in writing by the officers concerned. In case of any deviation, the officers concerned should report the same to his immediate superior at once. The Commissioner may issue written orders providing for any supplemental matters arising out of the Act and the Rules, and such orders may, where the Commissioner considers this absolutely essential, permit temporary deviation from the standing instructions. Such orders should be immediately communicated to the Board, and unless of purely local interest, they will normally be subsequently incorporated in the Manual.

3.     
Implementation of Instructions: The Assistant Commissioner /Deputy Commissioners and the Range Officers will be responsible within their respective jurisdictions for the proper observance of the provisions of this Manual by their subordinates;  breaches of the instructions should be treated as misdemeanors and visited with disciplinary action.

4.
Doubtful Points: The officers should refer all points of doubt or difficulty at once to their immediate superiors who will, where necessary obtain the orders of the Commissioner on  matters of special importance, and particularly those involving questions of policy or interpretation of the Act or Rules. All such points should be referred to the Board.

5.  
Amendments: Future amendments and additions to this Volume will be issued on the basis of experience gained. They will usually be sent out in the form of printed amendment slips or replacement sheets which will be numbered serially. All officers must at once amend their copies of the Manual accordingly. The Assistant Commissioner/Deputy Commissioner and Range Officer should review the position at regular intervals and ensure that the Manual is kept up to date at all times.

6.
Custody of Manuals: Since the Manual is a compendium of departmental instructions, the officers are expected to ensure its safe custody.

CHAPTER - II

ANTI-EVASION SET-UP

A. COMMISSIONERATE

(i)
Nature of the Preventive Formations and their Distribution and Location 

 
The character of the various preventive-intelligence formations to be established and their number, distribution and location is decided by the Commissioners in consultation with their staff on the basis of very careful and thorough survey of the Commissionerates in the context of the actual preventive need.  The intensity, concentration and distribution of warehousing and manufacturing  centres, the location of the principal markets, the road and other routes  whereby the bulk of any excisable goods is carried, the special propensity or notoriety of the inhabitants of the area for duty evasion and similar such factors should be considered in setting up of the preventive intelligence formations.  Since the centre of gravity of evasion keeps shifting from time to time, the position of the postings must be periodically reviewed. The present anti evasion set-up in the Commissionerates is as under:-

 Headquarters 

2.
Preventive and intelligence work in the Commissionerates is entrusted to officers called “Preventive Intelligence Officers”. Generally 3 to 4 Superintendents and 20 to 25 Inspectors are posted under one Assistant/Deputy Commissioner who supervises and monitors the day-to-day work and activities of these officers both for preventive and intelligence duties. The work is categorized as under:-

(a)
Collection of Intelligence

3.
The Preventive Intelligence Officers are deployed to collect and develop a sound intelligence system which is the very basis of fruitful preventive work.  The officers serve as mobile field units for collection of intelligence and for procuring information through reliable informers. 

(b)
Transit Checks

4.
The vehicles carrying excisable goods are also checked in transit at vulnerable points by way of road blocks or fixing check posts.  Regular patrolling is also done by the officers to observe the movement of the goods in transit.  In Central Excise, such checks are solely intended to see whether the consignments carried in the vehicles are covered by valid transport documents or invoices.  The road blocks at fixed points on important highways and at other places are mainly meant for the check and rummaging of vehicular traffic to detect contraband goods. 

(c)      Organizing Searches in the Factory, Office as well as Residence

5.
On the basis of intelligence collected and developed by the Preventive Intelligence Officers or gathered through other sources, search operations are carried out in the factory, office, residence and other allied premises.   The documents and records found relevant for further investigation are seized under proper panchnama.  The offending  goods are either detained or seized depending upon the gravity of the offence  and the evidences collected at the time of search. 

(d)      Investigations

6.
The records are scrutinized by the officers and follow up searches, if required, are carried out. The concerned persons are also interrogated and their statements are recorded keeping in view the facts and evidences available on record.  On completion of investigation, a Show Cause Notice,  if warranted,   is issued to the concerned party/parties.

(e)     Miscellaneous  Work

7.
Day-to-day file work along with preparation and  compilation of various reports and returns is also attended to by the Preventive Intelligence Officers. Legal matters including proposals for COFEPOSA as well as prosecution are also looked after by the Preventive Intelligence Officers. The cases pending  adjudication in the Headquarters or at the appeal stage in the Tribunal or Courts are also attended to by these officers.

(f)      Work of Co-ordination

8.
An important function of the Preventive Wing of the Headquarters is the work of co-ordination of preventive intelligence activities of the officers throughout the Commissionerate, maintenance of proper liaison with other Commissionerates of Central Excise as well as Customs, the Directorate General of Revenue Intelligence and allied departments of the Government and building up of central records on anti-evasion activities at the Commissionerate Headquarters.  The co-ordination work should, inter alia, include the following:- 

a) to classify, catalogue and index the secret information, messages and intelligence reports received from the various sources,

b) to scrutinize and collate all information and intelligence reports received from the officers,

c) to supplement the intelligence received from the field units by instituting special enquiries in the directions indicated in the reports,  

d) to co-ordinate the preventive intelligence activities in the Commissionerate as a whole on the basis of the available intelligence,

e) to undertake critical studies of commercial and statistical intelligence like rise or fall in average yield / production and revenue, rise and fall in price index of commodities, rise and fall in export and  import of excisable commodities and rise in the credit availed through Modvat/Cenvat. Such statistics will be mainly based on a proper interpretation of reports, returns and statistics received from the lower formations.  The purpose is to find out to what extent the fluctuations are due to natural causes or otherwise,  

f) to prepare and issue, for the guidance of the officers, monthly intelligence bulletin on the trend, volume and values of duty evasion, showing the places and commodities where the centre of gravity of evasion has shifted, the information available on the activities of the different groups of duty evaders, their modus operandi and areas of action and the nature of the problems which are required to be tackled,

g) to attend the registration and indexing of informers with necessary cross reference to information received from them and the seizure case files,

h)
to maintain the history sheets and index cards of offenders from the seizure reports and history sheets submitted by the seizing officers,  

9.
Having regard to the modus operandi of evasion of Central Excise duty by way of clandestine removal of excisable goods, the checking of the trucks carrying excisable goods at various check posts of Sales Tax / Commercial Tax is unavoidable.  For fruitful results, proper liaison with the officers of the Sales Tax / Commercial Tax of the concerned State government is necessary. Through such contacts, copies of Bilty/GR resumed at the Check Posts can be obtained easily. 

Divisions

10.
As in the case of Headquarters Preventive Unit, preventive and intelligence work in the Division is entrusted to officers styled “Preventive Intelligence Officers”. Generally one Superintendent and 5 to 6 Inspectors are posted under the Divisional Officer who supervises and monitors the day-to-day work and activities of these officers, both for preventive and intelligence duties.   The work of the Preventive Unit in the Division is broadly the same as that of the Headquarters Preventive Unit except that the latter has a somewhat larger role in regard to the work of co-ordination.

(ii)
Technique of Preventive Work 

11.
Preventive Intelligence Officers should not be employed solely on routine checks which rightly fall within the domain of the Range staff.  The preventive officers must endeavor to develop a sound intelligence system which is the very basis of fruitful preventive work.  The officers will serve as mobile field units for collection of intelligence and for procuring information through reliable informers.  

(iii)
Selection of Preventive-Intelligence Officers

12.
The success of preventive and intelligence work largely depends on the selection of the right type of officers as the personal factor invariably plays an important role in this type of work.  The natural aptitude for detection, the knack for collecting intelligence, the honesty, integrity, initiative and drive of the officers should be carefully examined in making the selection.  An officer who is excellent for routine executive duties may be a misfit for preventive work for no other reason than that he is not suited to it by temperament.  In the same manner an officer with fine detective abilities may not be very suitable for regular Range Office or Divisional Office work.  Instead of wasting their talents by haphazard postings the aim should be to make the maximum use of their natural abilities.  Those officers with a flair for detection and with a high sense of integrity and devotion to duty should be prepared and from out of this list, selection should be made for the posts of preventive intelligence officers.

(iv)
Training

13.
Every preventive-intelligence officer should be given a proper training after his selection to enable him to have a sound knowledge of his duties.  He must be trained in the collection of information, compilation of intelligence reports, conducting investigations, carrying out searches and raids, making seizures and the various other duties concerned with his work. Unless his knowledge of the rules, regulations and procedures is thorough and up to date he will lack in both confidence and the ability to do useful preventive and detection work.  He must be made fully aware of his powers and limitations so that he may not be guilty of excesses and indiscretions.  

(v)
Co-operation between the General Executive and the Preventive-Intelligence Officers

14.
Perfect co-operation between the regular executive and the preventive intelligence staff should be developed as their functions are complementary.  It is evident that neither one can function satisfactorily without the active and willing co-operation of the other.  The executive staff may immediately pass on to the preventive-intelligence staff any important information relating to leakage of revenue which may come to their knowledge and which may not be possible for them to work out satisfactorily.  They must similarly communicate to the preventive intelligence officers any reasonable suspicions which they may have about the unlawful activities of any manufacturer in their respective jurisdictions.  A case detected or a seizure made in pursuance of such information will be chiefly a matter of credit to the regular staff and they will be entitled to rewards and appreciation.  The preventive intelligence staff must remember that the success of their work will depend on, to a great extent, the co-operation and support of their colleagues in the Ranges and Divisions.  It will be the special responsibility of the Range and Divisional Officers to ensure that this co-operation between the executive and the preventive staff exists. 

B. 
DIRECTORATE GENERAL OF CENTRAL EXCISE INTELLIGENCE  (DGCEI)

(i) History

15.
The Directorate General of Central Excise Intelligence (DGCEI)  under the Central Board of Excise & Customs, Department of Revenue, Ministry of Finance is the apex intelligence organisation in the area of detection of duty evasion of central excise.

16.
It was in the year 1979 that the Directorate  of Anti-Evasion (Central Excise) was set up as a wing of the Directorate of Revenue Intelligence, New Delhi. It was headed by a Commissioner, who was designated as the Joint Director. Initially it had units at Madras, Delhi, Calcutta and Mumbai. Over a period of time the units in metropolis were upgraded to Zonal Units and Regional Units were   set up at Bangalore, Cochin, Hyderabad, Indore, Kanpur, Pune, Vadodara, Patna and Ludhiana. On  becoming a full-fledged Directorate in 1983, the Joint Director was redesignated as Director. In August, 1988 the Directorate was upgraded to Directorate General under the charge of a Director General posted at its Headquarters at New Delhi and the Zonal Units at Madras, Delhi, Calcutta and Mumbai were headed by Additional Director General.

17.
The year 2000 witnessed further expansion of the Directorate General with the setting up of a number of Regional Units under the respective Zonal Units. With a view to focus on the core area of intelligence gathering and dissemination relating to central excise duty evasion, the name of the Directorate General was changed from the Directorate General of Anti-Evasion (Central Excise) to the Directorate General of Central Excise Intelligence. The restructuring  of the Customs and Central Excise department in November, 2002 had its impact on the Directorate also. As a result two additional Zones, namely Ahmedabad and Bangalore were added. Presently, DGCEI with its Headquarters at New Delhi has 6 Zonal Units and 18 Regional Units.

(ii)
Charter of Functions of DGCEI

18.
The role of the Directorate General in tackling the  menace  of duty   evasion is manifold.  On the one hand, it develops intelligence specially in the new areas of tax evasion through its intelligence network across the country, while on the other, it undertakes ‘system studies’ of various laws and procedures to identify and plug the loopholes that are likely to be misused by the tax evaders.  It receives statistical data as well as details of duty evasion from the field formations across the country and maintains a data bank of the same.  Based on the intelligence and information received, it selectively conducts   search operations and carries out investigations, and the results thereof are disseminated to the field formations by way of modus operandi circulars.  It also assists and advises the Central Excise Commissionerates in the matter of anti-evasion activities, coordinating and supplementing their efforts in the area of detection of duty evasion.  The Directorate General also makes recommendations to the Central Board of Excise & Customs for carrying out suitable legislative and procedural changes with a view to combating evasion.  The detailed charter of functions of DGCEI is as follows:-

i.
Collection, collation and dissemination of intelligence relating to evasion of central excise duties on all India basis.

ii. Studying the modus-operandi of evasion peculiar to excisable commodities and to alert the Commissionerates about it.

iii. Studying the price structure, marketing patterns and classification of commodities in respect of which possibilities of evasion are likely with a view to advising the Commissionerates for plugging loopholes.

iv.   Supplementing and coordinating the efforts of the field formations in investigations in cases of evasion wherever necessary.

v.   Coordinating action with enforcement agencies like Central Economic Intelligence Bureau (CEIB), Income Tax, Sales Tax, Enforcement Directorate etc., in respect of cases in which central excise evasion has come to notice.

vi.
Investigating offences involving evasion of central excise duty having ramifications in more than one Commissionerate including investigation of complicated cases selected by the Directorate or entrusted to it by the Ministry.

vii. Having at all times, a complete detailed & up-to-date study of the Taxation Laws and implementation machinery and to have proper appreciation and assessment of possibilities of evasion.

viii. Assisting in advisory capacity in proper deployment of the Central Excise preventive staff in the Central Excise Commissionerates for effective anti-evasion measures.

ix. Examining and studying the effects and implementation of various tax concessions, exemptions and relaxations in controls and to make recommendations to the government from time to time, to ensure that they do not become a source of evasion.

x.    Maintaining liaison with other Central & State agencies in all matters pertaining to tax evasion.
19.
The principal resource of the Directorate General is a set of officers carefully selected to meet the high standards of the organisation.  The use of modern techniques and technologies, extensive research, and co-ordinated and speedy action contribute in making the Directorate General a highly effective organisation for tackling the tax-evaders.

Organizational Structure 
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· ADG:
Additional Director General

· RU :
Regional Unit
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CHAPTER-III

SEARCH AND SEIZURE – LEGAL BASE


The powers of search and seizure are provided in the Central Excise Act, 1944 and rules made there under read with the relevant provisions of the Customs Act, 1962 as made applicable to the Central Excise Act. The objectives of the provisions of search and seizure are, firstly, to get hold of evidence bearing on the tax liability of a person/firm/company which he is seeking to withhold from the assessing authority. The other objective is to get hold of assets acquired through evasion of duties.

2.
The search is a process exceedingly arbitrary in character, therefore stringent statutory conditions are imposed by the legislature on exercise of this power. Section 165 of the Cr.PC lays down various steps to be followed in making a search and any search made in contravention of these provisions is illegal. In this chapter, the basic provisions relating to search, seizure and confiscation are discussed, with particular focus on the procedure for conducting search operations. In the relevant sections of the Customs and Central Excise Acts, certain terms and phrases have been used which, through Court Judgements and Tribunal decisions, have acquired a certain meaning. An attempt has been made to discuss these terms and phrases as well. 
(a)
Search

3.
The provisions relating to search under Section 105 (sub-section 1) of the Customs Act, 1962 have been  made applicable to Central Excise by section 12 of the Central Excise Act, 1944 read with notification No. 68/63-CE dated 4.5.63 with certain modification/changes as detailed in the said notification. Section 105 (1) as modified for central excise purposes is as under:-

If the Assistant Commissioner of Central Excise or Deputy Commissioner of Central Excise (or an officer of Central Excise not inferior in rank to an inspector specially empowered by name in this behalf by the Board), has reason to believe that any good liable to confiscation, or any documents or things which in his opinion will be useful for or relevant to any proceedings under the Central Excise Act and Central Excise Rules, are secreted in any place, he may authorise any officer of Central Excise not inferior in rank to an inspector to search or may himself search for such goods, documents or things.

(i)Conditions
4.
The various conditions which need to be met to issue a warrant authorising search are:
(a) there should be reason to believe,

(b) there should be goods liable to confiscation or

(c) documents/things relevant for proceedings under the Central Excise Act. 

(d) they should be secreted.

(ii)Meaning of the Expression ‘Reason to Believe’ 

5.
 One of the essential ingredients to be satisfied before authorising the search is  that there should be “reason to believe”. It is important to note that the expression believe has been used in this context.  This has been interpreted by judiciary in various cases and the expression has come to be understood with a certain meaning. The word ‘believe’ is much stronger than the word ‘suspect’. A belief in the existence of a thing requires a more solid foundation than in the case of a mere suspicion. Belief has to be such as any reasonable man in the circumstances would entertain. A person is said to have reason to believe a thing, if he has sufficient cause to believe that thing but not otherwise. ‘Reason to believe’ contemplates an objective determination based on intelligent care and evaluation as distinguished from a purely subjective consideration. It has to be and must be that of an honest and reasonable person based on relevant material and circumstances. Although the officer is not required to state the reasons for such belief before issuing an authorisation for search, he has to disclose the material on which his belief was formed, should an issue be raised on this score. 

6.
'Reason to believe' need not be recorded. In case the authorizing officer’s satisfaction of reasonable belief is questioned in any collateral proceedings, only then he has to produce relevant evidence which formed the basis of his belief. Generally, hon’ble High Courts have not gone into the question of sufficiency of material to form such belief. The existence of such material is considered sufficient. Only in those cases where seizure is unreasonable and perverse and that no reasonable person could have reached that conclusion, procedures become unauthorized.

(iii)Meaning of the Word ‘Document’
7.
Generally, the term 'document' shall include any matter written or expressed or described upon any substance. Therefore, it will include accounts books in written, typed or printed or a paper on which markings are made. In the recent times, Courts have recognised computer print-outs and storage devices like floppies as documents which can be relied upon as evidence. Further, section 36B of the Central Excise Act envisages admissibility of micro-films, facsimile copy of document and computer print-outs as documents. 

(iv)Meaning of the Word 'Secreted'
8.
The word ‘secreted’ means documents which are not kept in the normal or usual space with a view to conceal/hide them and it will even mean documents or things which are likely to be secreted. Thus, what can be called from an assessee in normal course should not be recovered from him under search proceedings.
(v)Meaning of the Expression ‘Liable to Confiscation’
9.
The conditions under which goods become liable to confiscation are provided in Rule 25 of the Central Excise Rules, 2002 and Rule 13 of the CENVAT Credit Rules, 2002.  Under Rule 25 of Central Excise Rules, 2002, goods become liable to confiscation when any producer, manufacturer, registered person of a warehouse or a registered dealer,-

(a)          removes any excisable goods in contravention of any of the 
              provisions of these rules or the notifications issued under 
    these rules; or

(b)         does not account for any excisable goods produced
        or manufactured or stored by him; or

(c)        engages in the manufacture, production or storage 
       of any excisable goods without having applied for the 
       registration certificate required under section 6 of the Act; or

(d)       contravenes any of the provisions of these rules or
           the notifications issued under these rules with intent to
           evade payment of duty.

10.
Under Rule 13 of CENVAT Credit Rules, 2002, if any person, takes CENVAT credit in respect of inputs or capital goods, wrongly or without taking reasonable steps to ensure that appropriate duty on the said inputs or capital goods has been paid as indicated in the document accompanying the inputs or capital goods specified in rule 7, or contravenes any of the provisions of these rules in respect of any inputs or capital goods then, all such goods shall be liable to confiscation. 
11.
To put it briefly, where the goods are manufactured without taking central excise registration and the manufacturer does not pay appropriate duty on their removal and neither he follows the procedural law relating to manufacture, storage and clearance of goods, the  goods become liable to confiscation. 

12.
Besides the above, the vehicle used for transporting the offending goods, packages in which they are packed, the goods used to conceal offending goods, offending goods in changed form and sale proceeds of offending goods are also liable to confiscation. These are discussed elsewhere in this chapter.

(vi)Contents of Search Warrant
13.
A search warrant must indicate the existence of a reasonable belief leading to the search. The usual details which a search warrant should have are:-

(a) the violation under the Act,

(b) the premises to be searched,

(c) the name & designation of the authorised person,

(d) the name of the issuing officer with full designation,

(e) date and place of issue,

(f) serial number of the search warrant,
(g) period of validity i.e. a day or two days etc.
(vii)Procedure for Conducting Search
14.
The procedure for search flows from section 18 of the Central Excise Act.  The section prescribes that all the searches be carried out in accordance with the provisions of Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973. The Code of Criminal Procedure interalia in section 100 describes the procedure for search as given below:
(a) Whenever any place liable to search or inspection under this Chapter, is closed, any person residing in, or being in charge of, such place, shall, on demand of the officer or other person executing the warrant, and on production of the warrant, allow him free ingress thereto, and afford all reasonable facilities for a search therein.
(b)
If ingress into such place cannot be so obtained, the officer or other persons executing the warrant may proceed in the manner provided by sub-section (2) of section 47.
(c)
Where any person in or about such place is reasonably suspected of concealing about his person any article for which search should be made, such person may be searched and if such person is a woman, the search shall be made by another woman with strict regard to decency.
(d)
Before making a search under this Chapter, the officer or other person about to make it shall call upon two or more independent and respectable inhabitants of the locality in which the place to be searched is situated or of any other locality, if no such inhabitant of the said locality is available or is willing to be a witness to the search, to attend and witness the search and may issue an order in writing to them or any of them so to do.
(e)  The search shall be made in their presence, and a list of all things              seized in the course of such search and of the places in which they         are respectively found shall be prepared by such officer or other         person and signed by such witnesses; but no person witnessing a          search under this section shall be required to attend the Court as a         witness of the search unless specially summoned by it.
(f) The occupant of the place searched, or some person in his behalf shall, in every instance be permitted to attend during the search, and a copy of the list prepared under this section, signed by the said witnesses, shall be delivered to such occupant or person.
(g) When any person is searched under sub-section (3), a list of all things taken possession of shall be prepared, and a copy thereof shall be delivered to such person.
(h) Any person who, without reasonable cause, refuses or neglects to attend and witness a search under this section, when called upon to do so by an order in writing delivered or tendered to him, shall be deemed to have committed an offence under section 187 of the Indian Penal Code (45 of 1860) 

15.
Sub-section 2 above of section 100 makes a reference to section 47(2) of Cr.PC This section 47 (2) of Cr.PC provides for forceful entry. The sub-section reads as under:
 If ingress to such place cannot be obtained under sub-section (1), it shall be lawful in any case for a person acting under a warrant and in any case in which a warrant may issue, but cannot be obtained without affording the person to be arrested an opportunity of escape, for a police officer to enter such place and search therein, and in order to effect an entrance into such place, to break open any outer or inner door or window of any house or place, whether that of the person to be arrested or of any other person, if after notification of his authority and purpose, and demand of admittance duly made, he cannot otherwise obtain admittance:


Provided that, if any such place is an apartment in the actual occupancy of a female (not being the person to be arrested) who, according to custom, does not appear in public, such person or police officer shall, before entering such apartment, give notice to such female that she is at liberty to withdraw and shall afford her every reasonable facility for withdrawing, and may then break open the apartment and enter it.

16.
 The above provisions of Cr.PC  have to be read in the context of Central Excise to draw a harmonious meaning to it. The practical aspects of a search operation are dealt in subsequent chapters.

(viii)
Vitiation of Search
17.
Search without a search warrant or without a valid search warrant (i.e. issued by other than a competent authority) results in an illegal search without authority of law. In such situation the search is vitiated and goods/documents seized are to be returned. 
(b)
Access to a Registered Premises
18.
The Central Excise Officers in discharge of their official functions need to visit various registered premises of manufacturers, dealers etc. These visits are needed for carrying out various checks/verifications with respect to statutory records as well as goods.  Rule 22 of Central Excise Rules, 2002 empowers the jurisdictional Central Excise Officers to have such access to the registered premises.  This rule provides that:-

(1) An officer empowered by the Commissioner in this behalf shall have access to any premises registered under these rules for the purpose of carrying out any scrutiny, verification and checks as may be necessary to safeguard the interest of revenue.

(2) Every assessee shall, furnish to the officer empowered under sub-rule (1), a list in duplicate, of all the records prepared or maintained by the assessee for accounting of transactions in regard to receipt, purchase, manufacture, storage, sales or delivery of the goods including inputs and capital goods.

(3) Every assessee shall on demand make available to the officer empowered under sub-rule (1) or the audit party deputed by the Commissioner or the Comptroller and Auditor General of India, -

(i) the records maintained or prepared by him in terms of sub-rule (2);

(ii) the cost audit reports, if any, under section 233B of the Companies Act, 1956 (1 of 1956); and

(iii) the Income-tax audit report, if any, under section 44AB of the Income-tax Act, 1961 (43 of 1961).

(c)
Visits to Small-Scale Units

19.
As a measure to facilitate trade, CBEC has issued directions that a factory in the small-scale sector should not be visited unnecessarily.  The Circular no. 19/92-CX.6 dated 18 Dec.1992 states that, “it is again being stressed that no factory in the small-scale sector should be visited by Central Excise Inspectors except with the specific permission of Assistant Collector and for a specific purpose.  These instructions are also applicable to Preventive and Internal Audit parties.  It is also being reiterated that, these officers are required, on their visit to the premises of a licensee, to enter the relevant particulars in the Visitor’s Book being maintained by the licensee.”

(d)
Power to Stop and Search Conveyance
20.
The Central Excise Officers are empowered to carry out transit checks.  Such powers are provided in Rule 23 of Central Excise Rules, 2002.  This rule provides that any Central Excise Officer may search any conveyance carrying excisable goods in respect of which he has reason to believe that the goods are being carried with the intention of evading duty.
(e)
Seizure
21.
The various provisions relating to seizure under the Customs Act, 1962 have been made applicable to Central Excise by section 12 of the Central Excise Act and notification no. 68/63-CE dated 4.5.63 issued under the said section.  These sections are section 110, 115 ( excluding clause (a) and (e) of  sub-section 1), clause (a) of section 118, section 119, 120,121.  The most important of these sections is section 110 relating to seizure of goods, documents or things.  This section is being reproduced here.  

(1) 
If the proper officer has reason to believe that any goods are liable to confiscation under this Act, he may seize such goods: 

Provided that where it is not practicable to seize any such goods, the proper officer may serve on the owner of the goods an order that he shall not remove, part with, or otherwise deal with the goods except with the previous permission of such officer.

(1A) The Central Government may, having regard to the perishable or hazardous nature of any goods, depreciation in the value of the goods with the passage of time, constraints of storage space for the goods or any other relevant considerations, by notification in the Official Gazette, specify the goods or class of goods which shall, as soon as may be after its seizure under sub-section (1), be disposed of by the proper officer in such manner as the Central Government  may, from time to time, determine after following the procedure hereinafter specified. 

(1B) Where any goods, being goods specified under sub-section (1A), have been seized by a proper officer under sub-section (1), he shall prepare an inventory of such goods containing such details relating to their description, quality, quantity, mark, numbers, country of origin and other particulars as the proper officer may consider relevant to the identity of the goods in any proceedings under this Act and shall make an application to a Magistrate for the purpose of:-
(a)
 certifying the correctness of the inventory so prepared; or
(b) taking, in the presence of the Magistrate, photographs of such goods, and certifying such photographs as true; or
(c) allowing to draw representative samples of such goods, in the presence of the Magistrate, and certifying the correctness of any list of samples so drawn.

(1C) Where an application is made under sub-section (1B), the Magistrate shall, as soon as may be, allow the application.
(2) 
Where any goods are seized under sub-section (1) and no notice in respect thereof is given under clause (a) of section 124 within six months of the seizure of the goods, the goods shall be returned to the person from whose possession they were seized:
Provided that the aforesaid period of six months may, on sufficient cause being shown, be extended by the Commissioner of Customs for a period not exceeding six months.
(3) 
The proper officer may seize any documents or things which, in his opinion, will be useful for, or relevant to, any proceeding under this Act. 
(4) 
The person from whose custody any documents are seized under sub-section (3) shall be entitled to make copies thereof or take extracts there from in the presence of an officer of customs.

22.
The expression ‘reason to believe’ and ‘liable to confiscation’ are identical to those used in section 105 related to search.  They have already been explained earlier in this chapter.  It is important to note that reasonable belief need not be of the seizing officer himself. It can be even of any of his superior officer but in any case it should be  at or before the actual seizure is made. Also reasonable belief need not specifically be put down in writing but it can be inferred from evidence in its entirety. The evidence in its entirety should be sufficient to convince a reasonable man regarding existence of such ‘reason to believe’. The courts generally do not sit in appeal over the decision of the Central Excise officer as to whether his belief was reasonable or no. All that the courts consider is whether there is ground which prima facie justifies the said reasonable belief. It is enough if the circumstances and the material before the officer prima facie gave sufficient grounds to entertain the belief, for instance, prior information, substantial quantity of unaccounted goods, the matter of their concealment, clandestine clearances, prompt admission of possession thereof though denied of their ownership a  later stage.

23.
The requirement of reasonable belief that the goods are liable to confiscation under the Act, though subjective, is not absolutely subjective inasmuch as the reasons for such belief in the mind of the seizure officer have to be relevant and not extraneous. Thus the reasonable belief has to be found on the circumstances and other materials available in that respect giving rise to the subjective satisfaction of the seizure officers. Reasonable belief, a pre-requisite for seizure under section 110 (1) is not formable in the absence of prima facie material before the seizing officer.
(f)
Service of Show Cause Notice  

24.
The period within which Show Cause Notice has to be served is provided in sub-section 2 of section 110. In view of the power of seizure under sub-section (1) being an extraordinary power based simply on the reasonable belief, the policy of the legislature clearly is that the enquiry should ordinarily be completed within six months. But visualizing at the same time that the enquiry may not be completed within the said period in certain cases owing to one difficulty or other, the legislature in terms of the proviso authorised the Commissioner to extend the prescribed time for a period not exceeding six months on sufficient cause being shown in that regard.

25.
Another limitation is that such extension can be granted only on sufficient cause being shown. This sub-section entails an enquiry into materials placed before the Commissioner for his determination of the question whether the time should be extended or not.  The power to extend time does not depend upon the subjective condition of the mind of the Commissioner of Central Excise but is necessarily based on the objective condition of the sufficiency of the causes.  The phraseology of the statute entails that the Commissioner is not to pass extension orders mechanically, or as a matter of routine but only on being satisfied on facts placed before him that there is a sufficient cause necessitating extension following the principles of natural justice.  Therefore, a Show Cause Notice needs to be issued, opportunity to reply given, personal hearing granted and speaking order passed. These proceedings have to be completed within six months from the date of seizure.  
26.
Where, however, stay against proceedings under this section was granted by courts and the matter remained pending for no fault of the Department, the period during which matter remained pending has to be excluded while computing the limitation. As a natural corollary, if the Show Cause Notice is not issued within the period envisaged above, goods have to be released and restored to its rightful owner.
(g)
Computation of Time

27.
 According to Section 37C of the Central Excise Act, 1944 a notice under the Act can be served by sending it by registered post to the person for whom it is intended or to his agent, as the case may be, and if it cannot be so served, then it can be served by affixing it on the notice board of the office by the officer who issued it.   What is thus relevant is not the date of receipt of it by the person concerned, but the date of issue of that notice.  In this view of the matter, the period of six months stipulated in Section 110(2) of the Customs Act, 1962 should be reckoned from the date of the seizure of the goods to the date of the dispatch of the notice and not to the date of the receipt of the notice by the concerned person. 

(h)
Seizure and Confiscation of Vehicle
28.
 There is no express provision for seizure of vehicle. This because the word ‘goods’ in Section 110 of the Customs Act includes “vehicles”.  Accordingly, the Central Excise Officers have the power to seize vehicles in which offending excisable goods are being carried. Section 115 provides for confiscation of such vehicles. The vehicles carrying excisable goods are liable to confiscation, if goods, themselves are liable to confiscation.  The proceedings for confiscation are penal in nature and there must be knowledge or mens rea with regard to the commission of an offence either by the owner or the driver of the vehicle.  Further, for vehicle used for public transport an opportunity to redeem the goods have to be essentially given. 

(i)
Confiscation of Packages
29.
Where any excisable goods in a package are liable to confiscation, the package and any other offending goods in that package are also liable to confiscation as per section 118 of the Customs Act 1962 as made applicable to Central Excise. There is no need for men rea to be established under this section. Once the goods are liable to confiscation, the package is automatically liable to confiscation.

30.
It may be noted that a package should be interpreted in its literal, ordinary and dictionary meaning. Therefore, the locker in the safety vault of a bank is not a ‘package’… Package must indicate something packed. Package is something within which goods have been packed whereas container is of specific dimension in which packages of goods are stuffed for importation or exportation.
(j)
Confiscation of Goods Used for Concealing

31.
As per section 119 of the Customs Act, 1962 as made applicable to the Central Excise Act, any goods used for concealing goods in respect of which provisions of the Central Excise Act or rules  made there under have been violated are also liable to confiscation. For confiscation of goods under Section 119, it is  necessary to record a finding that the goods were used for concealing contraband goods. Concealment means that the goods were kept in such a manner as to conceal/hide the visibility of the goods liable to confiscation.
32.
For attracting provision of this Section there should be articles which should have been used for concealment of the contraband goods, and not for covering the goods.  Thus, where packages of contraband goods were kept at the bottom of the truck and covered by the bags of wheat, the latter cannot be said to have been used for concealing; at best they have merely covered the contraband goods.

33.
It has also been held that concealment of contraband goods cannot happen by accident or chance. It requires awareness, intention and desire to conceal which is given effect to by using some material to conceal the goods. Concealment of smuggled goods is different from coverage. By placing below bags of ‘biris’, velvet cloth and metal belt buckles of foreign origin it cannot be said that bags were used for their concealment. Mere coverage of contraband items with other goods does not amount to concealment.

(k)
Confiscation of Offending Goods in Changed Form
34.
Section 120 of the Customs Act 1962 as made applicable to the Central Excise Act provides that offending goods may be confiscated not withstanding any change in their form. Where the offending goods are mixed with other goods in such a manner that the offending goods cannot be separated from such other goods, the whole of the goods shall be liable to confiscation. However, where the owner of such goods proves that he had no knowledge or reason to believe that they included any offending goods only such part of the goods the value of which is equal to the value of the offending goods shall be liable to confiscation.

35.
Thus, the offending goods even if in changed form (like gold melted to change form) continues to be liable to confiscation. In a case under the Central Excises and Salt Act, 1944 wherein duty-paid tobacco was mixed up with non-duty-paid tobacco, the Court explained that when an innocent third party purchases smuggled goods for proper value and mixes the same with unsmuggled goods, such circumstance would have an important bearing on the decision of the case. However, even in such circumstances, it will be open for the authorities to confiscate such portion of the mixed goods as would reasonably represent the value of smuggled goods even though they cannot confiscate the whole quantity of such mixed goods. 

(l)
Confiscation of Sale-proceeds 
36.
To ensure that no one profits by selling the goods which have been removed in contravention of the Central Excise Rules, it has been provided under section 121 of the Customs Act, 1962 as made applicable to Central Excise Act that when a person having knowledge that goods are offending as explained above, sells the same, the sale proceeds of the same become liable for confiscation. The following ingredients must be satisfied for establishing violation of Section 121 :-

(i) there must be a sale,

(ii) the sale must be of  goods which have contravened the provisions  


of Central Excise rules.

(iii) the sale must be by a person having knowledge or reason to believe 
that the goods were offending in nature,

(iv) the seller and purchaser, and the quantity of goods and value must 
be established i.e. the quantification of sale proceeds must be 
accurate.

Thus, the burden to prove is on the department that money seized represents the sale proceeds of offending goods. 
(m)
Power to Detain or Seize Goods under Rules
37.
 The power to detain or seize goods is also provided in Rule 24 of the Central Excise Rules, 2002. It provides that if  a Central Excise Officer has reason to believe that any goods, which are liable to excise duty but no duty has been paid thereon or the said goods were removed with the intention of evading the duty payable thereon, the Central Excise Officer may detain or seize such goods
(n)
Vexatious Search and Seizure
38.
The Central Excise Officers are empowered to search premises. Any search is intrusion into privacy of a person at his home, office, factory etc.  The powers to seize goods and documents also lead to disruption of business activities. Therefore, it has been legally ensured that these powers are not misused.  Section 22 of Central Excise Act provides for punishment if an officer acts beyond the ordinary call of duty. It seeks to prevent harassment of assessees or abuse of power of search, seizure, arrest which have been vested with the officers. Section 22 provides that any Central Excise officer or other officer exercising powers under this Act or under the rules made there under who –
(a) without reasonable ground of suspicion searches or causes to be       searched any house, boat or place;
(b) vexatiously and unnecessarily detains, searches or arrests any person.

(c) vexatiously and unnecessarily seizes the movable property of any person, on pretence of seizing or searching for any article liable to confiscation under this Act;

(d) commits, as such officer, any other act to the injury of any person, without having reason to believe that such act is required for the execution of his duty;  shall, for every such offence, be punishable with fine which may extend to two thousand rupees.



Any person willfully and maliciously giving false information and so causing an arrest or a search to be made under this Act shall be punishable with fine which may extend to two thousand rupees or with imprisonment for a term which may extend to two years or with both.

**********

CHAPTER-XIII

SECRET SERVICE FUND

With the advent of new technologies and electronic revolution in accounting and book-keeping, detection of tax evasion and booking the tax evaders have become much more difficult. It involves huge expenditure of money in gathering accurate inside information, which may not be available to the officers through regular official channels. Through Secret Service Fund, certain amount of money is placed at the disposal of the Controlling Officer to meet out such expenses in order to facilitate the detection of offences under the Central Excise Law which can not be met from out of the grant of reward or office expenditure. The expenditure which could fall in the category of secret service expenditure can be broadly categorized as:
(i) for procuring secret information

(ii) for hiring conveyances where official vehicles would lead to exposure

(iii) other incidental expenses

2.
Any amount paid to an informer from the secret service fund shall be adjusted against the reward amount sanctioned as reward in case the informer has been paid some amount from the secret service fund.
Rules Governing the Secret Service Expenditure

3.
The rules governing the Secret Service Expenditure as contained in the Delegation of Financial Power Rules, 1958, require that for the purpose of control over Secret Service Expenditure, there should be two officers, namely :-

(i)
the Spending Officer i.e. the Officer at whose disposal certain allotment of secret service grant is placed and who is responsible for maintaining regular accounts of the amounts spent in a prescribed contingent register, and is authorized to incur the expenditure within the limits of the budget allotment and

(ii) The Controlling Officer who conducts (at least once a year) an audit of the expenditure incurred by the authorized Spending Officers under his control and on that basis issues a certificate to audit in the prescribed form not later than the 31st August following the financial year to which it relates.  In keeping with the above instructions, the Government of India, Ministry of Finance (Revenue Division) has laid down the following procedure in their letter F.No.11(17)-Ad.IV/52, dated the 20th April, 1954, for the Customs and Central Excise Departments.  Since the arrangement relating to the Central Excise Department only is relevant to the purpose of this Manual, the same is quoted below:

“The Commissioner of Central Excise may nominate any officer under him, not being of a rank less than an Assistant Commissioner as Spending Officer, who will maintain the required secret service accounts, draw bills and make disbursements”.

4.
The Commissioner of Central Excise shall be the Controlling Officer and shall carry out the annual audit of accounts maintained by the Spending Officer and issue the required certificate of audit not later than the 31st August of following the year to which the expenditure relates.”

5.
For effective control and proper monitoring of the secret service expenditure, the spending officer should disburse the amount under voucher (Annexure XV).  The Spending Officer should also send a monthly statement (Annexure XVI) to the Controlling Officer indicating names of the officers and the amount spent by them.

6.
The Controlling Officers should put a limit on the amount that should be spent within a financial year by each Spending Officer nominated by them and for the balance they shall be their own Spending Officers.  The actual amount to be operated upon by the Spending Officer is according to his discretion and under intimation to the Ministry.

**********

CHAPTER VIII
INVESTIGATIONS

A.
INITIAL EXERCISE


In the context of establishing an offence under the Central Excise Act or the rules made there under, the importance of investigations can hardly be over emphasized.  A good case howsoever rich in material evidence will not produce any fruitful result if the same is not investigated thoroughly in all its aspects. The term investigation ordinarily means an exercise to ascertain the facts, sifting of materials and search for relevant information. Investigation includes an inquiry and interrogation of persons, scrutiny of documents, research for scientific facts ascertained through tests, search for concealed documents and information etc. for the purpose of coming to a conclusion regarding evasion of central excise duty and/or an offence under the Central Excise Act, 1944 or the rules made there under. A good case needs a good investigation. Though the facts and circumstances would vary from case to case, there are certain general principles which must be adhered to by the Investigating Officers to achieve the desired results in an investigation. They are as follows:- 
(i)
Generally, in a Central Excise case search operations are carried out at the various premises and voluminous documents are resumed from these premises.  The starting point of investigation is that immediately after the search, a Team should be constituted to sift through the documents, sort out the important ones and keep them in safe custody. Assistance of the officers who had participated in the search should be taken in scrutinizing the documents. The initial scanning gives an idea whether the intelligence is confirmed fully or partially. It is important that senior officers in the preventive wing take a good look at the documents and come to a preliminary conclusion. The initial look-in would assist in planning the further course of investigation. It is also important that, in case of recovery of incriminating documents, the statements of the concerned persons are quickly recorded so that they own-up the said documents.  This is the most important step and should be taken immediately after the recovery of documents.
(ii)
After initial scrutiny of records, the nodal officer for the investigation, generally an Assistant Commissioner or Deputy Commissioner, should prepare a preliminary report and record the same in the case file.  The preliminary report should cover, inter alia, the intelligence which was acted upon, the recoveries made in the initial strike,  the results of the initial scrutiny of records and the proposed course of investigation.  It is very important that the senior officers (Joint/Addl. Commissioner and Commissioner) peruse the incriminating documents recovered and indicate how and in what manner the investigation should proceed.

(iii) It is reminded at this stage that an offence/seizure report (AE-2) has to be issued within 72 hours of booking of a case in the Format enclosed as Annexure VI   . AE-2 has to be issued in four 
copies, both in seizure as well as non-seizure cases. The first copy should be sent to the Headquarter of DGCEI, New Delhi, and the second copy to the
Zonal office of DGCEI in whose jurisdiction the Commissionerate falls, the third copy to the Commissioner of Central Excise in whose jurisdiction the case has been made and the fourth copy is for the case file.  
(iv) In any investigation time is the essence.  From the moment the case is booked, the accused starts making counter-moves. They will try their best to see that the evidences disappear and the important witnesses do not join the investigation. They will also take advice from good lawyers and consultants and come up with alibis and explanations. They will even go to the extent of creating evidences to substantiate their arguments.  However, they will need some time to be able to do so. It is, therefore, very important that the investigators move decisively and urgently to bring all the evidences on record in the shortest possible time. Within a few days of first strike, all the crucial persons should be interrogated and documents taken over in follow-up searches or summons. In this way, pressure is mounted on the accused and eventually he is pinned down. 
(v) The initial scrutiny of the documents recovered in the search often reveal that only a small part of the documents recovered are required for the investigation. The rest of the documents are of no value for the department.  They are not stored properly and often the officers lose track of them. During the adjudication proceedings, it has become customary for the consultants and lawyers to ask for 
these non-relied upon documents which are in the custody of the department.  At that stage, it becomes very difficult to dig out the documents and supply them to the noticees.  It is, therefore, strongly advised that the documents/records which are of no use to the department should be returned to the parties. A dated acknowledgement of having supplied them in original to the parties may be kept in the file.

(vi) Strike the iron when it is hot.  Therefore, in any investigation if the accused has been pinned down on the basis of facts and evidences, a definite attempt should be made to convince and persuade him to deposit the duty evaded.  Once duty is deposited, the accused loses interest in the case (as he has already paid the duty) and is, therefore, less likely to interfere with the investigations. He might even approach the Settlement Commission at the appropriate time to settle the matter. In this way, the time and energy of the department would be saved from protracted litigation. 

B.
SCRUTINY OF RECORDS, REPORTS, RETURNS AND ACCOUNTS

2.
Investigation in a central excise case would pertain to one or more of the following aspects related to Central Excise:

· Misuse of Cenvat facility

· Undervaluation

· Misclassification

· Suppression of production & clearance

· Misuse of conditional exemption(s) 

· Misuse of SSI benefit 

· Abuse of duty schemes such as those meant for EOUs etc.,

· Violations of Section 11D
3.
The techniques of investigation would vary from case to case and commodity to commodity. However, understanding of the business transaction process, the general scheme of internal controls of unit and the accounting process is integral to tax investigation in all circumstances whatever may be the nature of offence. In this section, the business transaction process, internal control aspects and the accounting process (including Annual Statement of Accounts) and their relevance from the tax investigation point of view has been explained.
4.
Additional check-lists have been appended for special topics. Techniques for investigation of bank accounts and computerized accounts has also been provided. These are of special relevance in investigation specially in unaccounted removal cases and even in those instances which involve receipt of additional considerations. 
Understanding the Accounting Process

5.
Accounting deals with the following aspects:
(i) Identification of business / financial transactions

(ii) Recording of business transactions (Journalizing)

(iii) Classifying the recorded transactions (Posting to Ledger)

(iv) Summarizing classified transactions (Profit & Loss Account and Balance Sheet)

(v) Analysing & interpreting summarized statements (cash flow statements or ratios)

(vi) Communication to the end user (Annual Report of a Company)
(i) Books of Original Entry – Journal

6.
These are the books of accounts in which a transaction is recorded from time to time from a source document. In a small organization, each transaction is first entered in a book called JOURNAL. A journal is like a daybook, in which all the transactions are recorded chronologically. In modern day business environment, the number of transactions are very large, therefore a ‘JOURNAL’ is divided into a number of parts known as Subsidiary JOURNAL, e.g., Cash Book, Bank Book, Purchase Book, Sales Book. 

Tax Investigator’s Concern

7.
Some of these subsidiary Journals are of crucial significance. The study of sales register is an important area of work during investigation. First of all, a tax investigator should find out the series of sales invoices issued by a unit. Some units maintain different series of invoices for clearance of non excisable goods. It is possible that what the unit treats as non-excisable goods may be excisable. A careful reading of sales register, mainly the invoice number column, may show different series of sales invoices or even issue of Debit Note for recovery of additional amounts. The investigator should then find out as to which type of sales transactions are not entered in the sales register and how these are entered in the book of accounts, whether it is by raising Debit Notes or by passing the journal entries. With the dispensation of statutory records in the Central Excise Law, study of sales register has gained significant importance, because this is the only record which shows particulars of individual sales. 

8.
The scrutiny of Purchase Return Register is also important from the Central Excise angle. Where any bought out purchased goods have been returned or entry has been made for short receipt of goods or reduction in prices, it should be verified whether in such cases proportionate CENVAT credit has been reversed or not. 

9.
Transactions relating to purchase of goods, sale of goods, cash / bank receipt & payment, purchase returns, sales returns etc., are not entered in the Journal because for such transactions separate subsidiary books are maintained. The Journal proper is used for recording the following transactions generally:

· Opening entries

· Rectification & transfer entries

· Closing entries

· Credit purchase & credit sale of items other than goods traded by a unit (like fixed assets)

· Recoveries or payments for which invoices are not issued or received (transaction entered by Debit Note / Credit Note)

· Other transactions like loss of goods by fire, theft, depreciation, provision making entries, share capital related transactions

· Entries for making provisions like for depreciation, expenses or for accounting the monthly consumption of raw material or accounting of variation in stock. 

10.
Entries in the JOURNAL are made from journal vouchers. Organisations having manual accounts maintain Journal and journal vouchers but in case of computerized accounts in some of the software packages, journal entries are not printed and entries are directly posted to respective accounts (In Tally Accounting Software, full journal entries are printed and Journal is also printed as a day book).

(ii)Debit Note

11.
Debit Note is a statement prepared by a business concern informing another person that his account has been debited for the reasons given in the said Debit Note. It is prepared in duplicate, the original is sent to the person whose account has been debited and the duplicate is used for an accounting entry. The financial implication of a Debit Note is that the person issuing a Debit Note is eligible to receive the amount from the addressee. 
12.
Reasons for issue of Debit Note:
In case of purchase of goods

i. Return of goods to the supplier

ii. Short receipt of goods

iii. Price reduction claimed by the buyer for defective goods or higher price charged by a supplier. 

iv. To claim deduction for discount.
 

     In case of sale of goods
(i) Increase in rate / quantity
(ii) Increase in excise duty, sales tax.
(iii) Recovery of packing charges, transportation charges, handling charges, warranty charges or after sales service charges from a customer in relation to the sale of goods. 

Other reasons:

(i)      Extra charges billed by the service provider. 
(ii)     Debiting insurance company while lodging insurance claim.
(iii)    Recovery of charges like advertisement expenses, sales
          promotion activity charges from the customers.

(iv) For value of own material used by a job worker
(v) Value of scrap generated during job work process & retained by a job worker. 


Accounting of Debit Notes

13.
Debit Notes relating to sales are generally accounted for by way of passing a journal entry, but sometimes these are directly entered in the sales register. In the case of computerized record, Debit Notes are directly entered in the system by debiting and crediting relevant accounts. Generally, purchase return & sales return registers are not printed in computerized accounts, but Debit Note Register can be generated in a number of accounting software like Tally used in India. 

Study of Debit Notes
14.
Study of Debit Note is one of the most important area of work of a tax investigator. The financial impact of issue of Debit Notes is either increase in income or reduction in expenditure, both have its direct impact on Central Excise duty liability. Debit Notes for the following transactions may be relevant to the investigating officer :
(i) Return / Rejection of purchased goods (CENVAT Credit)

(ii) Reduction in rate of purchased goods (CENVAT credit)

(iii) Increase in rate due to sales price variation (Valuation)

(iv) Recovery of amounts like advertisement and publicity expenses, warranty charges, handling charges, after sales service charges (Valuation)

(v) Use of inputs for job work (CENVAT Credit)

(vi) Value of scrap retained by the JOB WORKER (Excise Duty liability)

15.
It is therefore, necessary that all the debit notes issued by an assessee are examined very carefully. Generally, the units maintain a Debit Note Register and it may also show reasons for issue of debit note in brief. If the number of Debit Notes is large, a study of the said register may help the tax investigator in selecting the relevant ones for detailed scrutiny. 

(iii)Credit Note
16.         Credit Note is a statement prepared by a business organization informing another person that his account has been credited for the reasons given in the said Credit Note. Persons issuing the Credit Note are liable to pay the amount mentioned in the Credit Note. The credit note is issued in the following cases:-
i. When the buyer returns the goods;

ii. When an allowance for damages, defects or short quantity is given;

iii. When the buyer returns an empty container;

iv. Issue of Debit Notes by another person, say a customer or a supplier or job worker. 

 (iv)Ledger

17.
After making entries in the Journal, the next step in the accounting process is ‘Posting to Ledger’. ‘Posting’ means transfer of entries from the Journal to the Ledger.  Ledger is a book where various accounts are maintained. In the Ledger, transactions of same nature are grouped together in one place in the form of an account. 

18.
Ledgers may be of three types: i) Debtor’s Ledger: It contains the accounts of all debtors. It indicates the accounts of customers of a company and the transaction amounts due from the customers. The investigator should link the Ledger with the sale invoices and identify additional realizations; ii) Creditors Ledger: it contains the accounts of all creditors. It is maintained for purchases made on credit basis and it indicates the amount due to the suppliers. It can reveal return of goods and issue of subsequent Debit Notes. The investigator should verify the reversal of credit in such cases. iii) General Ledger: it contains all other accounts like assets / liability / income / expenditure accounts. Its study is the most important part of any investigation.
19.
The study of General Ledger can give an idea about the nature of miscellaneous incomes & expenses and their implications for Central Excise duty. Packing material account may show recovery of packing charges separately, not included in the assessable / transaction value. A credit entry in expenditure account may show recovery of cost of gift / advertisement material from their customers. Input purchase accounts may show return/rejection/damage of inputs, the credit reversal of which can be verified by the investigator. The use of inputs for non-manufacturing activities can also be detected. Entries pertaining to freight, packing, sales commission, after sales services, erection & commissioning expenses should be examined carefully. Analysis of accounts relating to sale of traded goods may show inflation of the value of traded goods in order to manipulate the value of similar goods manufactured. 

20.
The investigator should also carefully go through the accounts relating to other incomes and unusual accounts. Non payment of duty on scrap sold, non inclusion of development charges in the assessable value, non reversal of CENVAT credit on inputs lost, non inclusion of charges like advances on cylinder account or on electricity supplied etc., can be unearthed after careful scrutiny of these documents. The investigator can verify the plant & machinery account to check whether the assessee accounts for the gross value of capital goods; in such cases claim of depreciation under Income Tax Act can be verified. 

(v) Trial Balance

21.
Trial Balance is a statement showing balances of all accounts in various Ledgers as on any particular date.  Reading of Trial Balance gives an idea about the types of accounts operated by an asssessee. 

22.
Raw Material Purchase Account may be checked for credit reversals on rejected / returned inputs. Unusual kinds of accounts or accounts indicating excise related issues such as insurance claim amount, obsolete raw material account, etc. can give further clue to the investigator. Recovery of expenses on packing or advertisement from the buyer can be verified from the expenditure account. The investigator should verify whether such charges have been included in the assessable value or not. Many a time, rectification entries are made to take care of the accounting error. Study of these, like changing the accounting head (e.g. from manufacturing head to trading head or technical service head to agency commission head) to avoid excise duty or service tax may prove useful to the investigator. 

(vi) Study of Annual Report of a Company

23.
The Annual Report of a company consists of the following sub part(s):

(i) General Information

(ii) Director’s Report

(iii) Statutory Auditors Report

(iv) Financial Statement i.e. Balance Sheet and Profit & Loss Account. 

(v) Financial Statements of Subsidiary Companies

(vi) Notes to Account

General Information
24.
Details such as the names of Directors, addresses of the manufacturing plants, registered office, corporate office, name of the auditors etc are available on the first few pages of the Annual Report. Composition of the Board of Directors may show whether the company is closely held company or otherwise. Information about the location of manufacturing plants may be used to find out some more details about type of products manufactured at other plants & whether the goods of one plant are used by others. Some companies also provide details about branch offices or depots, which help a tax investigator in understanding the marketing pattern of a company. 

     Directors Report (Section 217 of the Companies Act)
25.
This report is given by the Directors of the company to the stakeholders and it is given after statutory audit of the company is completed. It contains the following information:

(i) Financial highlights

(ii) Amounts proposed for transfer to reserves

(iii) Proposed dividend

(iv) Important happenings, trends, future plans

(v) Explanation on Auditors quantification.

(vi) Details of conservation of energy, technology absorption, foreign exchange earning & outgo.

26.
Overall financial results like income (sales & other income), total expenditure, gross profit, depreciation, interest, net profit or loss are reported in a summarized form in the Directors report. This information is useful to the stakeholders for a quick review of the functioning of a company. The Directors may also inform the stakeholders about any important events or developments or material change & commitments affecting financial position of the company during the year. 

Illustration:

In the Director’s Report of a major telecommunication equipment manufacturer the observations were made … In continuation with the conservative policy of providing for every possible potential loss in the year under review, M/s ABC has provided Rs. 2.77 Cr (previous year Rs. 3.36 Cr) as doubtful Debts and Rs. 1.56 Cr (previous year Rs. 1.09 Cr) towards material obsolescence … This observation gives a lead to the investigating officers to pursue it further in order to ascertain whether the CENVAT provisions in particular in case of raw material obsolescence were adhered to or not. 


In another Director’s Report of a subsidiary to a multinational it was mentioned that … during the year under review, the holding company had written off an amount of Rs. 63.613 million towards unsecured loans earlier given, resulting into a one time extraordinary income for the company. This again is a clue to unearth favoured interaction between the two firms which required to be investigated further in order to detect any undervaluation.  
   Study of Auditors Report

27.
Audit is mandatory for all companies incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956, i.e. all Private Limited or Public Limited Companies. Only a Chartered Accountant is authorized to carry out audit. In fact, the report of statutory auditor is addressed to the shareholders of the company. The report is given by the auditor after thorough examination of the books of accounts and all related records and documents. Once this report is given, the accounts of the company are finalized and thereafter no change can be made in the accounts of a company.
28.
Based on the study of the records of a company, a statutory auditor is required to give his opinion on the following important aspects:

(i) Whether the Balance Sheet and Profit & Loss Account have been prepared as per the provisions of the Companies Act and as per normally accepted accounting principles. 

(ii) Whether the Balance Sheet gives a true and fair view of the profit or loss of the company. 


Under Section 222 (4A) of the Companies Act, the Central Government has issued an order specifying certain matters on which the auditor is required to give his opinion based on examination of records of a company. The said revised order issued in 1988 is known as “Manufacturing & Other Companies (Auditors Report) Order, 1988 (MAOCARO).  The auditor’s report as per MAOCARO is very important to a tax investigator as it contains a number of interesting and useful information from the excise duty angle like opinion of auditors on matters like adequacy of internal control for purchase of raw material, results of stock verification, obsolete items etc. 

Study of MAOCARO Report

29.
Some of the important areas from the tax investigators point of view are discussed below:-

a.)Fixed Assets [Clauses (i) & (ii) of MAOCARO] : As per the provisions of the Companies Act, every company is required to maintain “Fixed Assets Register” showing quantitative & purchase details, location of assets, depreciation etc. This register is very helpful to verify availment of credit on capital goods. Date of installation of capital goods, starting of commercial production, value for depreciation, physical place of the availability can be verified from the register. Any qualified opinion may draw the attention of tax investigator for in-depth study. 
b.)Stock of Raw Material & Finished Goods: The statutory auditor is required to comment upon the following aspects of physical verification of finished goods, raw material, stores & spares. 
i. Whether physical verification was conducted. 

ii. Whether periodicity is reasonable. 

iii. Whether procedure is reasonable and adequate

iv. Whether any material discrepancies were noticed. 

v. How the discrepancies were dealt with in accounts 

vi. Whether valuation is fair

Generally, the auditors confirm to the various points raised in above paras. The tax investigator should, therefore, call for physical verification statements and see the discrepancies and their treatment in accounts. In case of perpetual inventory system, the variation is adjusted in consumption on regular basis; therefore, year-end stock verification report may not be very relevant. In that case monthly adjustment journal voucher should be verified. In case of qualified opinion on these matters, the tax investigator should be very careful and need to go further in greater detail.
c.)Loan taken from or granted to related concerns: (Clauses vii & viii of MAOCARO): Sections 301 & 370 (1B) of the Companies Act deal with related person and companies under the same management. Each company is required to maintain registers for such companies. If Auditors report is qualified, the case may be examined from the angle of related person as per Central Excise Law. 
d.)Purchases from and sales to related units : (Clause XI of MAOCARO): In this part, the auditor is required to give his opinion as to whether transaction of purchase and sales with related units as per sections 301 & 370 have been made at reasonable prices as compared to competitive market prices and transactions with other parties for similar goods. If the report is qualified, the tax investigator needs to look into these transactions from valuation angle.
e.)Unserviceable or damaged goods (Clause xii of MAOCARO):The statutory auditor examines as to whether there exists a proper system whereby unserviceable or damaged stocks, raw materials or finished goods are determined regularly and whether provisions for reduction in value have been made in the accounts. In most of the cases, the auditor’s report that there exists a procedure for determination of unserviceable or damaged goods and adequate provisions have been made in the accounts. A tax investigator should inquire into the exact system of determination of such goods and what reports are generated for this purpose. In large companies a committee of two or three persons from stores, production and finance is made to determine such items periodically and the said committee decides about disposal thereof. Copies of such reports should be studied to find out as to what is the procedure for disposal of such damaged or obsolete items. 
f.)Internal Audit (Clause XV of MAOCARO): The statutory auditor is required to comment upon the efficiency of internal audit system of the company. Statutory auditors go through all the reports of internal audit and make judgment about its effectiveness. In appropriate cases, a tax investigator should call for copies of internal audit report for examination. If the statutory auditor reports that internal audit need to be strengthened, it would indicate that in some areas the internal control is weak. In such cases copies of internal audit reports must be obtained for study.
g.)Cost Records & Cost Audit (Clause xvi):
Under Section 209 (1) (d) of the Companies Act, the Central Government may prescribe maintenance of cost record for a company or a type of industry. From the auditor’s report it can be found out whether cost records have been maintained by the Company or otherwise. Further, under section 233-B of the Companies Act, the Central Government may prescribe for audit of cost records by a Cost Accountant. The statutory auditor mentions this fact also in the MAOCARO Report. The tax investigator may call for cost records as also a copy of the Cost Audit Report in appropriate cases for study. 
vii) Study of Balance Sheet

30.
A Balance Sheet is typically a statement of assets & liabilities of a unit as on 31st March of a particular financial year or any particular date. It is a positional statement showing financial health of a unit. Traditionally, the Balance Sheet used to be prepared in horizontal form (tabular format) showing assets & liabilities on the two sides. In the new format, the Balance Sheet is prepared in vertical form showing “Sources of Funds” and “Application of Funds”. These two headings are the same as liabilities and assets of a company. As per the requirement of Schedule VI of the Companies Act, the assets & liabilities are required to be classified into the following main categories:

Liabilities




            Assets

(i)
Share Capital



(i)
Fixed Assets

(ii)
Surplus & Reserves


(ii)
Investments

(iii)
Secured Loans



(iii) 
Current Assets

(iv)
Unsecured Loans



(iv)
Loans & Advances

(v)
Current Liabilities & Provisions
(v)
Miscellaneous 










Expenditure
31.
From the study of Share Capital Schedule in the Balance Sheet, a tax investigator may find out whether the company is a subsidiary company and if so, who is the holding company of this company. This aspect becomes very important if the goods have been sold or purchased from such a holding company. In such a case, the valuation aspect needs to be examined in detail in view of the valuation provisions in the Central Excise Law. 

Secured Loans
32.
Usually loans taken under this category are secured by means of hypothecation / pledge / mortgage of assets. In case the loans are secured against hypothecation of stocks of raw materials or finished goods, the companies are required to submit a periodical statement of stocks to the banks or financial institutions. A tax investigator may like to verify the statement submitted to the banks and compare the stock as shown in other records. However, it is important to note that only the variation between stock statement submitted to the bank and stock as per financial record is not a sufficient evidence to allege any clandestine removal or undervaluation. The case needs to be investigated further for finding out other evidences to support the case. 

Unsecured Loans

33.
Unsecured loans should be closely scrutinized. At times, it might well be the case that additional sales proceeds/income are being routed to the books of accounts of a company under the guise of unsecured loans.
Current Liabilities

34.
Current liabilities are liabilities which companies are required to pay in a short period of say, within six months. These include creditors deposits & advances, unclaimed dividends, etc. Under this heading advances received from customers are also shown. Whether interest on such advances is required to be added to the assessable value or not can be examined by the tax investigator. 

Contingent Liabilities 
35.
A tax investigator should carefully go through the items mentioned under contingent liability. Sometimes very interesting aspects may come to light. Details like pending cases of income tax or excise duty or customs or sales tax should be inquired into. It is possible that the sales tax department or income tax department had booked an offence case which might have a direct bearing on excise liability also. 
 Claiming of Depreciation under Section 32 of the Income Tax Act

36.
As per the provisions of Central Excise law, credit on capital goods is allowed subject to the condition that depreciation under Section 32 of the Income Tax Act is not availed of on the excise duty element (which has been taken as credit) of the said capital goods. But this verification cannot be made only from the study of Balance Sheet or even by the study of financial records of the company, as the depreciation in the books of accounts is generally provided as per the provisions of the Companies Act and not as per the provisions of Income Tax Law. Therefore, this aspect can be verified only from the scrutiny of Income Tax return filed by the company with the Income Tax department or from a study of Income Tax audit report under section 44 – AB of the Income Tax Act (commonly known as Form 3 CD report). 

Investment

37.
A tax investigator may come to know the names of companies / partnership firms in which investment has been made or the names of subsidiary companies and if the assessee has business transactions with these units, he may like to examine these transactions in greater detail. 

Current Assets

38.
Under this heading, assets like cash & bank balances, inventories, debtors, loans & advances are shown. Schedule VI of the Companies Act also requires a separate disclosure for debts or loans & advances due from the following categories of persons: 

· dues from firm or private companies in which any Director is a Partner or Director.

· Dues from companies under the same management as defined under section 370 – 1B of the Companies Act. 

39.
In all the above cases, even though at the end of the year no balance may be due, yet, disclosure about maximum amount due during the year is required to be made in the Balance Sheet. The above information may be very useful to a tax investigator to find out transactions with related companies and if necessary these transactions may be examined in greater detail. 

viii) Study of Profit & Loss Account

40.
No particular format to draw up the Profit & Loss Account has been suggested in Schedule VI of the Companies Act, but the requirements of disclosure have been given. One of the important guidelines is that the Profit & Loss Account should disclose every material feature including all income and expenditure in respect of non-recurring transactions of an exceptional nature. 

41.
The following are some of the important points, which should be kept in mind while studying a Profit & Loss Account: 

· There are different Schedules for most of the headings, therefore Profit & Loss Account needs to be studied by referring to these Schedules. 

· Details of Profit & Loss Account should be studied along with notes to the accounts forming part of the final accounts. 

· A comparative study of figures with previous year should be made to find out unusual variation. 

42.
Value of clearances as per RT-12 return filed with the Central Excise department should be compared with sales value shown in the Profit & Loss Account. It should be noted that sales as per the Profit & Loss Account may include excise duty, sales tax or any other amount like packing & forwarding charges collected separately in the invoice. Statement on accounting policies enclosed with the Balance Sheet and Profit & Loss Account may show the method of accounting sales, i.e., whether it includes excise duty or sales tax or any other element. Similarly, if sales are made through depots or C & F Agents, the sales value as per RT-12 and as per Profit & Loss Account may not tally. A reconciliation statement should be sought from the Company to compare the two figures.
Scrutiny of Other Incomes 

43.
This is one of the most important area which a tax investigator is required to analyse very carefully. It may include income under the following heads:
(i) Sale of scrap

(ii) Insurance claims

(iii) Profit on sale of fixed assets

(iv) Interest / Dividend

(v) Commission received

(vi) Royalty

(vii) Technical  know-how or technical consultancy charges

(viii) Erection & Commissioning charges

(ix) Training income

(x) Miscellaneous income

(xi) Freight / Insurance recovered

i) Sale of Scrap: A tax investigator should ascertain the series of sales invoice used for sale of scrap. Other documents like Debit Notes or journal vouchers may also be used for recording the sale of scrap. This fact can be found out from the study of the ledger account. A tax investigator should examine these documents to confirm payment of excise duty or sales tax. 
ii)Insurance Claim :- 
Insurance claim may be lodged for damage or destruction of raw material, work in progress, finished goods or capital goods. A tax investigator should examine the exact details of such claims. The following types of insurance claim cases should be examined in detail:
· damage of raw material before receipt in the factory.

· damage of raw material in the factory.

· damage of Work-in-Progress or finished goods in the factory.

· damage of capital goods in the factory.

It is important to note that the investigator should not only examine the cases where the insurance claims have been received by the assessee but also he should examine all cases where claims have been lodged even though the claims have not been finally sanctioned by the insurance company. Insurance claim applications should be studied to find out details of quantity claimed to have been damaged, value & excise duty claimed in the insurance claim. Where excise duty has also been claimed in the insurance claim in case of loss of finished goods lying in the factory, remission of duty cannot be granted and excise duty claimed and received from insurance company becomes payable under section 11D of the Central Excise Act, 1944.

iii)Development/Design Charges: Sometimes a manufacturer is required to use a particular mould or die for manufacture of an item for a customer. The said mould or dies can be made by him or can be purchased from another person. The cost of such die or mould made may be charged separately from the customer and is shown as an income of the company. The said income has direct relation to the goods manufactured by the assessee. Therefore, a tax investigator should examine the exact nature of such charges and find out whether amortized value of dies or mould has been added to the assessable value of the final product manufactured by him. 

iv)Technical Know-how Fee or Engineering Service Charges or Training Charges: Such incomes are earned for providing technical services like design engineering, feasibility study, technical know-how for manufacture of a product. Exact nature of such recoveries should be inquired into by verifying the agreements and other correspondences. If such incomes have any relation to the goods manufactured and sold by the company, these may be required to be added to the assessable value in terms of the definition of transaction value. 

Alternatively, payment of service tax under the category of ‘Consulting Engineer’ may also be examined. 
v)Interest/Commission received: Generally interest income arises from investment made by the company. Commission may be on account of sale of certain products of other company. But if interest or commission is received from customers of the company, such transaction of interest / commission should be examined in detail to find out whether additional consideration is being received in the guise of interest or commission from the customer.
vi)Scrutiny of Expenditure: A tax investigator may glance through the particulars of Profit & Loss Account to find out the major expenditures of the company and their share in the total expenses. In case of any unusual expenditure, the investigator may like to examine the case in detail. For example, in pharmaceutical industry or other consumer goods industries, the marketing and sales promotion expenditure contributes towards a major portion of the expenditure. Hence, if the expenditure on such items is very less, the case needs further investigation. In case of one company manufacturing cosmetics, the study of the Profit & Loss Account revealed that the company was incurring a very small amount on marketing expenditure. The scrutiny of ledger account for expenses revealed that the company was recovering marketing expenses from their customers and only the net expenses were shown in the Profit & Loss Account. They were not paying excise duty on such recoveries. Another analysis which should be done by a tax investigator on reading the details of Profit & Loss Account is comparison with figures of the previous year. 

vii)Cost of Material Consumed: This heading covers consumption of raw materials, components, packing material etc. for the manufacture of finished goods. As per the disclosure requirement of Schedule VI of the Companies Act, quantitative details of main raw materials consumed are required to be given as a part of the Profit & Loss Account. All materials which, in value terms, individually account for 10% or more of the total value of the raw material consumed should be shown as separate and distinct items with the quantities thereof. Companies having a good accounting system account for consumption based on issues made by the stores department to the production department for the manufacture of goods. But in a number of small units, generally the value of the raw materials consumed is calculated by: Opening Balance + Purchases – Closing Stock. As per the Accounting Standards issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI), raw material used for the manufacture of finished goods should only be considered under this heading. Therefore, if the raw material has been used for other purposes or the material has been used for activities not related to manufacture, in those cases companies are required to show such quantities & value thereof separately. It is imperative for a tax investigator to verify this aspect. The following are examples of situations where raw materials have not been used for the purpose of manufacture of the finished goods:

(a) Raw Material used for construction activities like steel or cement used for construction of factory building. 

(b) Raw Material used for repairing activities. 

(c) Raw Material sold as such or given on loan. 

(d) Obsolete items or damaged goods. 

(e) Material destroyed by fire or lost by theft. 

Information under the head ‘cost of material consumed’ is very useful and it can be used for verifying CENVAT credit availed on the inputs by a unit. In situations where most of the raw material and packing material consumed by a unit are eligible for availing CENVAT credit and where the rate of duty on the inputs and outputs is same, a quick ratio of cost of goods consumed with the sales value (adjusted for excise duty) can be worked out to find out whether CENVAT credit availed of is reasonable or otherwise.
viii)Illustration :
 (a)
… In an investigation pertaining to clandestine removal it was noticed that though the company M/s XYZ had a turnover of around 4.0 Cr., it was consistently showing receipt of unsecured loans in excess of Rs. 1.00 Cr. in different financial years. Further probe revealed that no interest was being paid on these unsecured loans and they were basically flowing from a particular finance company M/s 123.  The source of fund of the said finance company was largely through share premium subscription from non-existent share holders as the probe revealed. Incidentally, the Directors of M/s XYZ and M/s 123 were the same set of persons. Such evidences are a clear pointer of the receipt of unaccounted for sales entering the books of accounts of the company through dubious channels. 
(b)
In the schedule of sales and services in the Profit & Loss Account of the company M/s ABC, income accrual is being exhibited as under –
· Installation, Commissioning & Software income

· Main finance income

· Commission

· Service income

· Jobwork income

Income under all these sub-heads has Central Excise & Service Tax connotation, which is required to be examined whether the value of software is included in the value of the machinery cleared by the unit or otherwise; if not, the reasons should be looked into.  Further, one should find out whether service and installation income is chargeable to service tax or otherwise. 

ix) Study of Notes to the Accounts
44.
The notes to the Accounts form an integral part of the published final accounts of a company. These are explanatory in nature and also reveal important aspects about the functioning of a unit and accounting treatment of various items of accounts. For a tax investigator, these notes are very important and each and every note should be carefully gone through for its implications on payment of taxes by the company. 

The notes to the accounts are given for the following reasons:
· Legal requirement – provisions of the Companies Act;

· Non-compliance of Accounting Standards issued by the ICAI.

· Audit requirement and voluntary disclosures – material features, transactions of non-recurring nature or transactions of exceptional nature. 

45.
   Notes on Accounts based on legal requirements:-

Under the provisions of the Companies Act, a number of notes providing various details are required to be given. These requirements have been provided under Schedule VI of the Companies Act.  These notes provide detailed information in respect of items of assets, liabilities, income or expenditure contained in the final accounts. Some of the important notes required as per the provisions of Schedule VI are given below:
i. Notes on significant accounting policies. 

ii. Notes on contingent liabilities.

iii. Notes on payment made to Directors & Auditors.

iv. Notes on licensed capacity, installed capacity, actual production & sales of each class of goods. 

v. Details of quantities & value of main raw materials consumed & its opening & closing stock. 

vi. Details of quantities & value of purchases, sales, opening stock & closing stock of each class of goods, in case of trading companies. 

vii. Details of foreign exchange transactions showing import, export etc.
46.
Major areas for which accounting policies are generally disclosed are the method of depreciation, revenue recognition, valuation of fixed assets, conversion of foreign currency items & valuation of inventory. Quantitative information is a very important source of information and in some cases a broad input – output ratio could also be worked out. Details of major raw materials can be known before start of the audit. The consumption pattern over a period of time and per unit value of major material can also be worked out for analysis purpose. 

47.
Illustration:  

(a) In the notes to the accounts of company M/s ABC it was disclosed that contingent liabilities provided for in respect of disputed demands are as under :-









Amount (Rs.)



(i) Income Tax authorities 



77,06,000/-

(ii) Excise & Customs authorities 


32,38,000/-

(iii) Sales Tax authorities




14,30,000/-


Further details of such disclosures should be obtained especially those related to Income Tax & Sales Tax, as they could possibly have implications for Central Excise duty. 

(b)
In the notes to the accounts of M/s ABC while mentioning particulars of traded goods, under the heading other sales, an income of  Rs. 364,618,000 is mentioned which is qualified as ‘… . supply of material for setting up’  ‘Backbone Network System’ for cellular service providers. Such disclosures should be investigated further to find out whether it involves supply of essential bought out items or not which is clearly includible in the value of the manufactured item supplied by the unit. 
x) Cost Audit Records
48.
Under the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956, the Central Government is empowered to notify compulsory maintenance of prescribed Cost Accounting Records by Companies engaged in manufacture of certain specified items. The Central Government has so far notified 43 items under this section (list appended). 

xi)Cost Accounting Reports

49.
Based on these cost audit records, the Cost Accounting Reports are required to be prepared. The Cost Accounting Report is required to give the following information.
a. General Background:  Information regarding name and addresses of the company, location of factory, date of commencement of commercial production and other activities of the company.

b. Cost Accounting System: This describes the Cost Accounting System followed, and the correctness of cost of production of the product. The Auditor is required to give specific comments on the adequacy of the cost records, the inventory valuation system of raw material, work-in-progress, and finished products. 
c. Financial Position:  Under this head, the Auditor has to certify the average of fixed assets at net book values, and current assets minus current liabilities, existing at the beginning and close of the financial year, for the company as a whole, and for the product under reference. 
50.
Net worth of the company has to be highlighted. The profit of the enterprise as a whole, and profit of each of the product under reference, has to be reported separately. The Auditor has to certify the net sales, operating profit and value additions. 

51.
The Auditor is also required to work out financial ratios in respect of profit, net sales, current assets to current liabilities, net worth to capital employed, net worth to long term borrowing. 

52.
The Auditor has to furnish the following information in respect of the production capacity.
· Licensed / registered capacity. 
· Installed capacity. 
· Production capacity enhanced by leasing etc., with details of added capacities & other utilizations. 
· Actual production. 
· Percentage of production to installed capacity. 
Notes in Cost Audit Reports
53.
The notes in cost audit reports are required to reveal the following information:
(a) Details of installed capacity on single shift and/or multiple shift basis. 

(b) Production and installed capacity is expressed in appropriate units, e.g., standard hours or equipment / plant / vessel, occupancy hours, crushing hours, spindle / loom shifts, etc. If there is any shortfall in production compared to the installed capacity, comments are required to be given on the reasons for the shortfall, bringing out clearly the extent to which they are controllable in short term as well as long term. 

(c) Process of manufacture is to be described along with a flow chart. 

(d) Details of raw materials used are to be given, indicating any significant cost of transport. In case of imported raw material, FOB value, ocean freight, insurance, customs duty and inland freight charges are to be indicated. In case of consumption of both indigenous and imported materials, the Auditor has to report the percentage mix of the same. 

(e) Quantity-wise consumption of major raw materials, standard requirement, as well as theoretical norm per unit of production in terms of quantity has to be reported. 

(f) The Auditor is required to give particulars of consumption of power and fuel, and comment on any variation from standard / budgeted norms. 

(g) Explanation for any variations in the quantity of major raw materials consumed as compared to standard consumption has to be obtained and commented upon. 

(h) The Auditor has also to indicate the value of raw materials, finished goods & semi-finished goods which have not moved for over 12 months, and also their proportion to the value of closing stock. 

(i) Particulars of wages and salaries are to be classified as under :-

· Direct labour costs on production;

· Indirect employee costs on production;

· Employee costs on administration;

· Employee costs on selling & distribution;

· Other employee costs, if any (specifying purpose);

· Total employee costs;

· Total man-days of direct labour available and actually worked during the year. 

· Average number of workers employed during the year. 

· Direct labour cost per unit of output of each of the products. 

· Brief explanation for variation if any, as compared to the previous two years. 

· Comments on the incentive schemes, if any, with particular reference to its contribution towards increasing productivity and its effect on cost of production. 

(j) As regards repairs and maintenance, the Auditor has to report store, spares, labour charges and outside contract repair charges and their proportion to closing inventories. 

(k) Depreciation has to be calculated as per Companies Act. 

(l) The Auditor has to report cost of factory overheads, administration overheads, selling overheads & distribution overheads and has to indicated reasons for any significant variations. 

(m) The Auditor has to clarify whether gross sales realization includes cost of packing, freight and delivery charges, recoverable from the customers. 

(n) Any abnormal and non-recurring costs e.g., strikes, lock-outs, power cuts and serious accidents are to be reported. 

(o) Final observations and conclusions of the Auditor are to be given in respect of any negligent use of funds, carelessness resulting in increase in cost of production, the effectiveness of the budgetary control system, etc. The Auditor is also required to give suggestions for full utilization of the installed capacity, cost reduction, increase in productivity, and improvement of inventory policy. 

(p) After examining the books of accounts, statements of reconciliation and financial statements etc., the Auditor has to certify the overall results of the company. 

54.
CLASS OF COMPANIES COVERED UNDER COST ACCOUNTING RECORD RULES & COST AUDIT

	Sr. No. 
	Class of Companies

	1
	Cement

	2
	Cycles

	3
	Rubber Tyres & Tubes

	4
	Caustic Soda

	5
	Room Airconditioners

	6
	Refrigerators

	7
	Automobile Batteries

	8
	Electric Lamps

	9
	Electric Fans

	10
	Electric Motors

	11
	Motor Vehicles

	12
	Tractors

	13
	Aluminium

	14
	Vanaspati

	15
	Bulk Drugs

	16
	Sugar

	17
	Infant Milk Foods

	18
	Industrial Alcohol

	19
	Jute goods

	20
	Paper

	21
	Soda Ash

	22
	Rayon

	23
	Dyes

	24
	Nylon

	25
	Polyester

	26
	Textiles

	27
	Dry Battery Cell

	28
	Sulphuric Acid

	29
	Steel Tubes & Pipes

	30
	Engineering Industries

(a) Power Driven Pumps

(b) Diesel Engines/Internal Combustion Engines

	31
	Electric Cables & Conductors

	32
	Bearings

	33
	Milk Food

	34
	Chemical Industries

(a) Ethylene

(b) Ethylene Oxide

(c) Ethylene Glycol

(d) Ethylene Glycol

(e) Polyethylene Glycol

(f) Ethylene Dichloride

(g) Propylene

(h) Isopraponol

(i) Acetone

(j) Diacetone Alcohol

(k) Methyl Isobutyl Ketone

(l) Butanol

(m) 2 Ethyl Hexanol

(n) Butadiene

(o) Benzene

(p) Toluene

(q) Synthetic resins & Plastics

	35
	Formulations

	36
	Mini Steel Plants

	37
	Insecticides

	38
	Fertilisers

	39
	Soaps & Detergents

	40
	Cosmetics & Toilet

	41
	Footwear

	42
	Shaving Systems

	43
	Industrial Gases.


xii) Investigation of Bank Accounts

55.
Evasion of tax generates unaccounted money. To use this money in business the assessees need to bring this money into books of accounts. This may be achieved by showing many kinds of cash inflows which are fictitious or exist only to justify such flow. Some of the examples are unsecured loans, share application money, share capital. On the other hand the liabilities and expenses may be inflated by some assessees to show reduced profits. Therefore, for proper investigation of transactions routed through bank accounts, it is necessary to have a basic knowledge of the practices and procedures followed by banks. 

56.
Records kept by banks: The following records are maintained by banks – Account Opening Forms – All constituents of banks, whether opening a Saving Bank (S/B) Account or a Current Account (C/B), or Fixed Deposit Account, have to fill up an account opening form, which has following details :-

· Name & Account No.  of introducer

· Details of other accounts of the same assessee kept with the same branch

· Nature of bank account, i.e. S/B, Current, Single Name, Joint Name, etc.

· Name of the person authorized to operate it. 

· Locker Register

· Fixed Deposit Register

· Clearing Register – This register gives details of cheques received from other banks in the same city (inward clearing) & cheques going from a particular bank to all other banks in the same city (outward clearing). This register is very important in tracing the origin of credits as well as tracing the last point of debits. 

· OBC Register:- This register contains details of cheques sent and received for collection from other towns to this branch. A careful examination of cheques received and collected through outside branches, to the assessee’s account may throw light on the accounts maintained by the assessee in places other than the principal place of business. 

· Slip Bundles:- Every branch of the bank keeps a slip bundle containing the slips / cheques relating to daily transactions. This is arranged in a particular order such as SB, CD, OD, DD etc. These bundles are to be kept by the bank for a minimum period of 8 years. The verification of slip bundles can provide key information about the date / nature of transaction & the parties involved. 

· Index Register of Accounts:
Banks also keep an Index Register giving details of account holders in alphabetic order. When any account is opened, this register is updated & the name is entered in the page according to the first alphabet.
57.
A verification of this register becomes important while verifying accounts maintained in various benami names used by the assessee. In case of an assessee whose name is George Thomas it may be useful to search the index for name such as George T., G. Thomas or simple George or Thomas etc. After obtaining the account number relating to these names, their addresses may be seen. The addresses which may be similar to that of the assessee or the addresses which are vague may relate to the assessee. In computerized bank branches, this index is available in the computer and verifying it is easy. 

Types of Bank Accounts

58.
Saving Bank Accounts:
These bank accounts are generally opened by individuals. Withdrawals from these accounts can be made through withdrawal slips or cheques. 

59.
Current Accounts:
These accounts are generally opened for the transaction of the business. The withdrawals from these accounts can be made by issuing cheques. Overdraft facility can also be allowed by the bank against certain securities. 

60.
Cash Credit Accounts:
These are loan accounts, from which withdrawals upto the limit sanctioned by the bank is allowed against some security. 
61.
Fixed Deposit Accounts:
These accounts are opened for depositing an amount for a fixed period. 

62.
Different names are given to such accounts in different banks, such as FDR, TDR, STDR, Deposit Receipts etc. These accounts are used by the individuals and also by the business houses. 

63.
Type of Entries in a Bank Account: 



In a bank pass book or a bank account statement, three type of narrations are commonly found amongst others viz. - Cash, Transfer and Clearing. 

· Entries with the narrations “To Cash” and “By Cash” respectively indicate withdrawal in cash and deposit by cash. 

· Entries with the narrations “To Transfer” indicate that the amounts have been withdrawn for transfer of that amount to another bank account with the same branch or for the purchase of fixed deposit, demand drafts, banker cheques or for transfer of money through telegraphic transfer or mail transfer. Entries with the narration “by transfer” appearing in a pass book may provide clue to concealed bank accounts and / or secret business activity. 

· Entries with the narration “To clearing” indicate that the cheque drawn from the account has been cleared through another bank normally in the same city, and has been deposited in the account with that bank. 

64.
The advantage of investigation of bank accounts lies in the fact that they offer documentary evidence by way of bank slips, registers, computer entries etc., which are preserved for a minimum period of 8 years. 

65.
Payments by cheques lead to a normal presumption that the transactions are genuine and bonafide. Taking advantage of this presumption, the assessee sometimes issues cheques even in respect of bogus payments to give them a colour of genuineness. When a payment is made by a bearer cheque, it may well happen that the assessee’s own employee goes to the counter, encashes the cheque and brings back the money. A scrutiny of the endorsements on the back side of the cheque, particularly the last of the endorsements in respect of cheques which are suspected to be for bogus purchases, expenses etc., might reveal that such amounts have actually been received (across the counter) by the assessee himself or a trusted employee i.e. the amount has flowed back to the assessee himself.
66.
At times, unaccounted cash is brought in the books by the assessee through bank to make them look genuine. For instance payment received in bank on account of share application, share premium & unsecured loans should be specially scrutinized. 

67.
For tracing secret bank accounts, assessee’s genealogical tree needs to be obtained. Thereafter, enquiries   are required to be made with selected bank branches. Payment of expenses through credit cards is becoming popular on account of their convenience. Often payment towards credit card balance may be made from undisclosed bank accounts. An analysis of the credit card payments may also disclose undisclosed accounts of the assessee. 

xiii)Investigation of Computerized Accounts & Records

68.
Computerized Financial Accounting Packages (FAP) are becoming increasingly popular on account of their ease of use, flexibility, secrecy and personalized control. These may be installed in ‘stand alone’ single computer in small or medium sized businesses or in a server connected to a local area network (LAN) in multi-locational large scale enterprises. 

69.
The computerized Financial Accounting Packages operate on exactly the same principles of accountancy as the manual set of accounts. The FAP, however, automate most of the accounting tasks, like in effecting a change in one account, posting corresponding entries in related accounts updating balances, preparing on-line Trial Balances, Profit & Loss A/c, Balance Sheets etc. For example, on issue of a sale bill, its effect on the corresponding accounts is automatically implemented by the software and final accounts can be drawn after updating of all corresponding accounts. This is one of the biggest advantage of FAP. One of the basic difference between computerized accounts and manual account is that in FAP, accounts are maintained according to the nature of the transaction. For example, in a manual accounting system, all types of accounts such as expense account, income account etc., will be maintained in a single ledger whereas in a FAP, there would be separate computer files for purchase register, sales register etc.

70.
All Financial Accounting Packages can be basically divided into two parts i.e. “information inputs” and “information retrieval”. 

71.
Information retrieval reports may vary from package to package and can be customized. These generally include purchase & sales vouchers, partywise accounts, ledger, cash book etc.

72.
Most of the FAPs have a variety of very helpful ancillary features, e.g. automatic calculation of interest, printing of sale / expenditure vouchers, calculations of Financial Ratios, generating Cash Flow / Fund Flow Statements, generating MIS reports, trend analysis of various parameters like sales / purchases / receivables etc.

73.
More than 300 commercial FAPs are available in the market. These include highly advanced packages like TALLY, ACCORD, FACT, WINCA, BUSY, WINGS 2000, MONEYWARE, SAP, ORACLE FINANCIALS etc.

74.
Most of the softwares carry password security. So a password has to be entered, before the computer permits access to a user of the accounts. The password protection may be single level or it may be multi-level password protection i.e., there may be separate sets of passwords for opening the accounting package, thereafter for opening the account of a particular concern, thereafter for accessing specific records within the accounts of a given concern. Again a software may provide for a hierarchy – of “passwords” controlled by a ‘Supervisor Password’ which is separate from ‘user passwords’. In this scheme, the supervisor after entering his password, can access the entire package; and the users may be categorized in different categories and given different passwords with different rights for each group i.e. it is possible to authorize one set of users to only access and extract data, another set of users to both enter data and to edit, delete, change, copy the same. 

75.
The most useful feature in a FAP for a tax investigator is the audit feature. By enabling this feature in the operations menu and by taking out printouts at periodic intervals, the user would be able to ascertain if the integrity of the accounts has been maintained and whether any tampering has been done with the data. This facility works in the following manner in the TALLY accounting package typically. After the TALLY audit feature is enabled, a printout of the day book is taken out upto a particular date. In this printout, two totals are given i.e. the total at the top of the printout which gives the totals as on the date of the printouts and the total of the preceding day from when the printout was started. The next step is to take out a printout after a particular interval. When this printout is taken the totals given in this printout are compared with the totals in the previous printout. Any difference in the two totals would mean that data has been altered. 

Electronic Device: Type and Potential Evidence 

76.
Electronic evidence can be found in many of the new types of electronic devices available in the market. The following paragraphs elucidate a wide variety of the types of electronic devices commonly encountered in crime scenes, provide a general description of each type of device, and describe its common uses. In addition, it presents the potential evidence that may be found in each type of equipment.

77.
Many electronic devices contain memory that requires continuous power to maintain the information, such as a battery or AC power. Data can be easily lost by unplugging the power source or allowing the battery to discharge. Before seizing this factor should be taken into account.  (Note: After determining the mode of connection, collect and store the power supply adaptor or cable, if present, with the recovered device.)

Computer Systems 

78.
Description: A computer system typically consists of a main base unit, sometimes called a central processing unit (CPU), data storage devices, a monitor, keyboard, and mouse. It may be a standalone or it may be connected to a network. There are many types of computer systems such as laptops, desktops, tower systems, modular rack-mounted systems, minicomputers, and scanners, docking stations, and external data storage devices. For example, data storage device with an external keyboard and mouse.

79.
Primary Uses: For all types of computing functions and information storage, including word processing, calculations, communications, and graphics.

80.
Potential Evidence: Evidence is most commonly found in files that are stored on hard drives and storage devices and media. Examples are:

81.
User-Created Files: User-created files may contain important evidence of criminal activity such as address books and database files containing details of production/clearances etc. that may prove clandestine clearance or undervaluation and communications with buyers or sellers such as by e-mail or letters indicating the actual transactions of the assessee.  Some of the important sources could be:-

· Address books.

· Audio/ video files.

· Database files.

· Documents or text files.

· E-mail files.

· Image/ graphics files.

· Internet bookmarks / favorites.

· Spreadsheet files.

82.
User-Protected Files: The user has the opportunity to hide evidence in a variety of forms. For example, they may encrypt or password-protect data that are important to them. They may also hide files on a hard disk or within other files or deliberately hide incriminating evidence files under an innocuous name e.g.

· Compressed files.

· Encrypted files.

· Hidden files.

· Misnamed files.

· Password-protected files.

· Steganography

83.
Evidence can also be found in files and other data areas created as a routine function of the computer’s operating system. In many cases, the user is not aware that data are being written to these areas. Passwords, Internet activity, and temporary backup files are examples of data that can often be recovered and examined.
Note: There are components of files that may have evidentiary value including the date and time of creation, modification, deletion, access, user name or identification, and file attributes. Even turning the system on can modify some of the files.

84.
Computer equipments are storage devices and are quite frequently being used to generate and store documents related to tax evasion. Searching computer system for evidence is a highly technical process requiring expert skill and a properly controlled environment. The vast array of computer hardware & software available requires even computer experts to specialize in some systems and applications, so it is difficult to know before a search which expert is qualified to analyze the system and its data. In any event, however, data search protocols are exacting scientific procedures designed to protect the integrity of the evidence and to recover even “hidden”, erased, compressed, password-protected or encrypted files. Because computer evidence is vulnerable to inadvertent or intentional modification or destruction (both from external sources or from destructive code imbedded in the system as a “booby trap”), a controlled environment may be necessary to complete an accurate analysis. Further, such searches often require the seizure of most or all of a computer systems input / output peripheral devices, related software, documentation, and data security devices (including passwords) so that a qualified computer expert can accurately retrieve the systems data in a laboratory or other controlled environment. 

85.
Quite frequently it is not feasible to locate the incriminating files on site. The most frequently used technique is to create an electronic “image” of those storage devices that are likely to store incriminating evidence. Generally speaking, imaging is the taking of a complete electronic picture of the computers data, including all hidden sectors and deleted files. Imaging a computer enables the investigator to obtain an exact copy of the computers stored data without actually having to access the original storage media. This exact copy i.e. mirror image is worked upon to unmask useful information by the investigator with the assistance of professionals.

86.
Actions taken should not add, modify, or destroy data stored on a computer or other media. Computers are fragile electronic instruments that are sensitive to temperature, humidity, physical shock, static electricity, and magnetic sources. Therefore, special precautions should be taken when packaging, transporting, and storing electronic evidence. To maintain chain of custody of electronic evidence, document its packaging, transportation, and storage etc. under a panchnama.

87.
Evidence should be stored in a secure area away from temperature and humidity extremes. Protect it from magnetic sources, moisture, dust, and other harmful particles or contaminants.

C.
 INTERROGATION AND RECORDING OF STATEMENT

88.
A successful investigation is substantially dependent on good interrogation and recording of statement to convert the findings into admissible evidence. The process involves questioning a suspect or a witness to seek information leading to solution of a case of evasion being investigated. Therefore interrogation has a focused purpose and relates to an enquiry. Interrogation is more of an art than an exact science. Though the facts and circumstances would vary from case to case, this section provides some of the basic and accepted principles of interrogation and recording of statement. 

Preparation for Interrogation  

89.
A meaningful interrogation is proceeded by a thorough preparation for the same. Some of the suggested preparations are:-

(i) Preparation of the place where such interrogation shall take place, equipments needed, if any and preparation by the interrogators. The room where interrogation takes place should have a look of serious business. Recording and photography equipments should be kept handy if it is anticipated to be used. 

(ii) Interrogation should generally be done by a team of two or more officers with contrasting personality traits e.g. one officer could be aggressive and other gentle and comforting. 

(iii) The entire team of interrogators should be aware of the facts of the case. They should check every factual detail before the interrogation and ensure that all the written statements, exhibits etc. to be confronted are available. The background of the suspect should be thoroughly known. 

(iv) The place of interrogation should not be interrupted by various persons.

(v) In most of the interrogations the suspect will show an inclination to confide in the gentle member of the interrogating team. The suspect should be allowed to be interrogated by this member alone intermittently so that he could develop cooperation and make disclosures in confidence. 

Principles of Questioning   

90.
It is said that there are six proverbial questions which the subject must answer completely. They are:- 

(I) Who? Complete identification of the person being interrogated should be made. This includes name including alias, address, age, sex, profession, education qualification, background, PAN number, business associates etc.

(II) What?  Complete details of what are the duties of the person and what happened relating to events being investigated should be recorded. Questions should further relate to specific events and modus operandi adopted.

(III) Where?  Complete details regarding the location of books, records, assets, bank and brokerage accounts, witnesses, clients, customers, safes, deposits boxes and the like. A description of the location should include the general area, as well as the identification of the person who has custody or control of these items. A complete description of the places should include the size, shape, colour and location etc. 

(IV) When?  The time can be established by direct questioning by relating the incident to some known event, or by associating the event to some person, place or thing.

(V) How?  Complete details about how the event occurred, or how the operation was conducted? How did the subject acquire knowledge? Was it through seeing, hearing feeling or smelling, or performing duties? How were transactions recorded, written, computerised, other means?

(VI) Why? Everything is done for a reason, determine the motive by questioning the subject about his action and what caused him to act? Who caused him to act? How was he motivated?

Practical Aspects of Questioning  

91.
A person being interrogated starts in a defensive frame of mind, therefore the questioning should be done in such a manner that cooperation is developed. Questions asked should be short and simple so that they can be answered in a straightforward manner. Once the initial interrogations of the background etc. are over and the investigation is underway it should be focused and incisive. The accused should not be allowed to aimlessly wander and confuse the issue leaving the basic question unanswered. The interrogator should focus on the answer of the accused and supplementary questions, if any, and not on the next pre-determined question. During the interrogation a constant stream of questions should be directed at the accused so that the accused is focused to think and answer question in rapid succession. He should not be allowed long period of silence. While coming to a very specific admission it is desirable to first ask a broad question then a narrower question and finally a very specific question. For example in case of clandestine removal while interrogating a person who maintained private records of clandestine removal the sequence could be general questions regarding clandestine removal in the industry, followed by questions relating to the company he works in and practices adopted by this company. Finally, he could be confronted with the private records written by him. During the course of interrogation it is desirable to ask a few questions for which the answer is already known to the interrogator. Such question should be intermittently mixed as they are a good indicator as to whether the accused is giving correct answers. If there are multiple interrogators they should ask same questions separately and cross match the answers received. This would force the accused to give consistent answers. The accused is likely to give true answers thereafter, as only truth can ensure consistency. During the entire interrogation, the interrogator should be in complete grip of the situation and keep the accused guessing. He should not reveal his mind, not get angry on not getting desired result or excited on success and finally he should be infinitely patient.

Questioning Hostile Persons   

92.
Very often the offenders join investigation after having consulted their legal or other advisors.  They are reluctant to answer any question. To achieve their cooperation it is desirable to explain to him the enquiries being done and the factors which have brought the needle of suspicion on him. It should be further explained that investigators would be willing to go to any length and assist him in proving his innocence.  Despite all attempts, if the accused is not cooperative, questions should still be asked on all the aspects of the offence and his reply or even ‘no reply’ should be recorded. Pin pointed questions should be asked to demolish the likely future defence and reply or ‘no reply’ recorded. The non-cooperation of the accused should be clearly brought out on record by asking very simple and innocent questions and recording his reply or ‘no reply’ to them. This would establish his hostile attitude. Questions should be framed in such a way that ‘no reply’ to them would assist the department in drawing adverse conclusion. Finally he could be asked if it could be taken from his refusal to answer questions that he has no defence against the allegations which are being put to him. 

Legal Provisions   

93.
Section 14 of the Central Excise Act empowers officers of the rank of Superintendent or above to summon persons to give evidence and produce documents in enquires under the Central Excise Act. Section 14 provides as under:
 (1)  Any Central Excise Officer duly empowered by the Central Government in this behalf, shall have power to summon any person whose attendance he considers necessary either to give evidence or to produce a document or any other things in any inquiry which such officer is making for any of the purposes of this Act. A summons to produce documents or other things may be for the production of certain specified documents or things or for the production of all documents or things of a certain description in the possession or under the control of the person summoned.

(2) All person so summoned shall be bound to attend, either in person or by an authorised agent, as such officer may direct; and all persons so summoned shall be bound to state the truth upon any subject respecting which they are examined or make statements and to produce such documents and other things as may be required:
Provided that the exemption under section 132 and 133 of the Code of Civil Procedure, 1908 (5 of 1908) shall be applicable to requisitions for attendance under this section.

(3)Every such inquiry as aforesaid shall be deemed to be a “judicial proceeding” within the meaning of section 193 and section 228 of the Indian Penal Code, 1860 (45 of 1860)

94.
The section is fairly clear and amenable to simple interpretation. The salient features regarding power to summon under this section are as follows:-

(i) Notifications 9/99-CE (NT) dated 10.2.99 empowers all the officers of Central Excise not below the rank of Superintendent to issue summons in an enquiry. The summons to appear in person to give evidence or produce documents can be issued only when there is an inquiry being conducted under the Central Excise Act and such evidence or documents are relevant to the inquiry. Proforma for summons is at Annexure VII.
(ii) The language of the Section categorically expresses that the inquiry under this section shall be deemed to be “judicial proceeding” within the meaning of Section 193 and Section 228 of the Indian Penal Code, 1860. The implication is that any person who gives a false evidence under summons shall be liable to punishment under Section 193 of the Indian Penal Code. Further any person who intentionally insults or interrupts the Officer sitting in summon proceedings shall be liable to punishment under Section 228 of the Indian Penal Code. 
(iii) All persons summoned are bound to appear before the officers concerned, the only exception being women who do not by tradition appear in public or privileged persons like Honorable President, Vice President etc. i.e. exceptions as provided in section 132 and 133 of the Code of Civil Procedure.
(iv) Sometimes it may so happen that an accused does not join investigations even after being repeatedly summoned. In such cases, after giving reasonable opportunity, generally three summons at reasonable intervals, a complaint should be filed with the jurisdictional magistrate alleging that the accused has committed offence under Section 172 (absconding to avoid service of summons or other proceedings) and Section 174 (non-attendance in obedience to an order from public servant). The Courts generally issue necessary directives to the accused to join investigations.

(v) A statement recorded under Section 14 should contain the place, date and time of recording the statement, details like name, address, signature of the person being interrogated on each page of the statement alongwith name, designation and signature of the person recording the statement.

(vi) The information and warning related to self-incrimination as per Section 164 of Cr.PC must be administered i.e. the accused has been explained the meaning of section 14 and he understands that his statement may be used as an evidence against him.

(vii) The statement should generally conclude very clearly stating that the statement running in so many pages has been recorded in the hand writing of the accused (if so) and the same is voluntarily recorded without any threat, pressure, coercion, inducement or greed.

 Retraction


95.
A retracted statement should be corroborated in material particulars and attempt should be made to sustain the general trend of confession. Retraction if delayed any way is of not much effect. On receipt of a retraction the same should be expeditiously examined. After examination, a reply to the retraction should be sent very clearly bringing out that the retraction is an after thought, if the enquiry has found so.  Considering that retraction has become a tool increasingly being used by the accused persons to blunt the investigations it is advisable to corroborate a confessional statement by recording a second statement after a few days of the first statement confirming the confessions made.

Judicial interpretations 

96.
Over the years the power to summon and admissibility of statements recorded as evidence has been examined by various courts of law. Some of the important pronouncements in this regard are as follows:- 

(i) A person called for interrogations has no right to have his lawyer present during questioning by the officers as such person cannot be equated with an accused. {Poolpandi V. Superintendent Central Excise, 1992 (60) ELT 24 (SC)}

(ii) Voluntary statements recorded under Section 14 are admissible as evidence in departmental proceeding and also in a court of law. {K. I. Povunny v. ACCE 1997 (90) ELT 241,255 (SC)}

(iii) When the Central Excise officers record a statement under Section 14, they must administer the warning as required under Section 164 of the Cr.P.C. that the accused has understood the meaning of Section 14 and that the statement may be used as evidence against him, otherwise the statement would be inadmissible. {ACCE v. Duncon Agro Industries Ltd., 1992 (57) ELT 545 (AP)}

(iv) Service of summon is not a condition precedent to recording of statement. There is no rule prescribing procedure for issuing any summon nor is there any form prescribed, therefore service of summon is not a condition precedent to recording of statement. (Laxman Padma Bhagat v. State of Maharastra, AIR 1965 Bom 195, 210)

Precautions   

97.
The following precautions should generally be observed when summoning a person: 
(i) A summon should not be issued for appearance where it is not justified. The power to summon can be exercised only when there is an inquiry being undertaken and the attendance of the person is considered necessary. 

(ii) Summons should not be issued repeatedly. As far as practicable the statement of the accused or witness should be recorded in one go so that same person is not summoned repeatedly. 

(iii) Respect the time of appearance given in the summon. No person should be made to wait for long hours before his statement is recorded except when it has been decided very consciously as a matter of strategy.

(iv) Statements should be recorded during office hours however an exception could be made regarding time and place of recording statement having regard to the facts in the case.

(v) Care should be taken to record the statement in most transparent way so that there is no accusation of mal-treatment and physical injury. 

Importance of Material Evidence    

98.
The value of a statement increases many fold if disclosures made in the statement are corroborated by material evidence. Conversely, a good incriminating statement can be obtained by confronting the accused/ witness with others statements and good material evidences. Therefore a good investigation will bring sufficient material evidence on record and will not overtly depend on statements. 

D.
MONITORING INVESTIGATION
99.
A good case needs a good investigation.  From the beginning of a case, it is required that basic nature of intelligence,  investigation required  to be done, extent of investigation to be done and the time frame for investigations, be kept in focus..  This will ensure a focused and speedy investigation. In this context, senior officers have a substantial contribution to make. Immediately after the search, the nature of documents recovered and the statements recorded at the time of seizure should be reviewed at the level of Joint/Additional Commissioner and Commissioner.  This will give a clear picture regarding the evidence collected on the day of strike itself and also the evidences further needed.

100.
To monitor the investigations, a system should be put in place. In the DGCEI, a system code, namely, BASIC is being used for monitoring, expediting and providing crucial inputs at senior level in the investigation. Basic is a Report Card of the size of a file cover in off white colour. Thus, it has four sides and the columns on the four sides are as follows:-

SIDE ONE:-
F.No..........................................

BASIC

1.
UNIT:
NAME, ADDRESS AND TELEPHONE NO

2. BACKGROUND INFORMATION REGARDING UNIT:

3. DATE OF SEARCH/INITIATION OF INVESTIGATION

4. INVESTIGATING OFFICERS:

DD/A.D.

S.I.O.


I.O.

5. GIST OF INFORMATION

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

SIDE TWO:-

6.
CHARGE TO BE                     EVIDENCE                              RATING

                PROVED               ALREADY COLLECTED            A+/A/B+/B/C+/C

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

7. EVIDENCE TO BE COLLECTED                         

                        CHARGE                                                       LIKELY EVIDENCE

(i)

(ii)

SIDE THREE:-

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

8.
PERSONS TO BE INTERROGATED                                         STATUS

SIDE FOUR:-
9.  HURDLES AT INVESTIGATION STAGE 
HURDLES                                                  STRATEGY TO OVERCOME

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

10. TARGET FOR COMPLETION OF INVESTIGATION (YEAR/MONTH)

11. PERIODIC REVIEW: REVIEWING OFFICER TO PUT HIS DATED SIGNATURE, DIRECTIONS AND SUGGESTIONS

101.
There is sufficient space under each of the heading so that necessary observations could be recorded.  The importance of these columns is as follows:-

102.
Serial No.5: It is for the gist of intelligence.  After the initial search, it will become clear whether the intelligence is confirmed or not or whether it is partly confirmed.  The information should be recorded in brief but should not miss out any vital point. All the variants of the information should be recorded.

103.
Serial No.6 & 7: The officers incharge of the investigations must be aware as to what are the charges to be proved, what is the nature of the evidence which needs to be collected and the quality of such evidence. The evidence may be collected by way of interrogation, under summons, follow-up searches or by culling out information from various sources like Range, Commissionerate, Sales Tax Returns, Income Tax Returns etc.

104.
Serial No.8:
Summoning of large number of persons over a protracted period of time often gives rise to complaints of harassment.  Therefore, it is important to identify key persons who need to be interrogated in a case and the likely schedule of their interrogation.  A list of such persons and their total number should be recorded in the BASIC.  The record should also clearly show as to who have already been interrogated and who are to be interrogated in due course. In case of crucial persons not cooperating with investigations, proceedings under IPC for non-compliance of summons should be initiated.

105.
Serial No.9:
There would be hurdles in the investigation. These hurdles need to be overcome.  The senior officers have an important role to play here and can give guidance as to how the hurdle could be overcome. For example, for collection of Railway Receipts of the consignments booked through the Railways, intervention at the senior level would definitely help expedite the process.

106.
Serial No.10 & 11:
The target date for completion of investigations and the milestones of investigation with the likely date by which they would be achieved need to be reviewed at regular intervals.  Further, the cases involving large revenue definitely need attention of senior officers like Additional Commissioner and Commissioner. At the time of review, the senior officers should contribute towards a focused, effective and expeditious investigation.

107.
The point being stressed here is that the senior officers must involve themselves in the investigation right from the beginning. A case, howsoever rich in material evidence, if left unattended at the investigation stage for months together would invariably lead to disappearance of evidence.  It is, therefore, important that the investigations are monitored at regular intervals at the senior level so that the same is completed in a time bound manner.  While a time limit is not prescribed here, even a complicated case should not take more than six to nine months time to investigate.  In the same breadth, it is suggested that the quality of investigations should not be compromised at any cost.   A case needs to be investigated thoroughly in all its aspects, leaving no loopholes to enable the parties to take advantage of.  If past experience is of any guide, even the cases having good potential fail at the appellate/revision stage on account of poor investigation work.
E.
CHECK LISTS FOR THE CHAPTER

(a)
Ratio Analysis

108.
The nature of various ratios and their utilities to tax investigators are tabulated below:
	Sr. No.
	Nature of Ratio
	Utility of Ratios in tax investigation
	Source

	1
	Raw Material Cost : Sale Value
	1. To know the increase / decrease in percentage of cost of material on sales value.
	Annual Report

	
	
	2. To identify increase / decrease in material consumption and its implications for CENVAT.
	

	
	
	3.To identify the possibility of unaccounted production by excess consumption of material
	

	2
	Other Incomes : Sales
	1. To identify any other income which is includable in the Assessable Value
	Annual Report

	
	
	2. To detect any clearance of excisable goods like scrap / reject / seconds without payment of duty
	

	3
	R & D Expenses : Other expenses
	To identify any new products developed by an assessee. 
	Annual Report

	4.
	Discount/Commission : Sales
	1. To compare the abatement claimed as per the invoice with actual discount extended. 
	Annual Report

	5.
	Outward Freight : Sales
	1. To identify excess claim of freight from the buyers to detect under valuation of the goods. 
	Annual Report

	
	
	2. To cross verify excess claim of abatement towards secondary freight.
	

	6.
	Scrap Sales : Sales
	1. To compare scrap clearance value as per RT-12 / ER1 with the Annual Report to detect clearance of scrap without payment of duty. 

1. To identify non receipt of scrap from job workers in which case duty is payable by the principal.
	Annual Report

	7.
	Consumables / Fuel Value : Sales
	1. To identify excess claim of CENVAT on consumables.

2. To detect diversion of consumables without payment of duty. 

3. To detect consumption of fuel on goods cleared on exemption.
	Annual Report

	8.
	Sale Value of Trading Goods: Sale Value of Manufactured Goods. 
	1. To identify clearance of manufactured goods in the guise of trading goods. 
	Annual Report

	9.
	Actual Production Quantity (Nos. / Kg. / Lt) Installed Capacity
	1. To detect suppression of production;

2. To identify clearance of excisable goods without payment of duty. 
	Annual Report

	10(a).

10(b).
	Additions to Plant & Machinery: Total Value of Assets.

Deductions from Plant & Machinery: Total Value of Assets.
	1. To identify fabricated Plant & Machinery within the factory & possibility of clearance without payment of duty to another unit or sister units. 

2. To detect the possibility of claiming CENVAT on ineligible capital goods.

3. To detect claim of depreciation & also CENVAT credit. 

4. To identify clearance of CENVAT goods without reversal of credit.
	Annual Report

	11.
	Depreciation Claimed during the Year: Addition to Plant & Machinery during the year.
	1. To identify claim of depreciation as well as CENVAT.


	Annual Report

	12.
	CENVAT availed on inputs: Purchase price of raw material. 
	1. To identify claim of CENVAT on ineligible inputs. 

2. To identify diversion of inputs without reversing the credit.
	Annual Report

	13.
	CENVAT availed on capital goods (RG23C) Addition to Plant & Machinery
	1. To identify eligibility of CENVAT on capital goods. 

2. To detect excess claim of CENVAT on capital goods in the case of project imports.

3. To verify depreciation claim. 
	Annual Report

	14.
	PLA Debit : CENVAT on Inputs : CENVAT on Capital Goods
	1. To compare the pattern of excise duty payment to detect excess claim of CENVAT on inputs & capital goods. 

2. To identify mis-classification of goods/ineligible claim of notifications. 

3. To identify under-valuation of goods.
	Accounts of the Assessee

	15.
	Total expenditure per unit of production : Assessable Value as per RT-12 / ER1 per unit of clearance
	To detect undervaluation of goods
	Annual Report & Accounts of the Assessee.

	16.
	Change in profit : change in Assessable Value
	1. To detect undervaluation in spite of increase in price of the excisable goods. 

2. To detect realization of extra considerations. 
	Annual Report & Accounts of the Assessee

	17.
	Repairs & Maintenance Expenses : Total other expenses (This ratio could be calculated if the data is available under the head expenses on stores / tools etc. 
	1. To identify removal of such capital goods on which CENVAT is availed without payment of excise duty (The figure is to be related with profit or loss made on capital goods)
	Annual Report


(b)
The Business Transaction Process

109.
The normal functioning of any commercial enterprise/manufacturing unit can be explained by way of the following flow chart:-

I
Sales/ Removal of Goods

Tender Files


Sales Order Book - Sales Performance Chart – Scarp Register


Marketing Files


Price Lists


Dealers Agreement – Distributor / Consignment
Agents / C & F Agents 
Agreements

Delivery Note – Invoices

Despatch Advice


Gate Pass – Invoices 


Gate Register 

II. Sales Return 
Sales Return Book     Bank Reconciliation Statement


Material Return/ Receipt Note ------ Non Moving Stock Register


Material Transfer Note ----- (Finished Goods/ Intermediate Products)




Credit Notes – Job Card / Work Order


Debit Notes


Bill of Material 


Material Requisition Slip

III. Purchases

Vendor Development / Supplier Identification


Quantification of Requirements - Technical Literature 


Tender Document


Hire-Purchase – Leasing Agreements – Project Reports


Purchase Order (Register of Purchase Order)


Credit Notes – Vouchers - Cheque Book – Bills Payable


Debit Notes (for purchase return)


Purchase Book - Gate Register


Purchase Return Book


Gate Register

Material Receipt Note – Latest Report – Material Rejection Slip – Bad Bin Register

IV
Production    Process Chart

Material Requisition Note- Bill of material - Hire Purchase Agreements, Lease Agreement, Cost Audit report- Cost Register Bin card 


Material Transfer Note/ Issue Slip


Machine Logbook - Fixed Asset Register – Energy Audit Report


Job Card / Work Order


Time Card – Incentive Card/Register/Power Generation/Consumption card

Production Slip / Production Register


Material Transfer Note 

(Final Product)

(v)
Costing

Bill of Material - Cost Audit Report - Cost Register – Process Chart


Machine Logbook


Job Card (Work Order) ---- Bill of Material 


Trial Balance 


Balance Sheet and P & L Account / Annual Report

(vi)
Price determination (Transaction Value)

Declaration under erstwhile Rule 173C (3A) – Price lists if any


Invoices


Debit Notes


Other Income in Annual Report


Debtors Ledger / Creditors Ledger


Cost Audit Report 


Register for Inter Corporate Loan


Register of Advances


Dealers Agreement / Consignment Agents / C & F Agents Agreements

RBI Approval for Payment of TKLF & Royalty


Bill of Entry Register


Bank Reconciliation Statement / Bank Statement


Marketing Files / Sales Performance Charts


Debit Notes


Purchase Order Placed by theBuyers / Sale Contract


Fixed Assets in Custody of Finance Given by the buyer

(vii)
CENVAT

Gate Register


Weighment Register / Slips


Material Receipt Note- Cenvat Account   -L.T. Rejects (Cenvat Account)


Lab Tests – Rejects/ Return / Debit Note


Material Transfer - Rejected / Returned / Debit Note


Inputs / Capital Goods Sold/ Leased


Capital Goods – Fixed Asset Register – Depreciation 




Plant Register/




I.T. Return 

Annual Report- Fixed Assets Schedules/ Depreciation Schedules


Credit Notes from Suppliers


Bill of Material----- to verify the utility of material/ inputs in the manufacture of final product


Rule 6- Invoices --- Inputs Sale/ Transfer ‘Asset’

Document relating to Input /IP transfer to job workers/ Bin Cards/ Stores Ledger.

(viii)
Non Dutiable Items/ Services 

Name of the Non Dutiable Item


Bill of material --- Cenvat Credit Availment

Material Transfer Note (Issue Note) --- Reversal of Cenvat Credit

(ix)
Classification

Research Development --- Product Development --- Product Lab


Responsibility for Verification of tax liability 


Intimation --- Inter Office Memo


Preparation of Classification Lists under erstwhile Rule 173 B


Filling.

(x)
New items produced.  Discharge of duty and samples

New items produced.


Intimation


Fixation of Value (Procedure)


Clearance formality


Discharge of duty.

(c)
Internal Control System of an Organisation

110.
Internal Control System of an organisation refers to the various functional areas viz., purchase, sales, stores / materials etc., how the same is managed, whether it is sufficiently transparent or not. Hence, review of the Internal Control System of a unit is an absolute must to develop a comprehensive understanding of the unit. The checklist for the internal control systems are as follows:

a)Purchases

1. Whether all purchases are centralised or de-centralised.   If all purchases are authorised by few key persons like owner or the Managing Director etc, it may require in-depth study of the purchases.

2. Whether all the purchases are made only by issue of purchase order and whether different series of purchase orders are issued.  Also, find out whether the issuance of series of purchase order is centralized in the purchase section.  Are there any cases where purchases have been made without issue of purchase order?

3. Whether there is a system of authorised Vendor List.  If not, what is the system of approving a particular vendor?  Are there instances where substantial purchases have been made through unauthorized vendors?

4. Whether all goods entering into the factory premises have been entered at the gate and what details are mentioned at the Gate Register.

5. Whether Goods Received Note (GRN) is prepared for all goods entering into the factory.  Whether separate series of GRN are prepared for goods meant for different sections like raw material, capital goods, stationery etc.

6. Whether a separate code number is available for each type of goods and whether the same is entered on the GRN.

7. Whether inspection of physical quantity or technical specification is carried out before the preparation of GRN or afterwards and what is the composition of inspection team?  Whether report of inspection is documented and whether a separate record is maintained by the Inspection Department.

8. Whether rejected goods are stored separately.  What is the system of entering the rejected goods/short quantity on the GRN?

9. Whether for rejected goods the relevant rules are followed.

10. Whether for rejected returns, Debit Notes are issued.

11. What is the ratio of purchases made from dealers and manufacturers?

12. How and at what stage excise and accounts department is informed about the goods short received and rejected?  What document is prepared in this connection?

13. Is there any mechanism to reconcile the quantity and value of goods entered in the stores department with that in the purchase register?

14. Whether CENVAT is availed before preparing the GRN or after preparing GRN.  In respect of the goods rejected or short quantity received, whether the CENVAT reversal is done on the basis of each invoice or on monthly basis.  If on monthly basis, whether it is done on the basis of any statement issued by GR Section.

b) Sales
1. What is marketing pattern? – is it through depot, stockist, C&F 
agent etc?

2. Whether any bought out item is also sold by the company? 

3. How many series of sales invoices are generated in the company?  For example there can be different series for excisable goods, export goods, scrap, other items and job work.

4. Whether sales of all the different series of invoices are entered in one sales account or in different sales account.

5. Whether different delivery challans/packing slips are prepared for goods cleared from different sections or there is a common series of delivery challans for all types of goods removed from the factory.

6. What is the control mechanism by which security person at the gate ensures that any goods going out of the factory is cleared under a document?

7. Whether removal of all type of goods from the factory is routed through excise section or there are particular types of goods which are cleared from some other sections. Who authorises for dispatch of goods from the factory?

8. Whether any charges for erection/commissioning are charged.

9. Whether any material is supplied by a customer free of cost.

10. Whether any amount for marketing expenses, advertisement, royalty, handling charges, packing charges, insurance is received from the customer on the invoice or Debit Notes.

11. Whether sales tax return and excise return are prepared by same person.  If different, whether any reconciliation is made for the difference in the returns.

12. Whether the excise invoices and sales invoices are the same or different.  If it is different, whether the excise department is informed of the variation in  the invoices.

13. Who is authorised to fix the sales price and whether any printed price circulars are issued?

14. Who is authorised to make supplementary sales invoices or debit note for price variation/additional recoveries (advertisement, after sales service, additional packing, insurance, freight, depot charges) and how excise section is informed?

15. Whether clearance figure of RT.12/ER/ 1/ER 2 is tallied to sales register on monthly basis and in case of any variation what action is being taken.

16. Whether any goods are received for repair etc.

17. Whether any discount is offered in the invoice whether the same is accounted for separately in the sales register and in the sales account.  Whether customers account is debited with net amount of sales invoices or gross amount of sales.

18. Is the company engaged in trading activity also? What is the storage place? Whether CENVAT is availed on such trading goods.  Are the bought-out items supplied directly to the customer without bringing into the factory?  If so, whether separate invoices are issued or the value of the same is added in the excise invoice.

c)Stores

1. Whether receipt in the stores record are shown only after inspection of goods or before inspection.

2. Whether all receipts in the stores are entered only on receipt of GRN or there are some goods where receipt is shown without preparing the GRN.

3. Whether issues are made only on the basis of requisition by the production department or any other department.

4. Whether code number of receiving section is entered in the store record.  Whether it is possible to verify the issues made to sections other than production department like for construction, R&D, sale of input as such and inputs for repairing or reprocessing work 

5. What is the frequency of physical inventory for high value and frequently used items (a category in ABC analysis), whether a report is prepared for stock variation and put-up to management and what is frequency of reporting?

6. For goods covered by insurance claim what is the procedure for filing the claim?  Whether such goods are entered in the store register or these are shown in a separate account.  Whether any register or report is prepared for all such claims.

7. What records are maintained in case of inputs sent out for job work? Whether scrap is received back or job work price is adjusted.

8. What is the frequency of stock taking of all the items?  How the difference is accounted for and what reports are prepared?

9. When any goods are found defective in the stores section or it is got damaged in the production department, how it is reflected in the stores, whether any separate account or report is prepared for the same.

d)Tax Accounting

1. Whether excise duty paid on raw material is shown separately in purchase account at the time of entering purchase invoices or it is shown only at the end of the month.

2. Whether all purchase bills are entered for full value and thereafter for rejected/stock quantity, credit note or sales return invoice is prepared.

3. Whether excise duty payable on goods cleared is shown separately in the sales account and whether reconciliation is made with the amount of excise duty payable as per RT.12/ER 1/ER 2.

4. For capital goods, whether full value including excise duty is debited in the books or net value is shown in the capital goods account.

5. For capital goods which are fully written off like spares for repair etc. whether excise duties are deducted from such expenditure account.

6. What is the system to check the excise duty liability (CENVAT and PLA) as shown in the financial records with the excise records.  Whether any reconciliation is made for the differences.



e)Job Work

1.
 Whether any input/output ratio has been determined for sending

      the inputs for Job work.

2.   What records are maintained for sending the goods for job work

      and whether the records show the  quantity of inputs sent, the

      quantity of final products to be received, actually received and 

      variation.

3.   Whether any monthly or periodic statement is prepared for each

      job work and at what level the statements are verified for taking  

      corrective action.

3.  What is the system of treatment of scrap generated at the job work

      stage?  Whether it is brought back to the factory or it is allowed to 

      be disposed off by the job worker.

4.  When the goods are not received from the job worker in time what 

      action is taken by the company and what accounting treatment is 

      done for the same.

5. Are there some items, which are directly sent to the job worker without bringing it into the factory and how the same are accounted for in the records of the company?

(d)
Study of Various Records/Reports.

111.
For studying the important records/reports maintained, statutory or otherwise, by a typical manufacturing unit from the point of view of tax investigation, the following Check List will help.
	1.  Process Charts  
	Process Charts are very useful to confirm that the process of manufacture declared to the Department is correct; study whether any intermediate/by products arise which have not been suffering duty.  Link the process charts with bill of materials to identify inputs/chemicals/consumables used in the process.

	2. Ground Plan/Boundaries of the Factory
	Verify the ground plan with the factory lay out and see whether it reflects the correct position.  Where exemption is subject to the condition for using the goods within the factory, use the ground plan for marking the plant area.

	3.  Gate Register/Pass
	These are maintained by the security at the factory gate which indicates the  inward/outward movement of goods.  See whether any goods have been sent out for which there is no corresponding excise document.  Also check receipt vis-à-vis cenvat invoices.  

	4.  Delivery Challan
	Study the system of issue of delivery challans and verify whether challans are linked to receipt/clearance documentation properly.  Verify the delivery challan while verifying sales/clearance.  In practice a company uses either delivery challan or gate pass for movement of goods outside the factory.  This document is to be correlated with other documents like invoices, sales ledger etc.

	5.  Machine Log Book
	An important document to study the production process.  Verify with reference to documents as to how log book is linked with the  production records.  Link the log book with production capacity level, actual production and analyse.

	6.  Material Rejection Slips
	Identify the stages at which material rejection slips are generated.  Stages could be of receipt, during production, after lab testing, after inspections of the goods produced.  

	7.  Material Receipt Note
	Should correspond to CENVAT account.  Check whether there is a link between CENVAT account and Material Receipt Note.  Check at what stage it is prepared and how rejections are handled.  

	8.  Bin Card
	Verify with raw material/stores/input account. To determine input-output ratio, utilise the material consumption data of this document.  Also use the data to determine A.V. on the basis of cost of production.

	9.  Stores Ledger
	Should tally with records relating to material receipt, storage, issue, rejections and return.  Study the procedure followed for maintenance.  If all other records are satisfactorily maintained it can be omitted.  Similar to Bin card but contains additional/ comprehensive information of value.

	10.  Scrap Register
	See & study the procedure for collection, segregation into different varieties, storages and disposals.  Compare the Scrape Register with sales invoices of scrap and Annual Report and analyse.

	11.  Despatch Advice
	Compare this with invoice, delivery challan, gate pass etc.  Compare this documents with gate register and sale invoices and analyse discrepancies.

	12. Cost Audit Report
	Certain types of industry are subjected to audit conducted by expert Cost Accountants in terms of the provision of Companies Act.  The report of Cost Auditor gives details about the methods of Costing adopted by the assessee and the report of the auditor thereon. 

	13.  Weighment Slips
	Investigator should study the system of preparation of Weighment slips, look for abnormal variations and link them with invoice/gate pass/Delivery Challan. Perusal of this document is very important in cases where duty is based on weight and is specific.

	14. Physical Stock Verification Statement.
	This statement shows the stock position of raw material and finished goods as on a particular date.  Such statements are prepared by many big companies for their internal purposes or for submitting it to banks/Fls.  The reported figures can be compared with the figures submitted to the department.

	15.  Bad Bin Register
	Where the raw material or component are not in usable condition, they are transferred to Bad Bins.  The auditor can verify the register for reversal of credit on rejected and unusable inputs.

	16.  Material Requisition Slips
	This document indicates the quantity required by shop floor and quantity used by stores.  It can be used for test checking the issuance of raw material with that reported in CENVAT registers.

	17.  Material Receipt Note
	This note is issued by stores department evidencing the receipt of raw material.  It can be used for comparison with the receipt figures shown in CENVAT records and rejections if any.

	18.  Material Return Note
	These notes are issued by various sections when the received material is returned back either to the stores or when these are to be returned to the supplier.  The investigator can verify whether the CENVAT credit has been reversed properly.

	19.  Job Card
	Job card is of a great help for studying the production system.  In the case of machinery/automobile manufacturers, job cards are maintained for each job/process.  Investigator should study the procedure of issue of job cards in a unit (if there is more than one job card get the linkage between different jobs/process.) explained and use the data to determine cost of production to analyse the A.V. of captively  consumed goods.

	20.  Purchase Order
	This document can be used to verify whether there is any flow back to seller of goods with a view to pass on excess CENVAT.  Investigator should examine Purchase Orders placed by the assessee to study the CENVAT implications and also valuation.  Purchase order received by the assessee can be sent to verify realisation of extra considerations and also to determine abatements.

	21.  Lab Test Reports
	These reports can give valuable clues to rejection of input/capital goods, new product of the company, sales returns and can help in verifying production.

	22.  Material Transfer Note
	These notes could give indications for inter unit transfer, inter branch transfers within a unit and receipt of returned materials.  It can help the investigator to study the valuation and CENVAT issues.

	23.  Purchase Book
	Purchase Book records all credit purchases.  It is useful for analysing material cost in captively consumed goods.

	24.  Material Transfer Note
	Verify whether such notes are being issued.  If yes, study the nature of notes.  The notes could be for inter unit transfer, inter branch transfer within a unit, could be used even for returning materials received.  Study the nature, procedure purpose and implications from excise point of view.

	25.  Sales Book
	Sales book records credit sales.  Investigator can correlate selective transactions with invoices for verification of quantity and value.

	26. Lease/Hire Purchase Agreement
	Investigator can verify whether any machine/equipment has been obtained on hire purchase basis and whether excise duty on purchase of capital goods has been paid in cash with down payment of first instalment for CENVAT implications.

	27.  Fixed Assets Register
	Investigator can verify the register with details relating to capital goods/plant & machinery acquired, verify claim for depreciation for the purpose of CENVAT, whether any capital goods/plant & machinery have been sold/transferred and compare with CENVAT/records.  The investigator should also identify capital goods manufactured by the company inside the factory on their own and verify removal of such capital goods to other units/group companies.

	28.  Sub contract Register
	This register indicates activity sub-contracted outside.  The investigator can analyse it for valuation of such goods.  The investigator can also study the movement of CENVAT inputs to sub contractors and its revenue implications.

	29.  Spare Parts Price List
	The investigator can compare these prices (by working backwards) with prices adopted for payment of duty, and compare with price adopted for inter unit transfers.  The investigator can make test checks for the components sent to job workers and verify if they are diverted to spare parts market.

	30. Sales Tax Returns
	Verify total sales with total clearance.  Reconcile the difference.  Analyse the reasons for dis-allowance of abatements, second sales, job work of goods by sales tax authority and study the implications vis-à-vis Excise.

	31.  Energy Audit Report
	Helps in verifying actual energy consumed.  Can be used for verification of production.

Identify the inputs used in Energy generation and its CENVAT eligibility.

	32. Tax Audit Report
	Can give valuable information as to the standard of compliance of the company.

Compare the turnover, profit margin etc. of this report with annual report and sales ledger.

	33.  Internal Audit Report
	Will be very useful in evaluating internal controls.  Look for shortage reported vis-à-vis raw materials. This may reveal non-payment of Excise duty, irregular CENVAT availment, stock shortages non-receipt of extra consideration, interest collection etc.

Scan the report and analyse.

	34  Report to ISO Audit
	Can be very useful since it may give insight into the areas where internal controls are not adequate, and areas where accounting system has not been working. Identify the data relating to rejected inputs and study the points & its CENVAT implications.



	35.  Dealer’s Agreement
	See whether company has standard proforma of agreement with dealers.  Collect copy, study the proforma, study the points of relevance for excise.

It gives information about discount structure, commission, sharing of expenses etc.

Analyse to study the A.V.


	36.  Agreement with Consignment Agents 
	See whether company has standard proforma of agreement with dealers.  Collect copy, study the proforma, study the points of relevance to excise.

Study the commission data and relate to abatements claimed if any.

	37.  Cost Audit Report
	Verify valuation of goods cleared for captive consumption on payment of duty.  Ensure that all elements of cost have been included.  Verify cost of job work, if any.  Verify treatment of depreciation and amount calculated.  Calculate input-output ratio for same item.  Compare with industry norms and Compare with input-output ratio fixed by Ministry of Commerce.  Compare the sale price and cost of sale and analyse the reasons for the gap.

	38.  Monthly Stock Statement to   Bank
	Companies are required to file a stock statement every month to Bankers when the stock is hypothecated for loans.  Verify the statement and compare with monthly statement filed with the Department.  Compare the stock statement given to bank with RG 1 and other Internal records.  Identify stock shortages.  Study excise implications.

	39.  Annual Report
	It is a published document for limited companies.  It contains, P&L a/c.  /Balance sheet, Directors report, Auditors report, Schedules to accounts, notes, annual report of subsidiary companies etc.  Link every data with RT 12/ER 1/ER 2 and Internal record to study excise implications.  Identify capital goods  manufactured by the company inside the factory on their own.  Verify removal of such capital goods to other units/group companies.

	40.  Report to N.S.S.O
	Verify details furnished with returns submitted to the Department and reconcile.  Identify the inputs tested and destroyed or cleared and its excise implications.


************
CHAPTER –IV

INTELLIGENCE

Intelligence, in law enforcement parlance, has multiple meanings. It is used to describe an activity or process by which information relating to likely events/offences is collected. The term is also used to describe the end product of this process. The “intelligence product” is one which is of direct value for operationalization. Besides, the term is also used to describe the organizations involved in this activity. Simply stated, an intelligence is processed information. The activity entails assembling of information, collating and evaluating it and finally putting it to timely use.

2.
Intelligence as a term is more commonly used to describe strategic intelligence. Strategic intelligence pertains to planning and management of national security. It is not a specific piece of intelligence directed towards a particular unlawful activity. However, a nation’s wellbeing is not threatened only by security related issues. A nation needs to guard its other frontiers as well, including economic frontiers.  

(i)
Intelligence and Law Enforcement

3.
The offences relating to narcotics trafficking, smuggling, evasion of duty, certain types of organised crimes, etc. come within the ambit of law enforcement rather than national security. The intelligence to achieve these law enforcement objectives is called operational intelligence. The intelligence agencies are often asked to provide information about the domestic as well as foreign aspect of these activities.  In order to combat and solve these problems, the agencies have to depend heavily on information about the persons and organisations involved. Information is key to the whole process. Without specific information, in the overall background of evasion scenario, actionable intelligence cannot be produced.  For this reason, the intelligence approach is often adopted to deal with these activities.  It is necessary for the agencies even involved in law enforcement to gather intelligence about the various individuals and groups, their motivation for committing the offences, the source, the reason, the inter-relation, the intention and so on, of the offenders.  Often it is necessary to use an informer who penetrates their group. It may also be necessary to intercept their communication and use other technical methods of collecting information.

4.
Intelligence in central excise parlance means knowledge about the tax evaders, their organisation, motivation, persons involved and so on. Therefore, intelligence deals with all things that one should know in advance for initiating a course of action. The product resulting from collection, evaluation, analysis, integration of available information which concern with one or more aspect of a tax evader, is intelligence with reference to tax law enforcement.  Some of the basic and generally agreed fundamentals are:


Intelligence derives from conflict or rivalry
5.
Conflict between Nation’s interest and that of tax evaders is the basis source of origin of intelligence.  If there is no conflict, then there will be no necessity or urgency of collecting intelligence. Tax evaders are adversaries, aggressively planning, organising and undertaking moves which are inconsistent with the economic well-being of the nation. In a sector/segment of industry where conflict is low and compliance of tax law high, intelligence activity is also limited. But there are sectors where powerful conflicts do exist due to several reasons such as greed for money, rivalry, revenge etc. Therefore, intelligence activity will continue.


Conduct or use of intelligence involves secrecy

6.
Intelligence activities are generally confidential. The conduct or use of intelligence involves secrecy. If an action does not involve secrecy and is told and/or is known to everyone, then certainly it is not an intelligence. Any information collected from the newspaper or magazine is not and cannot be called an intelligence. It is an information which is open to all. However, if the same is verified, analysed, processed and an “intelligence product” for action emerges, only then it becomes an intelligence. The element of secrecy is fundamental to the intelligence. Therefore, secrecy and ‘need-to-know’ principle is observed throughout the chain of activity leading to an intelligence product. The intelligence organizations practice the concept of compartmentalization and segregation of sub units to achieve this. 


Secrecy in collection of information is a fundamental activity of intelligence

7.
This principle does not argue that collection of information in a clandestine manner is the most important activity of intelligence. Nor does it mean that other activities of intelligence – analysis for example – cannot exist without an information being collected clandestinely. Analysis of an openly available information can also produce an excellent “intelligence product” for operation. What is most important and fundamental is that the targeted adversary must never know the existence of intelligence activity about him. A good adversary keeps making efforts to develop counter-intelligence by penetrating the intelligence organisation. 

Truth must be the basis of a good intelligence

8.
The efforts to collect and analyse intelligence/information are pointless without making the greatest possible efforts to assure that the intelligence dissemination is ‘dissemination of the truth’. This principle is generally accepted but not universally observed. Preconceived ‘ideology’, ‘careerism’, ‘pre-conviction’ for example, are dangerous for any professional intelligence officer. He has to be detached. The user can always adjust tactically on the basis of truthful information. A pre-conceived notion about a particular industry/commodity that evasion is all-pervasive, can influence the intelligence officer while collecting information/intelligence for a unit/factory of that industry /commodity. That unit may not be evading but intelligence collected may give just a contrary view as it has been collected by a biased or pre-conceived mind. So the efforts should be made to find out the truth.  The ‘careerist’ also poses a clear danger to the integrity and professionalism of an intelligence organisation. For example, if the boss has asked for the number of units in a Commissionerate with tainted record, a careerist may tell the boss, even without verification, the number of units in that particular industry. Certainly, he is not telling the ‘real truth’ because he cannot give a complete answer within a short time. Further, it gives a wrong signal to the colleagues that they can ‘cut corners’ with truth. Truth implies that it must admit factual weaknesses. Truth also demands that estimate of possibility of success be appropriately qualified.


Tardy action on intelligence is of little value

9.
If an intelligence is not brought into play in time, the effort to collect and develop it goes waste. The intelligence should be disseminated in time, and the user must actually use and not merely file it. The source protection remains an important determining factor here. But this cannot be indiscreetly used to withhold information from the entitled recipients. The field units must have access to timely and useful tactical intelligence.


Knowledge of law, procedure and Tariff is of immense value
10.
Collection of intelligence relating to Central Excise has certain pre-requisites, viz. knowledge of Central Excise law and procedures, Central Excise Tariff, general awareness, language of the area, social customs, knowledge of the target groups/persons, psyche of the trade in the area etc. It should be remembered that knowledge is an invaluable asset to an intelligence officer. It is often said that knowledge is power. Knowledge is required to foresee the possible areas/sectors of evasion, understand the modus-operandi and to plan a focussed operation to pickup quickly the most crucial evidence and records. Needless to mention, simply because an officer was posted in Maharastra, does not always mean that he has a real grasp of the industry and society of Maharastra. It needs an intelligent, knowledgeable, dedicated and observant officer, to see the things happening around and plan the course of action.  A good investigating officer is one who has an insight into the past, who can analyse the present situation and who can make prognosis into the future. 

(ii)
Intelligence Cycle 
11.
An actionable intelligence product emerges from the cycle of collection, evaluation, collation, analysis, reporting and dissemination of intelligence acronymed CECARD. Information is collected from various covert and overt sources e.g. informer, newspapers, correspondences, company records etc. Such information is then evaluated particularly with reference to reliability of source and accuracy of information. The next step-collation is to put the pieces of information together and transform it by arranging, sorting etc into a logical & usable data. The logical and usable data is then analyzed, gaps filled by further development and brought to usable form. The analyzed and usable intelligence is reported to the appropriate level to take a decision regarding operationalisation of intelligence i.e. date, time, units to be involved etc. The process can be represented as a series of logical successive phases which is not necessarily carried out ponderously step by step but may be the result of rapid mental activity.

********

CHAPTER-V

COLLECTION OF INTELLIGENCE

In this chapter the sources and the various aspects of intelligence gathering techniques are dealt with.

2.
The concept of intelligence has already been discussed with reference to a law enforcement agencies. In the context of the Customs & Central Excise department, intelligence is an input (either collected or furnished) giving a fairly reliable information about the modus operandi adopted by a manufacturer or any other person to evade payment of duty or abatement thereof and the premises where the incriminating goods/documents are secreted/available to establish the same. 

3.
Collection of intelligence about evasion of duty either through informers or otherwise (e.g. through personal efforts and market enquiries) is the first and foremost step in booking a case of evasion of duty. 

4.
Kautilya in his Arthasatra describes elaborately about the sources and employment of sources of intelligence. He suggests that the informer be recruited from amongst the following:-

a) Provoked person –  a person who has  fallen from the King’s grace.

b) Alarmed person – a person who is apprehensive about imminent punishment.

c) Ambitious person – a person who wants to improve his lot even by having engaged in risky transaction.

d) Angry person – a person who is intolerant of others’ prosperity.

Sources of Intelligence : Broad Categories

5.     a)
Open sources such as Publications, Radio, Books,     Newspapers, Trade journals, Magazines, T.V. etc. Analysis of the information available can give rise to an intelligence ready for operationalization.

b)
Technical collection/sources   It will cover sources through use of technology – such as photography, intercepting communication through electronic media, use of bugging devices etc. 

c)
Human sources - Informer

There are two types of sources in this category:-

i)
A casual source – a person engaged by an officer in connection with a particular case or specific matter. Reasons to act as casual sources are many – fear, repentance, motive for revenge, greed for reward, jealousy, quarrel over division of property or competition in crime etc. This category of informer may not be a helpful source of information in regard to the matter in which he has no interest.  

ii) Regular sources/informer - In order to have regular flow of information there is a necessity and urgency to have regular informers. Casual agents, if properly cultivated, can become worthwhile regular sources.

d)
 Government data repository – This will cover data collected from the intelligence/investigation wings of Income Tax & Sales Tax, Crime Records Bureau, departments/organizations collecting statistics on trade of any kind etc. The information gathered from these places can be used for developing intelligence. The documents/evidences/leads from offences committed in cases of other departments, or even within the department can also be of immense help.

Human Sources

One of the most frequently used sources is ‘informers’.

(i)
Recruitment of Sources
6.
The recruitment of sources depends on a variety of considerations, the most important being the type of information that is wanted. The basic principle is to recruit informers from amongst men in “Key Observation Posts’ – meaning thereby that the persons in that trade are the best source. If information about the activities of underworld is required, then a member of that trade is the best person. For medical profession it is the doctor/ nurse. Likewise, for information on pickpockets, pick-pocketer himself is the best source. An important point to be noted here is whether a person by his position and/or association, employment etc. is in a position to observe things happening.

(ii)
Types of Probable Informants/Informers
7.
An informant is a person who gives secret information about duty evasion and other related matters to the Government whereas, an informer is a criminal who gives information about other criminals.  In the context of central excise, both the terms are used synonymously and it means a person who provides information about duty evasion and other economic crimes to the Government. The informers and informants can be recruited from the various sources.
The probable sources for recruitment of informers/ informants are: -

(a) A competitor/rival/ business rival.

(b) A person who has left the partnership firm after a dispute

(c) A person who has left the job or who has been thrown out of job.  i.e. a disgruntled  employee.

(d) Wholesale dealers/distributors, consignment agents who are no more with the company.

(e) Jealousies amongst wholesale dealers/distributors, consignment agents because certain are favoured.

(f) A person in the know of things in trade/manufacture such as Booking Clerk in Goods Booking Office in Railways, Station Master,  Transport Company Booking Clerk etc. 

(g) Neighbours/servants/maid-servants.

(h) Professional informers – having their own network for collection of information for getting rewards.

(i) Person(s) involved in family dispute/partnership dispute.

(j) Person(s) giving information from a sense of duty.

The methods for securing informants/informers are by approaching or winning over any of the above potential sources in the key observation posts.

(iii)
Handling of the Informers
8.
Handling of informers is crucial, and if not  handled deftly, can result in unsavoury incidents. The following are some tips to handle an informer.

(a)    Remember that the informer is a person whose services you would not employ if you had an alternative.

(b)    Maintain control over the informer at all times.

(c)    Be friendly with him but don’t become his friend.  He is your   informer and not your friend.

(d)     Never accept his hospitality or assistance in personal matters.

(e)    Do not employ an informer where he might be mistaken for an officer.

(f)    The informer must have trust in you.  He is taking the risks.  You are taking the credit.

(g)   Be discreet as far as possible, do not meet him in the office or at       your home.  Neutral ground, i.e. a public place is the best.

(h)   Arrange for him to use code number when he telephones you.

(i)   Do not allow him to become familiar with your methods or procedure.

(j)    Ensure that he is not participating in crime under the guise of telling you or inciting others to commit crimes.

(k)    Keep a careful record of meetings, communications and conversation including telephone calls.

(l)    Maintain confidentiality.

(m) Informers will continue to supply information when they know it is acted upon.  But information should be acted upon only after it is verified or corroborated.

(n)  Channel the information to appropriate branches if it does not concern you.

(o)   Treat every suspect and law breaker as a potential informer and every informer as a potential law breaker.

(p)   If you have evidence that your informer has committed an offence, he should not be spared. He cannot be given any protection or immunity.

(q)    The informer belongs to the Department and not to the individual, so hand them over to your successor provided the informer has no objection.

(r)   Never disclose his name.  He should remain anonymous.

(s)   The informer must be paid his reward properly and in time. But don’t let him harbour unrealistic expectations.

(t)   Payment of reward shall be decided at the appropriate time and an accurate record should be kept.

(u)   In order to evaluate the information given by an informer, it is necessary to know his motives.  Motives can be reward, rivalry, personal grudge, revenge, diverting attention, jealousy, protection of law, etc.  Once a Law Enforcement Officer is able to discern the true motives of an informer, he will be able to know the worth of the information.

(v)   Maintain frequent contacts with the informer.

(w)  An informer should be handled by one officer at a time. He should not be allowed to be in touch with various officers within an organisation to give an intelligence.

(x)   Departmental and official affairs should not be discussed with the “Informer”.  He is not a friend to chat with.

9.
Utmost care should be taken in developing, selecting and handling the informers in order to ensure that he does not play mischief with the officer. 

(iv)
Individual Informers of Officers of All Ranks Essential. 

10.
Though there are special set ups, such as, the preventive group and intelligence unit in  the Commissionerate and DGCEI, which source informers for the Department as a whole, it is always better to encourage the individual officers to have their own individual sources of information. This not only brings in an amount of fresh blood, and with it fresh and useful information, but also helps tremendously in cross-checking the various pieces of information on a particular point and thereby avoiding the necessity of taking a blind shot at a hidden target. Moreover, it gives an impetus to the initiative apart from developing the detective faculties of individual officers and men by their own personal efforts.

11.
The notion that only the intelligence section and not the investigation section in a preventive set up is to source informants or to collect intelligence is certainly a mis-placed one. It is always better and desirable that all officers in a preventive set up gather intelligence. Even the Ranges should be encouraged to do so. Anything curious about a manufacturer should arouse suspicion in a Range Officer.  In fact, any manufacturer not confirming to business trends in terms of purchase of raw material, sale of finished goods, likely profits to be made is a suspect whose activity should be discreetly watched.  A Range Officer is best placed to maintain such watch. 

(v)
Cultivation of Informers/Informants

12.
Cultivating informers/informants at various industrial estates, major trading and marketing centers, and transportation hubs can lead to collection of fairly reliable information about tax evaders. There would be various motives that could convert somebody into a potential informer. These, inter alia, are business or personal rivalry, greed for money, jealousy, revenge, etc. However, the officers need to be cautious in developing informers and they should use their own judgement, lest they would fall prey to mischievous elements. 

(vi)
Recording of Information
13.
Any information given by an informer or any other person must invariably be recorded in writing. The information should be recorded preferably in the handwriting of the informer with his dated signature or his left hand thumb impression. The information should be accompanied by an undertaking as specified by the Board given at Annexure I. In case the informer is unable to write, the officer receiving the information should himself record the information. This should be in the first person. The same should thereafter be read out to the informer. The officer should also sign the information with date alongwith informer’s signature or thumb impression. The recording of information insulates the officer from being charged for a vexatious search.

14.
While recording the information, the informer should be explained about the provisions of section 182 of the Indian Penal Code which provides for punishment including imprisonment and/or fine for giving false information to a public servant. He should also be given a realistic brief about the likely reward amount and time when it would be sanctioned. 

(vii)
Information Report
15.
The original information recorded and signed by the informer should be placed in a sealed cover and diarised in a Register maintained by the Preventive Wing of the Commissionerate/Division.  These sealed envelopes are kept in the custody of a Group ‘A’ level officer, generally the Deputy Commissioner (Preventive).  The original information is also called mother information or source report.  Copies of the Information Report are also prepared in the form of AE-1 Report (in triplicate) given at Annexure II.  The AE-1 has to be assigned a running serial number. The AE-1 never bears signature or left thumb impression of the informer.  The original AE-1 should be kept with the sealed envelope containing the original information.  Duplicate should be endorsed to the next superior officer.  Triplicate should be endorsed to the  headquarters of DGCEI. All three AE-1s should bear original signature of the recording officer.  As the information recorded is subsequently operationised, it should be handled ensuring utmost secrecy. The 2nd and 3rd copy of the AE-1 should be dispatched only in a sealed envelope, conforming to the procedure for correspondence of secret letters.  On receipt of the 2nd copy of AE-1, the superior officer should process/examine it.  The intelligence may need to be developed further or may be ripe for opertionalisation.  Accordingly, the superior officer should take decision and operationalise the intelligence.  At times the name of the officer who recorded AE-1, is required to be kept confidential as this is a major clue to the targeted evader to identify the informer.  The officer should also have maturity, not to be boastful that he collected such a good information.  He should avoid conversation on the subject at all times. AE-1 should be filed even when there is no informer. The original information and AE-1s are permanent records, and need to be properly handed over and taken over on transfer.

(viii)
Anonymous Caller or Writer

16.
Sometimes information regarding a baffling but sensational evasion may come from an anonymous caller over the telephone. In such a situation one should draw as much information one can before he ends the conversation, in such a call, do not waste time in trying to persuade the informer to disclose the identity, nor make any attempt to persuade him to see you unless he wants to do it himself. The reaction to such an endeavour may not be favourable to the preventive officer and the caller may just hang up. So instead of wasting time, definitely ask him the proverbial six questions to get as much information as you can within the limited time and opportunity at your disposal, These are: WHO, WHAT, WHEN, WHERE, HOW AND WHY? If you have done this, you will probably find that you have obtained sufficient information to track down the offender should the information be true and genuine.

17.
Instead of a telephone call the information may be conveyed to an organisation in the form of an anonymous letter. Here again, do not always institute an enquiry to find out the author of the letter with a view to establishing a contact. It may scare him away and you may not get any more information like this in future. The motives for supplying information anonymously are many. The informant may be an enemy of the suspect but does not dare to come out openly against him or he may be a disgruntled and disillusioned sweetheart or associate of the suspect but may not be ready to face you  openly, or he may be an envious partner or a co-sharer or may be he is just an honest citizen who feels that he should help the Government  in the interest of  peace and well-being of the society but due to fear of victimisation at the hands of anti-social elements/tax evaders does not dare to come out openly with information in his possession. Sometimes, the anonymous informant may be very close to the tax evader, perhaps even a member of the same group or organisation and as such capable of giving extremely useful tips.

18.
One must, however, be cautious in not being carried away too far by such pieces of information alone. Though, at times, one may get extremely valuable information from the informer they often turn out to be deliberately false with a view either to mislead the preventive set up or to harass an enemy. Thus one should try to verify the information if it can be readily done or check it with other material on hand before taking action. Intelligence from unidentified source should be operationalised only after due verification and checks. But at the same time one should not always treat such anonymous information with a sense of disdain.

Other Sources of Intelligence
19.
Besides getting intelligence from the informers, there are various other sources from which intelligence on evasion of duty can be developed. Some of these sources are:-

(i)
Financial Records: The Balance Sheets and Annual Reports of the manufacturers and companies can be a valuable source of information. These records provide information on the equity pattern, marketing pattern, sales turnover, expenditure on raw material, write off of consumables, CENVAT, other related companies, etc., which can be examined vis-à-vis the records maintained for excise purposes.

(a) The turnover given in the Balance Sheet can be matched with the RT-12 Return;

(b) Schedule of Miscellaneous Income can provide details of other incomes which may fall in the ambit of “additional consideration” in the form of ‘warranty charges’, ‘service charges’, ‘interest on deposits’ and  even ‘commissioning’ or ‘consulting charges’.

(c) Schedule on shareholder’s funds can be seen from the point of view of related/sister/associate company;

(d) Schedule on loans and advances reveal the unsecured loans/interest free loans or deposits obtained from the customers. The mutuality of interest can be examined by studying the Schedule.

(e) The schedule on ‘inventories’ can explain whether large accumulation of Modvat/Cenvat credit is on account of high inventory levels of raw materials. Similarly, raw material written off information could be useful.

(f) The schedule on “manufacturing and other expenses” will be useful to determine if the entire advertising, marketing, warranty costs are being reflected in the assessable value. These also provide information regarding service tax evasion.

(ii)
RT-12 Returns:
Scrutiny of RT-12 Returns can be yet another source of valuable information. Critical examination of RT-12 Returns over a period of time can show the trends in the assessable value of goods. A stagnating assessable value can be a reason for detailed scrutiny into the costing of excisable goods. Examination of sales invoices can show the preponderance of sales to a buyer or of a particular grade, which can be examined from the preventive angle. If the sales are largely to one single buyer, there is a likelihood of ‘related party’ transaction. Similarly, if invoices are for one particular grade or of one   ‘assessable value’ these could be fake.

(iii)
Commodity Bulletins:  A number of commodity bulletins are published on a daily, weekly or monthly basis, which give information about the wholesale prices of these commodities. These publications together with the economic newspapers can be an authentic source of information about the prevailing prices of the commodities, which can be compared with the declared assessable values of the excisable goods.

(iv)
Reports of C&AG on PSUs:  The C&AG reports on Public Sector Undertakings provide useful information on the functioning of PSUs.  Their inventory control mechanisms, writing off of inputs and raw materials can be examined vis-à-vis the CENVAT availment. Further, the study of  valuation of excisable goods and marketing pattern can give useful leads in ascertaining proper tax compliance.

(v)
Websites of Companies:  The web sites of companies are another source for collection of market information with regard to their profiles, share holding patterns, group companies and sister units etc.  

(vi)
Waste & Scrap:
The quantum of waste and scrap and its disposal including the pricing can also be a source of information in commodities like iron and steel products, glass and glassware, tiles, plastic products etc.


Further for allowable wastages, SION (Standard Input Output Norms) could be a guidance since it gives an exhaustive & standard list of inputs required for a unit weight of output. The percentage of waste is derivable from here.

(vii)
Modus Operandi Circulars of DGCEI: The modus operandi circulars issued by the DGCEI are another source of information, which can be studied for commodities, and manufacturers of such commodities.
(viii)
Draft Audit Paras: Examination of draft audit paras of previous years can also provide vital information about the functioning of an assessee.

(ix)
Exchange of information with other enforcement agencies: Regular liaison with other enforcement agencies of the Central Government and State Governments can supplement the inputs available and can be useful in developing intelligence.

(x)
Maintenance of Dossiers: Maintenance of dossiers about the manufacturers and continuous updating thereof can also provide an insight into the functioning of these assessees and their profile, which can be of use for developing  intelligence.
(xi)
Studying Trade Practices:

Examples (a)   Consumer goods industry generally floats front line marketing companies to conceal undervaluation. These companies are essentially controlled by the parent company.

(b) In industries, such as, glassware, sanitary-ware,    crockery, plastic goods etc., the companies undervalue by showing 1st grade material clearance in the guise of IInd grade.

(c) In case of goods which are assembled or commissioned at site, the assembly/commissioning charges are not declared to the department. Similarly, cost of bought out items in such cases are not included and even ‘designing’ and ‘commissioning’ charges are not made a part of assessable value.

(d) With the extension of the facility of issuing modvatable/Cenvatable invoices to dealers a wide spread trade practice for facilitating evasion of duty in Iron and Steel products has evolved across the country. Manufacturers of steel products such as bars, rounds, angles, etc. have started removing excisable goods from the factories under the bills issued by the firms known as bill traders. As per this practice the goods are loaded from the factory of the manufacturer and transported only under the cover of a bill/challan issued by the bill trader. No invoice is issued by the factory. At the same time, the factory issues invoices, covering approximately 20% of their clearances through such bill traders, by issuing invoices in their name. This is done to cover any verification arising out of interception of these goods in transit. Thus the manufacturers are able to clear 80% of their production clandestinely on the strength of bills/challans raised by such bill traders. The sale proceeds from the buyers are received by the bill traders. Bill traders deposit cheques/drafts in their banks, withdraw money and handover the same to the manufacturers.  Very often the bill trading firms are found to be closed after a short period of time and new-bill trading firms are opened so that detection of their firms and bank accounts becomes difficult. Therefore, if the enquiry into the trade practice in such commodities reveals that most of the supply of such commodities is done by traders, then the jurisdictional Preventive formation should immediately take up detailed investigations in the case.

Such standard trade practices could be modified and could come in handy for conducting searches.

20.
Intelligence can be cultivated by scrutiny of the above records and documents without having an informer in the picture. It is advisable to make an AE-1 Report even in those cases where there is no informer.

Sharing of Intelligence

21.
Intelligence can be collected by the individual officer solely by himself or by associating someone who could be trusted in the matter. However, the bottom line in these matters is “need to know” basis. In other words, the question which needs to be answered is whether the intelligence should be shared, could be shared or may be shared both during collection as well as for executing the same. 

Verification of Intelligence 

22.
After the intelligence has been collected and developed and recorded in the form AE-1 comes the aspect of discreet verification thereof. It is advisable to discreetly verify the premises for the purposes of ascertaining its accessibility, assessing the staff deployment as also the time it would require for reaching the location, which is critical for simultaneous action. The sensitivity of the location from the point of view of law and order also can be assessed while conducting discreet verification so that necessary precautions can be taken. In case a residential premise is also to be covered, the discreet verification helps in knowing the size of the premises. It is a must to depute a lady officer for residential premises. 

23.
It is advisable to verify the premises by using private vehicles. To carry out verification, information should be split in parts. One officer should be given access to only that part of the information which he is directed to verify, that is to say,  the intelligence should be shared only on a ‘need to know’ basis.  The officers should be given clear instructions that verification should be done discreetly. When there is a chance of exposure, the officers must withdraw. Delay in verification of intelligence is preferable to the same being exposed because of inept handling of the matter.

24.   Check List for Recording of Information

(i) Check that the information has been recorded in full giving the modus operandi and contains the complete names and addresses of the concerned persons/premises to be covered;

(ii) Check that the information bears the dated signature or the left hand thumb impression of the informer and his complete address;
(iii) Check that the information has been signed by the officer recording the information giving full name and designation and date;
(iv) Check that the original information bearing the dated signature/LTI of the informer and the officer who has recorded the information has been sealed in an envelope;
(v) Check that Information Report in form AE-1 in triplicate has been prepared on the basis of the recorded information giving the details of the intelligence;
(vi) Check that the AE-1 has been registered/entered in the Register meant for AE-1 reports and a number has been assigned;
(vii) Check that the copies of AE-1 Report have been sealed and despatched to the superior officer and the DGCEI;
(viii) Check that care has been taken to despatch the copies of AE-1 report without compromising its secret nature;
(ix) Check that the superior officer is fully aware of the AE-1 report for taking  necessary action in the context of the intelligence report;
(x) Check that all necessary precautions have been taken to maintain the secrecy of the intelligence.
******************

CHAPTER-VI

EXECUTION OF INTELLIGENCE

PRE-SEARCH WORK

1.
Search can be authorized under the Central Excise Act, when there is a reason to believe that it would lead to  recovery of goods liable to confiscation or documents/things relevant for proceedings under the Act.  On the basis of available intelligence a decision has to be taken whether a search is required or not.  If the intelligence indicates existence of private and non-statutory records secreted, search is warranted.  Documents based technical cases can be investigated by resuming records under summon proceedings.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               

2.
Informers have so far been the main sources of information leading to searches. The role of the officers of the Department in such cases is to evaluate the reliability of the information and to proceed to institute a search, in case the information is reliable and is of such specific nature as may lead to the discovery of evidence of large scale evasion of tax.

3.
It has been noticed that generally an informer coming to the Department for the first time is more reliable than the professional informer. For judging the reliability of the information provided by an informer, it is necessary to bear in mind the following points:-

(a)
Status of the informer;

(b) Access of the informer to the information being supplied;

(c) 
Knowledge of the informer about the modus operandi of evasion of duty in   the case brought up by him;

(c) Knowledge of the informer about the documents which can prove the evasion;

(d) Knowledge of the informer about the places of assessee's  activities         viz. residence, business premises, godowns, bank accounts, lockers, etc;

(e) Knowledge of the informer about the names of the partners/directors, trusted employees, relatives etc;

(g)    Nature of evidence supplied by the informer in support of the 

         allegations;

(h)    Informer's true motive behind the complaint; 

(i) The period to which the information relates;

(j) Informer’s knowledge about Central Excise.

(k) Informer’s particular knowledge about assessee’s trusted persons from whom private records could be recovered.

Examination of Informers

4.
The officer should first examine the informer and if he is satisfied about the worth of the information, detailed examination may be done by the Assistant Commissioner/Deputy Commissioner. The informer should be asked to fill up the declaration/undertaking in the proforma prescribed for this purpose in the Reward Rules. No exaggerated assurance for reward should be given and it should be made clear to him that the reward depends on the recovery made on the basis of the information given by him and not on the total recovery made in the case. The informer should be asked to give evidence and documents in his possession to support the information. He should be warned that if the information supplied by him is found to be false and with malicious motive, he is liable to be proceeded against u/s 182 of the I.P.C. read with section 22 of the Central Excise Act 1944. The allegations made by him should be clearly recorded along with the evidence in support thereof.

5.
For smooth and effective conduct of a search, it is necessary to examine the informer with regard to special features of the case like working hours of office, factory, time at which the proprietors, partners or directors leave their residences and the special features of the premises like number of floors, room suites, concealed chambers, number of persons occupying each premise, guard, servant, dog, etc. The officer handling the informer should discuss these points intricately so as to extract every ounce of detail available with the informer.

6.
If the informer happens to be an accountant/staff dealing with Central Excise matters, he should be asked to give the exact details, such as the nature of the entries regarding evasion made in the books of accounts, whether any duplicate sets of books of account are kept, the person from whose custody or places from where they are likely to be recovered etc. In case any slips or chits are maintained for transactions apart from the records, the name of the person who maintains them and places from where they are likely to be recovered should also be ascertained. Similarly, information about diaries maintained should also be gathered. The specimen or extracts of the slips/diaries should also be obtained. If the informer happens to be the Manager or Director, he may have, in his possession, e-mail accounts, secret correspondences, details of concealed bank accounts and bank deposits, details of clandestine clearance, benami investments, fictitious purchases and expenses, suppressed sales and receipts, lap-tops data etc. and he will certainly know where the alleged unaccounted for stocks are kept, the exact details of the places where they are kept, the places and the parties from whom they were purchased and particulars regarding the manner in which the sales are made outside the books of accounts and mode of payments for such sales etc.

Processing of Information

7.
The information collected should be carefully and discreetly cross-checked to ensure its veracity by making independent enquiries and wherever considered desirable and safe, by studying the monthly return. Surveillance on the alleged tax evader may help  reveal the information useful for identifying the modus operandi for evasion and, in addition, enable discovering of businesses, godowns, etc. not known to the Department. It is also important to note that the informer should always be kept guessing as to whether any action will be taken on the basis of the information supplied by him with a view to forestalling any attempt on his part to double-cross the Department and blackmail the assessee. While the search operation is going on, it is desirable not to speak to the  informer as it may lead to the informer being exposed. It may be necessary to contact the informer at a later stage either before or during the course of the search and for the purpose, if possible, his telephone number may be obtained but no discussion about the case should take place at all over the phone. 

8.
As far as possible, reconnaissance should be conducted without the help of the informer. He should be assured of total and absolute secrecy regarding his status of being the informer. Specimen of the left hand thumb impression should be obtained on all pages of the information supplied by him and kept in a sealed envelope in the custody of the Deputy Commissioner (Prev) or Intelligence Section, wherever  as per the practice mother information/source reports are  safely kept.  It should be verified that AE-1 reports have been appropriately filed.

9.
It is essential to process the information received on a priority basis, as delay will certainly cause damage to the case. All information need not be operationalised by search. Where the case is record based, investigations may be initiated under summon proceedings.


Reconnaissance

10.
For smooth conduct of the search, it is necessary to collect the following information during the course of reconnaissance:-

	(a)
	Exact identification of the premises, their location and distance from the assembly point.  For this purpose, Municipal No., sector number, name of the building, locality etc. must be ascertained. In order to ensure that no time is wasted in locating the premises and to ensure that action is simultaneously taken at all places, it is necessary to prepare the route map giving the geographical location of the premises to be searched with adequate hints for following the route map. During the course of reconnaissance, the kind of locality and the neighborhood should also be taken into account to decide about security arrangements. Unsafe neighbourhood should be specifically brought to the notice of the senior officers planning the operation.



	(b)
	The size of the premises, especially for deciding the manpower requirement and the security requirement is of extreme importance. It is important to ascertain the exits and entries so that adequate precautions are taken to guard against any escape of men or material before or during the course of search operations. Out-houses, servant quarters, garages, cellars and any other secret bases have also to be ascertained in advance as far as possible. 



	(c)
	The office hours,  the factory hours and also the time at which generally the occupants are available in the premises have to be 

ascertained, in addition to the weekly holidays. This will help in fixing the entry point for the searches. 



	(d)
	The reconnaissance also involves surveillance and under-cover work in the shape of trailing, watching, shadowing, etc


Planning of Actual Search Operations

11.
These arrangements include the following:- 

(a)  
Preparation of brief for the authorised officers or team leaders,

(b)
Arrangement of manpower and formation of search parties,

(c) 
Security arrangements,

(d)
Arrangement of transport

(e)
Decision about the time of strike and simultaneous operation.

(f)
Preparation of search materials and search packets including brass seals.

(g)
Procurement of food packets, cash and electronic gadgets.

(h)
Arrangement for countrywide searches on a particular commodity or group of companies.

(i) 
Arrangement of Control Room.

Preparation of Brief/Briefing of Officers 

12.
The brief prepared for the guidance of search should spell out clearly the object of the search i.e., whether it is to recover the duplicate/genuine books of accounts or documents pertaining to a clandestine removal or that of undervaluation etc. Where the circumstances permit, the briefing can even be done orally. The brief must contain the following: 

(a) Particulars of assessees, directors, managers and the places to be searched including offices, factories, depots etc.

(b) Nature of business and modus operandi of evasion.

(c) Objectives of the search and means to achieve them.

(d)
Connected cases of the group if such background is of help, particularly with reference to their conduct during the post search operations.

(e)
If possible, photographs of main persons may also be given alongwith clear instructions, if they have to be apprehended.

(f)
Route map of the premises and outlets of the building.

(g)
Telephone numbers of the Control Room with name and designation of controlling officer. 

(h)
Instructions regarding recording of statement about private/statutotory records recovered.

(i)
Instructions that the Control Room be kept informed about developments during search. 

(j)    Particulars of secret chambers, underground cellars, if any.

(k)    In case of godowns, nature of goods and proforma in which the 

        inventory should be prepared.

(l)    In case of factory premises, the nature of produce and nature of 

enquiry and verification to be made at various stages of production, verification of raw material, goods in process and finished goods.

(m)    To avoid indiscriminate seizure of records/documents, the nature

          of documents to be seized with relevant years may also be 

          mentioned.

13.
Sufficient number of copies of brief should be prepared and they should be serially numbered. Serial number of the brief should be indicated in the sealed envelope containing the authorisation with the instructions that they will be returned along with the executed warrant of authorisation. It should be clearly stated that under no circumstances, the assessee or his representative should have access to the brief as this may lead to the informer getting identified.


Arrangement of Manpower

14.
The list of persons who are suitable for search work should be prepared. The requirement of the officers including lady members and members of staff should be determined, keeping in view the size of premises and also the number of exits and entries to be guarded. Care should be taken to keep some manpower in reserve for any unforeseen event. 

  15.
Keeping in view the interest of secrecy as well as for ensuring the prompt response, the officers should be requisitioned through confidential D.O. letters indicating the time and place where they should report and the person to whom they have to report. The officers may be requested to bring their office stamps and identity cards. If they are required to go out, it may be indicated in the letter. 

16.
The officers having necessary zeal and aptitude for search operation should be nominated as leaders. The persons selected should have necessary experience and ability to organise and lead the operation. Every authorised officer must abide by the instructions of the leader and would be responsible to him. The communication to and from the Control Room should be done through the leader of the search party. He has to decide about the persons who will record the statements and as to who will be incharge of the seized materials and documents. Generally, the inspector authorised to search is made responsible for the documents seized.


Security Arrangements

17
It should be assessed in advance if police guards are needed during the search.  Accordingly, security arrangements should be made in advance and care should be taken to ensure that every search party has adequate number of guards. The number of security guards to accompany each party will depend on the nature of locality and magnitude of the premises. A requisition for supply of armed guards should be sent to the Police Department in advance wherever necessary. It should be ensured that the details of the parties to be searched are not divulged to them. 

18.
It is always advisable that the place of parking of the vehicles is discreetly decided at different stages, e.g. at the place of assembly, place of opening of sealed packets and just before the entry into the premises.


Time of Strike

19.
While deciding about the time of strike and simultaneous operation thereof, it should be ensured that search, as far as possible, should not be conducted on public holidays or the days on which the office and factories remain closed.  Searches on the days of festivals and days of mass prayer in the locality should be avoided.  Search should generally be started after sunrise but for reasons to be recorded in writing, search can be authorised at odd hours.


Provision for Search Material Kit

20.
The search packet containing the following material should be provided to every search party:-

(a)      Panchnama forms/seizure memo,

(b)      Form of summons,

(c)      Form of authorisation for search duly filled and signed.

(d) Bags for sealing the seized materials and trunks with locks and cloth pieces. Required stationery, including paper, carbon paper, copying pencils & sealing materials including sealing wax, needles, thread, match box, candles, adhesive tapes, pins, clips, tags & envelopes.


Sealing of Envelope Containing the Authorisation
21.
The envelope containing the authorisation should be sealed and it should mention on  top of the envelope the instructions about (a) time of strike, (b) the place and time at which the sealed envelope should be opened and (c) the requirement that it should be opened by the leader in the presence of at least one other authorised officer and both of them should subscribe their signatures on the envelope acknowledging the fact that it was opened in their presence, (d) Sl. No. of the search party, name of the leader and other member(s).

22.
The sealed envelope should have the authorisation, sufficient copies of the brief and route map and location maps of the premises. The place selected for assembly should be such that it will not arouse unnecessary suspicion. The party should have sufficient time to go through the route map and the brief before the strike.


Check List for  Search Operations

23.
Prior to conducting the search, check

(i)
whether the day of search is not a weekly day off in the target area or a day of festival/weekly prayer etc.

(ii)
whether all the premises have been verified and route map prepared and whether they are accessible by vehicles or foot.

(iii) whether area around the target premises has been verified and 


all possible escape routes identified & plugged. 

(iv)
whether the telephone numbers of the nearest police station/post have been ascertained and handed over to the team leaders.

(v)
whether the size and importance of the premises has been ascertained for deployment of adequate manpower.

(vi)
whether the working hours, when normally the occupants are available, has been  ascertained.

(vii) 
whether the intelligence report has been prepared in adequate numbers for handing over to all the teams.

(viii)
whether the logistics e.g. vehicles, stay arrangements, if needed etc. involved have been ascertained and taken care of. 

(ix)
the composition of teams and the leader.

(x)
whether the officers have been called at the appointed date and time. 

(xi) 
that the sealed covers have been handed over to the team    leaders.

(xii) 
whether the team leader(s) have been adequately briefed about the search and are informed of the strike time and when to open the sealed envelopes.

(xiii) whether the standard kit containing stationary, forms and sealing material has been handed over to all the teams.

(xiv) that the number of vehicles assigned have been made known to each team leader.

(xv) whether a Control Room has been made functional for the search parties to be in communication.

(xvi)
 whether the search parties have been dispatched in time. 

(xvii)
whether the team leaders are reachable either through cell phone or landline at all  times during the search operation .

(xviii)
that the strike time is adhered to by all the teams.

(xix) that in cases of searches to be conducted in sensitive areas, prior arrangements for police /paramilitary forces are made by the search teams.

(xx)
that a stand-by team has been formed.



During the search,

(i)
ensure that at the place of search, none from the premises of search is able to communicate with anyone outside.

(ii)
ensure that all the rooms, sections, cabins are covered by the search team to prevent destruction of papers and electronic records.


Issue of Warrant of Authorization.

24.
Before issue of search warrant, the authorizing officer should satisfy that there is a reason to believe that at the place to be searched,  the goods liable to confiscation or documents and things relevant for proceedings under the Central Excise Act, 1944 are secreted. There must exist, before  issuing an authorization, objective facts on the basis of which he can form a belief that accounts/records/papers relating to clandestine clearance/ undervaluation, unaccounted for input and/or unaccounted for production,  or any other documents to indicate contravention of the Central Excise Act or the rules made there under can be found.  The belief must be in good faith and should be bona fide. While the existence of this belief is justifiable, sufficiency of reasons is not. The proforma for search warrant is enclosed as Annexure III
25.
The pre-search record which will form the basis of officer’s satisfaction has to be maintained in strict confidence and with utmost secrecy. The files generally contain the secret information from various sources including the statements of the informers, secret reports prepared by the officers of the Department etc.  These files should be marked as secret files and kept with D.C. (Preventive) or Intelligence Section. The files should bring out clearly that there was proper information and material before the authority issuing the search warrant and that there was proper application of mind by him.

26.
It is important to remember the following points while filling up the form of warrant of authorisation:-

a) The authority issuing the search warrant can authorise any officer not less than the rank of an Intelligence Officer/Inspector of Central Excise. It is not necessary that such officer should be posted under the authority issuing the search warrant. 

b) An authorisation without the name of the party whose premises are to be searched is invalid. The premises to be searched should be clearly mentioned. The issue of blank authorisation is legally prohibited.

c) The authorisation can be issued in the name of the owner, possessor or the occupier, as the case may be.

27.
To ensure that the search warrant has been properly given and also that there is no mistake in filling it, the following should be always borne in mind:- 

(a)     Is the officer issuing the warrant, empowered to do so? 

(b)
Has an officer of the rank of inspector or above been 
authorized?

(c)     Is the name of the person/persons in respect of whom the search 

          is authorised, clearly stated? 

(d)     Is the description of the premises to be searched properly

         mentioned? 

(e) 
Has the warrant form been dated and signed by the issuing authority with due official seals on it?

Warrant for Residential Premises 

28.
Warrant for residential premises should be issued in the name of an adult member of the family. When more than one adult member of the family resides in one residential premises, warrant issued in the name of any one of them would suffice. Seizure of any books of accounts, documents and assets found within the premises on the basis of such an authorisation would be valid even if any other adult member, not named in the warrant, claims to be owner thereof. While executing a search warrant, the officer authorised therein can search receptacles, almirahs, boxes and vehicles within the said premises  where he has reasons to suspect that books of accounts, documents or valuable articles may be concealed.

. 

29.
Where third parties like relatives, friends etc. are staying in the same premises and articles etc. are found in their possession which may have relevance to the assessment of the person whose premises are being searched, it would be safer to get separate warrants of authorisation in the names of such friends, relatives etc. before effecting any seizure.

30.
Where the residences occupied by partners of a firm or directors of a company are to be searched, the warrant of authorisation should specify the relationship of the person in question with that firm or company and in the column meant for describing the premises, the particulars of his residence should be given. A similar procedure should be followed in respect of employees, authorised representatives etc.


Warrant for Business Premises

31.
While preparing the search warrant for business premises, the name of the person occupying the premises and doing business therein, i.e. firm, company etc, as the case may be, should be given.  Separate warrants of authorisation may be issued in the name of each company and firm operating from the same business premises or only one warrant of authorisation may be issued giving names of the concerns occupying the common premises.  Both the procedures can be followed.  Wherever it is apprehended that any assets belonging to the individual partners or directors are also likely to be recovered from the business premises, the names of the partners and directors should also be inserted in the same warrant.  If this procedure is followed, then not only the validity of seizure will be beyond challenge, but also there could be no objection to the proceedings under the Central Excise Act, 1944 against the individuals in respect of the assets/goods/books of accounts seized from the business premises. 


Warrant for Bank Lockers etc.

32.
In case of bank lockers, the name of the person or persons to whom the lockers belong should be written in the relevant column of the warrant and the description of the lockers held by them may be given along with the name of the branch of the bank in the column meant for describing the place.  Where there is information of more lockers being held by the assessee, the numbers should not be given and instead of the word ‘locker’, ‘lockers’ should be used and it should be further added ‘held severally or jointly with any other person’.  The same procedure should be applied to the warrants issued for search of safe deposit vaults etc. 


Description of the Premises

33.
The officer authorised to conduct a search can enter and search only such premises as are mentioned in the warrant of authorisation. Therefore, a proper description of the premises to be covered is absolutely essential. Where the exact description of the premises cannot be given, a map indicating its location should be attached to the authorisation and the warrant should refer to the said map so that the map forms part of authorisation itself.


Arrangements of Witnesses

34.
 A search has to be conducted in the presence of two respectable citizens of the same locality. Generally, such witnesses are requested after the search team reaches the address. However, where it is not practicable to get the witnesses of the same locality, the authorised officer may get two witnesses from another locality. Wherever any trouble is expected, arrangements for witnesses can be made in advance. These witnesses may travel with the search team to the premises to be searched. As far as possible, only Government servants should be taken as witnesses and this may be recorded stating the circumstances for doing so.

*******

CHAPTER-VII

EXECUTION OF INTELLIGENCE

SEARCH AND SEIZURE

Search and  Seizure : Legal Provisions

           The legal provisions relating to search and seizure have been discussed  in Chapter-III. In this chapter, the basic provisions are re-capitulated in brief and thereafter, search and seizure operations are dealt with in detail.

2.    The power to search under the Central Excise Act flows from notification No.68/63-CE dated 4.5.1963, issued under Section 12 of the Central Excise Act, 1944,  notifying that sub-section (1) of Section 105 of the Customs Act, 1962 shall be applicable to the Central Excise Act.  Thus an Assistant/Deputy Commissioner of Central Excise may authorize an Inspector of Central Excise to search any place, if he has reason to believe that any goods liable to confiscation or any documents or things useful for proceedings under the Central Excise Act are secreted in that place.

3.      Section 110 of the Customs Act, 1962 as made applicable to Central Excise in terms of notification No.68/63-CE dated 4.5.1963 empowers the Central Excise Officer to seize any goods, which he has reason to believe, are liable to confiscation. Situations under which the goods can be confiscated are mentioned in rule 25 of the Central Excise Rules, 2002 and rule 13 of the Cenvat Credit Rules, 2002.  Further, any document, record or any other item which may have an evidentiary value in any proceedings under the Central Excise Act, 1944 can also be seized under the said section.

4.
In terms of section 115 of the Customs Act, 1962 as made applicable to Central Excise in terms of the aforesaid notification,  any conveyance used in the transportation of offending excisable goods, i.e. excisable goods removed in contravention of any of the provisions of the Central Excise Act, 1944 or the rules made there under, is liable to confiscation. The provisions of section 121 of the Customs Act, 1962 as made applicable to Central Excise under the aforesaid notification can be invoked for confiscating the cash amount not explained or accounted for, if there is a reason to believe that the said cash amount pertains to the sale proceeds of offending excisable goods.

5.    An important aspect to be kept in view is that, to seize any goods,  documents, vehicles etc. there should be a reason to believe that the goods are liable to confiscation and the documents or records would be useful as an evidence in any proceedings under the Central Excise Act, 1944.  Once there is a reason to believe that the goods are liable to confiscation, the Central Excise Officer can seize the goods under a Seizure Memo/Panchnama. The powers to seize can be exercised by an officer not below the rank of an Inspector of Central Excise. In this connection, it may be noted that technical violations of the Central Excise Rules, especially where there is no willful intent to evade duty, should not form the reasons to effect seizure of goods.

6.
Rule 22 of the Central Excise Rules, 2002, inter-alia, authorizes the officers to have free access to any registered premises or place where excisable goods are manufactured or stored and to inspect the records in regards to receipt, purchase, storage, sales or delivery of the goods including inputs and capital goods. Under rule 23 of the Central Excise Rules, 2002, any Central Excise Officer may search any conveyance carrying excisable goods in respect of which he has reason to believe that the goods are being carried with the intention of evading duty.

7.
Rule 24 of the Central Excise Rules, 2002 envisages detention and seizure of excisable goods which are liable to excise duty but no duty has been paid thereon. The excisable goods can also be seized/detained if they are removed with intention of evading the duty payable thereon.  Generally, the detention of excisable goods is done where it is not practicable to seize the goods either because of their size or nature or the Central Excise Officer feels that before effecting the seizure, some further enquiries are required to be made. The difference between detention and seizure of goods is that in case of the former the physical possession continues to vest with the person in whose possession the goods were available at the time of detention whereas, in the latter case the physical possession of the seized goods shifts to the Department.

8.
In terms of Section 110 of the Customs Act, 1962 as made applicable to Central Excise, a Show Cause Notice under section 124 proposing confiscation of the seized goods is required to be issued within 6 months from the date of seizure failing which the goods shall be returned to the person from whose possession they were seized. However, this six month period can be further extended for a period not exceeding another six months  by the Commissioner of Central Excise. This would entail a Show Cause Notice and a speaking order by the Commissioner of Central Excise giving the grounds of extension of the time period for issue of Show Cause Notice in respect of the seized goods.

Basic Parameters of Search
9.
The freedom to carry out trade or business is a fundamental right guaranteed under the Constitution of India. Therefore, the power to search a person’s residence/business premises and to seize/detain his goods and property is an extraordinary power  given to the Central Excise Officers under the Central Excise Act, 1944. This power can not be exercised injudiciously or without proper application of mind. Section 22 of the said Act clearly prohibits vexatious search and seizure. Therefore, while carrying out search operations, the following basic parameters need to be borne in mind. 

i) No search under section 105 of the Customs Act, 1962 should be carried out without a proper search warrant issued by the officer not below the rank of an Assistant Commissioner.

ii) The premises of a person can not be searched on the authority of a search warrant issued for the premises of some other person. Where a search warrant, through oversight, has been issued in the name of a person who is already dead, the authorised officer should report to the Control Room and get a fresh warrant in the names of the legal heirs. 

iii) Searches for excisable goods may be made even without search warrant if the unit is registered under the provisions of the Central Excise Act, 1944 or the rules made there under. However, it is always advisable to obtain a search warrant, especially in the case of small scale units where even otherwise permission of the Assistant Commissioner is required to visit the unit.

iv) There should invariably be a lady officer accompanying the search team to a residence.

v) The officers conducting the search should identify themselves by showing their identity cards to the person in-charge of the premises.

vi) All searches should be made in accordance with the provisions relating to search contained in the Cr.PC, 1973 (Section 18 of the CEA, 1944).

vii) The search warrant should be executed before the start of the  search and should be served on the person in charge of the premises to be searched by showing the same to him and his signature should be taken on the body of the search warrant.  The signatures of the witnesses should also be taken on the body of the search warrant.

viii) The search should be made in the presence of two or more independent and respectable inhabitants of the locality, and if no such inhabitants are available or willing, the inhabitants of any other locality should be asked to be witness to the search. The officer conducting the search may issue an order in writing to the inhabitants to witness the search (Section 100 (4) of Cr.PC, 1973). The witnesses should be told about the purpose of the search.

ix) Before the start of the search proceedings the team of officers conducting the search and the accompanying witnesses should offer themselves for their personal search to the person incharge of the premises being searched.

x) After the conclusion of the search all the officers and the witnesses should again offer themselves for their personal search.

xi) A panchnama of the proceedings of the search should necessarily be made and a list of documents/goods recovered should be prepared.  The panchnama and the list of goods/documents should be signed by the witnesses, the owner of the premises and also by the officer duly authorized for conducting the search.

xii) After the search is over, the search warrant duly executed should be returned to the officer who had issued the said search warrant with a report regarding the outcome of the search. The names of the officers who had participated in the search should be written on the reverse of the search authorization.

xiii) A copy of the panchnama alongwith all its annexures should be given to the person incharge of the premises being searched and acknowledgement in this regard may be taken.

Search and Seizure Operations

i)    Preparation for the Search 

10.
After an actionable intelligence has been prepared in the form of an Information Report or AE-1 Report and approval of the competent authority has been obtained, necessary preparation for executing the same is required to be carried out depending upon the nature of the intelligence. An ‘Operation Chart’ should be prepared soon after the warrants of authorisation have been signed by the issuing authority. This will enable adequate supervision over actual search work at individual premises. The details for preparation of the search has already been discussed in the previous chapter dealing with pre-search work.
ii) Witness to the Search
11.
As mentioned earlier, before making a search, the authorised officer is required to call two or more independent and respectable inhabitants of the locality where the building or premises is situated, to attend and witness the search. In case the witnesses from the locality in the vicinity of the premises to be searched are not available,  then responsible employees of some PSUs or Banks or some reputed and educated persons from  nearby localities can be asked to be witness to the search. Where a vessel, vehicle or aircraft is to be searched, the requirement of the witness being from the same locality is not necessary. The witnesses should be selected carefully to ensure that they are literate, neither related to nor in the employment of the person whose premises is to be searched. They should be major and free from physical or mental infirmities and acceptable to the religious sentiments of the occupants of the premises to be searched. The assessee’s legal/tax adviser should not be taken as a witness.  It is advisable to have one male and one female witness.


 Duties of a Witness 

12.
A Witness should

	(a)
	witness the search carefully from the commencement till it is closed and the panchnama of the entire proceedings is  drawn up;



	(b)
	read, understand and sign the warrant of authorisation and panchnama; 



	(c)
	see that the search and seizure operation is carried out in an orderly manner without any interference or any damage to the person or   property.

	(d)
	see that there is no tampering or destruction of valuables or documents;



	(e)
	not  leave the premises under search without permission of the authorised officer;



	(f)
	initial all the vital documents etc. for proper identification;



	(g)
	see that a female is searched only by female members of the search party;



	(h)
	see that in the panchnama correct facts relating to the proceedings of the search and seizure are recorded;



	(i)                                                                 
	see that the seals on the safe, almirah, room, store etc. affixed during any earlier search for whatever reason, are intact and that they are broken and search conducted in his presence if he is witnessing the continuation of a search on a subsequent date;



	(j)
	attend as a witness under any proceedings under the Central Excise Act, 1944 when summoned.



	(k)
	see that nothing is planted by the officers on the person or premises being searched.



	(l)
	see that nothing other then that shown in the panchnama is removed from the premises.


13.
To enforce the attendance of a witness, the authorised officer should issue an order under section 100(4) of Cr.PC, 1973 in writing in the prescribed proforma. Non-compliance of the said requisition constitutes an offence under section 187 of the IPC. If a witness is found to be hostile, a mention of the fact may be made in the panchnama and Control Room should also be informed. The services of a hostile witness should be dispensed with after ensuring that there are at least two witnesses after such dispensation. Where there are adequate numbers of witnesses, the authorised officer may permit them to go out of the premises, by turn, for a brief period. This fact should be reflected in the Panchnama. Refusal by a witness to stay till the end of the search would amount to an offence under section 187 of the IPC. In such cases, the authorised officer should immediately lodge a complaint in the nearest Police Station. Where a witness refuses to sign the panchnama, the authorised officer should examine him and ascertain the reasons for such refusal and record this fact in the panchnama. The other witness should be asked to attest this fact. 

iii) Entry into the Premises

14.
The officers authorized to search a premises should call the person incharge of the premises being searched and explain to him the purpose of their visit.  The officers should identify themselves by showing their identity cards.  Then the search warrant should be executed by showing the same to the person incharge.  His signature should be taken on the body of the search warrant.  The entire proceedings from execution of warrant onwards must be done in the presence of two independent witnesses who should also sign on the body of the search warrant.  If the premises to be searched is, in occupancy of a female who, according to custom, does not appear in public the female should be given notice that she is at liberty to withdraw.  If the search is being conducted at a residential premise, a lady officer must accompany the team.  

14.1
If entry into any building or place etc. cannot be obtained by request, the authorised officer should take assistance of police officers or other officers of the Central Government for the purpose. The authorised officer should wait for a reasonable time for the occupant to open the door, after posting men at all exits. Intercom system fixed at the entrance should be taken into control to ensure that there is no advance intimation to the persons inside the building. After waiting for a reasonable time the authorized person may break open the door to obtain admittance, which he can not otherwise obtain.

14.2
If, in a premise, only ladies and children are available, though the entry may be made, the party may delay the search for a brief period if requested by the ladies and allow some  responsible male member of the household to return. However, it should be ensured that the delay in the search does not afford an opportunity to the occupants to destroy any records, documents etc. secreted. 

14.3
Where the authorised officer is satisfied that a portion of the premises pertains to a person other than the person against whom search  authorization was issued he should contact the Control Room for further instructions. Where a fresh warrant is to be obtained, the premises should be properly guarded. Fresh warrants should be obtained only if such search is essential.
14.4
Where after gaining entry into the premises, it is found that it is occupied by a person other than the one mentioned in the search warrant, the authorised officer should make sure that he has not come to the wrong place. He should also try to ascertain the correct address and name of the party. The leader should get in touch with the Control Room for further instructions.

14.5
Where it is found that the premises is locked, the search party should get in touch with the Control Room for obtaining further instructions and in the meantime, should ensure that no one enters the premises. The premises may thereafter be sealed in the presence of witnesses and the party should leave the premises only after the armed guards have been posted. A copy of the panchnama should be pasted at the entry of the premises and verbal warning to the members of the adjacent premises should be given that they should inform the person in charge of the premises to refrain from breaking or tampering with the seals. The contact number of the Control Room should be mentioned on the pasted copy of the panchnama with instructions to contact the Control Room as soon as possible.

14.6
Where it is suspected that the occupants may not return with a view to delaying the search, the authorised officer, after obtaining instructions from the Control Room, should break open the premises in the presence of witnesses and local police officials.  If the entry has been obtained by breaking open any outer or inner door or window, these facts should be mentioned in the panchnama. A list of all the articles, documents, cash, jewellery etc. found in the premises should be made and got signed by the witnesses, authorized officers and police officials.  Thereafter, the premises should be locked and sealed.  The key and valuables like cash, jewellery, arms and ammunition, if any, should be deposited in the “maalkhana” of the jurisdictional  Police Station under proper  acknowledgement. 

iv) Conduct of Search 
a) Search of Factory, Office and Residential Premises.
15.
As soon as the team of officers and the witnesses have managed to gain entry to the premises to be searched, they should locate a responsible person to sign the search warrant and simultaneously the team leader should arrange to secure the area by posting the team members at various key spots with instructions to restrict/regulate the movement of persons, records, goods, vehicles etc. as the case may be. Once the premises is secured and search warrant serviced, the team leader should contact the Control Room and leave the telephone numbers for communication and further directions.  Actual search may then be commenced in the context of the intelligence and briefing. The key persons should be identified and kept under surveillance as they, in a bid to destroy the vital documents, often lead the officers to the place where they are secreted. The search team should invariably take over those documents which are considered relevant to the instant intelligence.  However, in cases where the documents evidencing evasion of Income Tax, Sales Tax etc. are also noticed, the same should immediately be brought to the notice of the Control Room for further instructions. All the relevant records should be recovered and seized. 

16.
The search for unearthing evidences of any type in the presence of witnesses and person in charge of the premises being searched should broadly be carried out in the manner elucidated below:

Search of Factory:

Immediately after securing the premises, the security cabin at the entrance of the factory should be searched, basically to recover the goods inward and outward registers for the relevant period. The search team should take charge of the alarm system, telephones, telex, computers, wireless system, mobile phones of the key persons, private diaries/note books etc. for conducting the search. Special precautions should be taken where there are computer servers, the data on which can be easily erased by operating any of its terminals. The occupants should be asked to lock all almirahs & cupboards etc. and store all the keys with the team leader. Once the situation is under control all the officers should proceed to search step by step all the rooms, cabins, almirahs, cupboards, lofts, wastepaper basket, toilets, pantry, safe, production floor, quality control lab, boiler room, generator room, godowns, dump-yards, vehicles etc. The goods/documents etc. recovered from these places should be kept in one common room for segregation and inventory. Records maintained by production supervisors, store in charge and labour contractor should initially be scrutinized on the spot. Sufficient number of officers should be deputed by the team leader to conduct stock taking of the raw material as well as the finished goods. The following Check List will be of help. 

· Check whether the particulars of plant and machinery tallies with the Industrial Licence and Central Excise Licence.

· Check whether the installed capacity is in accordance with the Industrial Licence.

· If imported, check whether machinery installed tallies with import documents.

· During stock verification, verify the stock of Customs Bonded Warehouse also.

· Check the internal stock taking reports of the company.

· Check the production figures vis-a-vis the daily production slips, quality control reports, raw material consumption, installed capacity of the machinery etc. Wherever possible, input output analysis can be done to arrive at the correct production figure. 

· Check the issue and consumption slips of raw material to ascertain production.

· Check inter office memo for daily production figures sent to various officers, Directors etc. and tally the same with the statutory records/production records.

· Check laboratory report for composition of a product, particularly in respect of goods exported under claim for drawback or in respect of goods where composition based exemptions have been claimed.

· Check if the invoices corresponding to all the transport GRs receipts are available.

· Check the dispatches of goods with the gate outward register to detect clandestine removal if any. Look for private gate passes.

· For units utilizing material imported under actual user condition, check with reference to the raw material accounts, the actual receipts of such imported material in the factory and its utilization thereof.

· Look for the private records relating to clandestine purchase of raw materials, unaccounted for production and dispatch of finished goods.

Search of Office Premises:

· For the search of any office premises, the procedure as discussed above should be adopted.

· During the search, only those employees who are likely to be of use in explaining the relevant documents, should be allowed to remain in the premises. No outsider except the medical practitioner, if required should be called.

· Check Balance Sheets/audited statements of accounts both for tax purposes in India and for their principals in case of multinational companies. 

· Check the returns submitted to different agencies such as financial institutions, banks, Department of Industrial Development, Director of Industries etc. relating to production and turn over.

· Check all private and handwritten records relating to purchase of raw materials, manufacture of goods and dispatch thereof.

· Check the correspondences of the party with the suppliers regarding description or valuation of imported goods suggesting arrangements for tax evasion/avoidance.

· Check internal company records related to production.

· Check correspondences/arrangements with dealers/ distributors regarding marketing patterns, commissions deposits etc. Also check the deposits received and commission paid to the dealers. Further, check whether there is any flow back from the dealers/distributors to the company.

· Check the internal company records relating to the classification/valuation etc. including correspondences with or advice tendered by their counsels, etc. 

· Scrutinise the application for import licence, claim of drawback, deemed expert benefits, duty free REP licence etc.

· Check the incoming and outgoing telex messages, e-mails etc. related to import, exports, production, payments, under-invoicing imports, over invoicing exports, sales etc.

-       Check the private correspondences and accounts.

Search of Residential Premises

Search of any residential premises should be conducted in a very tactful manner without hurting the sentiments of the inmates. The occupants of the premises or some other person on their behalf should be permitted to be present during the search.  The search team should be polite but firm in case the occupants obstruct the search proceedings.  Children should be allowed to go to school after checking their school bags.  The following Check List will be of help:

· Immediately on gaining entry into the residential premises and after executing the search warrant, the key persons should be requested to assemble in one main room and all other rooms should be locked to be searched one by one.

· Efforts should be made to locate and search the room where computer is kept and office work is done.

· Brief cases, polyethylene bags, drawers etc. should first be searched.

· All transactions in the cheque books, pass books should be checked and various accounts numbers in different bank should be noted down for further investigation.

· Check for cavities where cash could be concealed.

· Check for all diaries, floppies, hard discs, computer print outs, duplicate invoice books, sale and purchase invoices. etc.

17.
Immediately after the commencement of the search proceedings, the leader or any other authorised officer should examine in presence of the witnesses, the person/ persons found in possession or control of book/documents or valuables, about the source thereof. Such examination should elicit, inter-alia, information on the following points:

(i) Nature of business and the names of the business concerns with their permanent account numbers and designation of the officer with whom they are assessed.

(ii) Names and addresses of the partners, directors and their associates.

(iii) Complete details of lockers, packages, bank accounts, fixed deposits, post office accounts, cash, jewellery, cars, insurance policies and other valuables held singly or jointly or in benami names. 

(iv) Details of books of accounts together with the names and the addresses of persons in whose possession they are.

(v) Existence of any secret chamber, locker or false ceiling in the premises. As some banks issue two or more locker keys to their customers, the authorised officer should put a question to the person concerned about the number of keys available.

Relevant details may be incorporated in the Panchnama which is discussed in later paragraphs.

18.
Where the assessee offers refreshment, it should be politely declined because it may be sometimes embarrassing and in some cases, the members of the party may be drugged through beverages, food articles etc. 

b) Personal Search

19.
All persons who have got out of or are about to get into or are in the said premises can also be searched if the authorised officer has reason to suspect that they have secreted about their person, books of accounts, documents or valuable articles and books etc.; if the same are found from their person they can also be seized. The only condition for such seizure is that the authorised officer should be satisfied that the said books of accounts etc. are relevant to the investigations against the person whose premises is being searched. It is important to note that personal search should not be carried out in an indiscriminate and routine manner. It may again be mentioned that a personal search of a female should be made by another female only with strict regard to decency. In appropriate cases, even the body of person can be searched. A separate list of all things found on personal search should be prepared and copy thereof delivered to the person searched. Before concluding the search, the leader of the search party should contact the Control Room and obtain clearance from it.

c) Search of Vehicles

20.
Search of light motor vehicles like scooters and cars for Central Excise purposes are basically done to recover cash/documents  etc.  They may either be concealed in the vehicle or kept in brief case/bags lying inside the vehicle.  All such vehicles present in the premises being searched should be thoroughly checked. Search of other types of vehicles like light commercial vehicles, trucks, railway wagons, containers  etc. are done to recover clandestinely removed goods, or goods which have been removed in violation of Central Excise Act, 1944 or rules made thereunder.

d) Search of Bank Lockers etc.
21.
After the preliminary statement of concerned persons has been recorded, the information obtained in respect of lockers should be conveyed to the Control Room. A separate warrant of authorization would be necessary for each locker which is required to be searched. The Control Room should take requisite steps to prevent operation of the locker and removal of assets/documents placed in it. A search party should be authorized immediately to go through the locker ledger of the concerned bank to ascertain whether there are lockers in benami names. This could be done by checking the address as shown in the ledger with the assessee's address as well as by checking the lockers in the names of members of the family, partners, employees, servants and associates. If the bank manager declines to give the lockers' register, his statement should be recorded wherein he should be asked to give complete details of all the records shown against the names and addresses furnished by the authorised officer.

22.
Where any certified copy of an entry in a banker's book is required, the authorised officer should ensure that the certified copy fulfills the following so that it could be used as evidence under the Bankers Book Evidence Act, 1890, in case the need arises:-

(a)  There is a certificate written at the foot of the copy stating clearly that it is a true copy of such entry. 

(b) A certificate that such entry is contained in one of the ordinary books of the bank and was made in the usual and ordinary course of business.

(c)  That such book is still in the custody of the Bank. 

(d)  The certificate should be dated and signed by the principal accountant or manager of the bank, with his name and designation. The seal of the bank should also be affixed thereto.

23.
The search party should ascertain the last date on which locker was operated as also the details of locker rent paid and FDRs etc. kept by the assessee with bank for hiring the said locker. The Bank Manager cannot refuse access to the lockers on the ground that the operating time is over or that locker rent has not been paid because, the said operation is under the authority of law. If locker keys are not available steps may be taken to break open the locker.

24.
If the bank in which locker is searched is in close proximity to the premises being searched and the authorised officer is of the opinion that there is danger of the locker being operated upon before the fresh search warrant is obtained he may, after informing the Control Room, get the locker operated by the assessee in the presence of at least one witness and two members of the search party and the valuables may be brought to the premises being searched and separate inventory may be prepared for the same. This will also enable the authorised officer to identify the unaccounted for assets.

e) Procedure for Breaking Open Safe etc.
25.
Where the keys of safe etc., are not made available even after giving sufficient time to the person incharge of the premises being searched, the authorised officer can break open them. Care should be taken to see that damage to the property is minimal. The fact that keys were demanded and were not made available should be mentioned in the panchnama. Where it is not possible to open or break open on the same day, seals may be placed on the sides and corners of the receptacles to prevent tampering of the contents thereof. 

 26.
Where a locksmith has been called for to break open any safe etc., his full name and address, time of his entry and leaving the premises, number of keys prepared by him and amount paid to him for his service should be mentioned in the panchnama. His signature may be obtained on the receipt with the signatures of the witnesses and the authorised officers. 

v)
Stock Verification 

27.
When any search is conducted at the factory or warehouses, and the allegation is that of clandestine removal, stock verification is an absolute must. Stock verification in Central Excise is commodity specific and should normally be done in the same manner as is maintained in the production/stock register. This facilitates the comparison between the physical stock and recorded stock. In cases where the commodity has different grades the stocktaking should be done grade wise irrespective of whether the assessee has recorded the stock grade wise or not.  Stock taking should be done in the presence of the witnesses and some responsible person/employee of the factory/premises. They must sign all the pages of the stock taking report, so that the manner and veracity of the stock taking report can not be challenged/disputed  at  later stages. In a commodity like steel, weighment can be done either by loading the goods on a truck and weight taken on the weighbridge or it can be done by taking the average and multiplying the same by the number of identical pieces. Similarly, where the finished products are very small and difficult to count, a small lot, say of 1kg can be weighed and number of pieces counted. This number of pieces can be multiplied by the quantity in kg to arrive at the total number of pieces. In nutshell, a practical approach to stock taking should be adopted to arrive at a near accurate stock which is neither disputed by the party nor the department. The methodology adopted for quantification for the stock should be recorded in the Panchnama.
vi)
Preparation of Inventory
28.
Detailed inventories should be prepared of all the books/documents and excisable goods seized at the premises. It is necessary to record the exact place from where seizures have been made, as it  helps to establish the ownership at a later stage. The details of all the marks of identification found on the goods under seizure should be mentioned while preparing the inventory and full signature of the person incharge of the premises being searched and that of the  authorised officer with his  date and office seal should be taken. The pages of all the seized documents should be got numbered. The blank pages should be cancelled and numbered. The signatures of the witnesses on first and last pages of the numbered files/registers should also be obtained.

29.
All extracts taken should be properly authenticated. In the case of seizure of loose papers, they should be arranged in bundles in a folder or stitched on the left hand top. Each paper should be numbered, signed by the assessee, the authorised officer and the witnesses. However, where the number of papers is large, the pages can be numbered and sealed on a side. In the inventory, it may be mentioned that a particular bundle of papers contains specific number of pages. 

30.
After the inventory has been prepared, they should be packed in separate packages and handed over to some official designated by the leader of the search party. It will be more appropriate if the seized books etc. are kept in a trunk belonging to the department or in a particular almirah, which has been taken into custody by the search party. The trunk or the almirah should be locked.

vii)
(a)
 Seizure of Goods, Documents etc.
31.
The authorised officer has to apply his mind and broadly determine as to what records/ documents in the context of the intelligence are required to be seized. The seizure should be made in the presence of two independent witnesses under a Panchnama. A Seizure Report is required to be prepared giving the details of the seizure made during search. It is advisable to endorse a copy of the Seizure Memo/Panchnama to the jurisdictional   Range Officer and the Divisional Officer as well, so that the revenue interests are safeguarded by them. The Seizure Memo should include the following facts:-

(i) The basis of reasons to believe which led to effecting the seizure.

(ii) Place and address of the seizure.

(iii) Names and addresses of the witnesses. 

(iv) A detailed account of proceedings leading to seizure.

(v) Details of Supurdagi (the person in whose custody the seized goods have been kept for safe custody). Proforma for Supurdgi is at Annexure IV.
(vi) Detailed inventory of the goods seized.
(vii) Name of the assessee from whom seizure is effected.

(viii) Quantity of seizure.

(ix) Value of seizure.

(x) Time and date of seizure.
Similar proceedings are required to be done even in respect of goods placed under detention. 

(b)
Seizure of Negotiable Instruments and Cash
32.
Cash in excess of balance shown in the cash book for which the party has no explanation  as to how the same was obtained should be seized, indicating his reasonable belief that the same was the sale proceeds of the unaccounted for finished goods. While seizing cash from any residential premises, the authorised officer must leave a reasonable amount for meeting the day to day expenses. 

33.
Where it is claimed that cash belongs to another person the details should be communicated to the Control Room for further action in the matter. The inventory of cash seized should contain description of denomination and number of notes and their value in figures and words. If there are stamps, marks, initials on stapled bundles, these should also be noted. Where bank slips are available, these should be removed and seized as documents. The seized currency should be deposited in any designated nationalized bank, as fixed deposit.

viii)
Panchnama
34.
Panchnama is the primary document for establishing an offence under the Central Excise Act, 1944 as it has a very strong evidentiary value.  It is the record of events right from the commencement to conclusion of the search which includes stock taking.  The manner of drawing the panchnama should be such that it should be a mirror image of the proceedings on the spot.  Any person reading the panchnama should feel as if he is seeing through the eyes of the panchas or independent witnesses.  Panchnama is a document where the record of proceedings of the search with regard to the recovery of goods, documents, cash, etc. are detailed.  The general format of Panchnama is given at Annexure V.  The Panchnama is required to be signed by the person in whose presence the search was conducted as also the independent witnesses besides the officer who executed the search warrant. A copy of the Panchnama  is to be handed over to the persons whose signatures were obtained on the search warrant at the time of start of the search. This fact should be recorded in the Panchnama itself. Acknowledgement of the panchnama having been given to the person incharge of the premises must be obtained.

Types of Panchnama

35.
The Panchnamas are of the following types:

i) Panchnama for checking (without search warrant) in the factory/dealers premises duly registered with Central Excise.

ii) Panchnama for search of a factory/dealers’ premises, business place or office on the authority of a search warrant.

iii) Panchnama for search of residential premises

iv) Panchnama during course of transit checks etc.

v) Panchnama for service of summons, notice, refusal to sign statements etc. by way of pasting on the walls, gates etc.

      Points to be incorporated in a Panchnama

36.
As mentioned above, Panchnama is the single most important document in the context of search and seizure operations.  This document should, therefore, be prepared carefully incorporating, inter alia, the following points.
(i)      Name, parentage, age, address and occupation of Panchas.

(ii) Date, time and place of proceedings.

(iii) Reason/authority for search or purpose of visit. 

(iv) The fact that the officers conducting the search disclosed their identity to the Panchas.

(v) Name and designation of the officer leading the team.

(vi) The fact of presence of the occupants/representatives of the premises to be searched during the course of the search.

(vii) Execution of the search warrant upon the occupant/representative of the premises to be searched.  The fact that one of the occupants/representatives of the party and both panchas have signed the search warrant.

(viii) The fact of offering personal search of each member of the search team before commencing search and again after conclusion of search.

(ix) The fact of presence of a lady officer in the party conducting the search (in case of search of residence etc.)

(x) Mention any important event taking place during the operation e.g. arrival of more officers/persons, calling a photographer for photography, drawing of samples, detection of large amount of cash, sealing of any almirah, cupboard etc.

(xi) Mention the details of production of statutory Central Excise records and other private records, Account Books etc. presented by the representative of the party for inspection in case of checking (in case of search the officers themselves have to take into possession all records).

(xii) Mention how the verification of excisable goods, inputs was undertaken (procedure adopted for weighment, measurement, test checking of standard packages/units etc).  It should be supported by inventory of stocks verified.

(xiii) Record the fact that in respect of goods verified physically, no other stock was available/left over.  Current day’s production and issue of inputs may be specifically mentioned as excluded.

(xiv) Make a separate annexure for inventories of records/documents to be resumed and articles/goods seized.

(xv) Mention the grounds forming the reasons to believe that goods seized were liable to confiscation under the Central Excise Act, 1944 or the rules made thereunder and the provisions under which seizure effected.

(xvi) Mention the value and duty of goods seized/detained & whether seized goods given in ‘supurdagi’ or taken into possession.

(xvii) Record facts regarding drawal of samples, if any.  If sealed, a specimen of the seal to be given on the body of panchnama.

(xviii) Mention the details of brand name, trade name, standard packing and markings given on goods verified/seized.

(xix) In case of concealment of excisable goods, records or evidences, give facts regarding place of storage (basement etc.) and manner of concealment.

(xx) Every page of records resumed/seized should be numbered following one set pattern viz. 1,2,3 etc. (& not 1,3,5….).

(xxi) The first and last page of every file, register, Account Book etc. should be got signed by the authorized representative of the party or the person upon whom the search warrant has been executed.

(xxii) Every loose paper/vital document should be got signed individually from the concerned person from whose seat or cabin the same was recovered and from the person on whom search warrant was executed.

(xxiii) In case any of the portion of the premises, almirah, safe, store etc. is found to be locked and cannot be opened for some reasons or the other, the same may be sealed and a mention may be made accordingly in the panchnama. This sealed premises can be searched using fresh search warrant on any following day. 

(xxiv) The details of any locker, almirah or any section of premises which has been sealed for reasons that the officers could not immediately obtain access for want of the keys, hypothecation to the bank or any other reason, should be incorporated.

(xxv) The grounds for seizure/resumption of records/documents, should be described in the Panchnama. 

37.
The above list is only illustrative and not exhaustive as there can be numerous factors which may have to be incorporated in panchnama depending upon the nature of proceedings and the events taking place.  For example, there may be a case where panchnama may be drawn for the manufacturing process undertaken for manufacture of an excisable good. Further, if two or more firms/units are operating from the same premises or there are common employees etc. the panchnama should contain relevant details, which may include ground plan, details of plant & machinery installed etc. 


ix)
Recording of Statement
38.
Once the panchnama has been drawn and search concluded, it would be expedient for one or two officers led by the senior most officer heading the search team to go through the records on the spot in the context of the intelligence and get it explained from the author of such documents and records by recording his statement under summons issued under section 14 of the Central Excise Act, 1944. This makes it difficult for the authors to come out with alibis during subsequent investigations or to come out with tutored versions under the influence of their masters. While recording the statement, the following precautions should be taken.

39.
Every page of the statement should be signed at the bottom by the deponent and the officer recording the statement. In the last page, there should be an endorsement that the deponent has recorded the statement without coercion or undue influence. All corrections/alterations should also be properly authenticated. Other formalities to be observed while recording the statement are:

(a) The replies of the person to questions should not be induced by threat, coercion, or fear.  The replies should be voluntary.   

(b) The questions should be precise and clear, preferably in the handwriting of the persons recording the statement. 

(c)
 If the statement is not recorded in the language which the assessee  understands, then the statement shall be interpreted and explained to him in the language which he understands and a certificate to this effect should also be recorded. He shall be at liberty to explain or add to his answers.

(d)
No police officer/official should be allowed to remain in the   room where the statement of the assessee is being recorded so that the assessee may not take plea subsequently that the statement was recorded under coercion or pressure.

     (e)  If any person furnishes the name and address of another person, who has evidence to support the statement of the first person, then the authorised officer should get in touch with the Control Room so that the other person is also examined before he could be contacted by the party.

    (f)
All the relevant and vital documents should be confronted to the person whose statement is being recorded and he should be asked to sign and explain each such document.

(g)
All handwritten documents should be got explained by the person in whose handwriting the same are written.  Further, they should also be asked to explain as to under whose directions such handwritten records were being maintained.

40.
In obtaining the thumb impression of an illiterate person, care should be taken to use a good stamp pad to apply ink evenly and to ensure that the impression is clear and show the ridges prominently so that there is no difficulty in distinguishing the impression by a finger print expert. 

41.
Where a person after giving the statement declines to sign it, the authorised officer should call the witnesses and draw a “Refusal to Sign” Panchnama and  record this fact also in the statement and obtain the signatures of the witnesses on the statement as well as on the Refusal Pachnama. Copy of the statement should not be given to the deponent on the spot. He may, however, be informed that the copy will be supplied to him if any part of the statement is used against him. It may be noted that refusal to answer question is an offence under section 179 of  I.P.C. Similarly, refusal to sign the statement is an offence punishable under section 180 of the I.P.C.

x)
Rights of Person Being  Searched
42.
In the course of search, it has to be ensured that the legal rights of the person being searched are respected because any violation thereof may affect the search adversely. The assessee/occupant of the premises has the following rights:-

 (a)
To see the warrant of authorisation duly signed & sealed by the issuing authority.

(b)
To verify the identity of each member of the search party.

(c)
To have at least two responsible and independent residents of the locality, as witnesses.

(d)
To have personal search of all members of the search party before the start of the search and after conclusion of the search.

(e)
To insist on a personal search of females by another female only with strict regard to decency.

(f)
To have a copy of the panchnama together with all the annexures.  However, he is not entitled to a copy of the search warrant.

(g) To put his own seals on the packages containing the seized 

           assets.

(h) To call a medical practitioner, if unwell.

(i) To have his children permitted to go to school, after examination of their bags.

(j) To inspect the seals placed on various receptacles, sealed in course of searches and subsequently reopened for continuation of searches.

(k) To have the facility of having meals etc at the normal time.

(l) To have a copy of any statement before it is used against him, in assessment or prosecution proceedings.

(m) To have inspection of the statutory books of accounts etc. seized or to take extracts there from in the presence of any of the authorised officers or any other person empowered by him. However, such rights are not available with respect to private records till such time a Show Cause Notice is issued.

(n) To file writ petitions challenging the validity of the search on the ground of misuse of powers or malice or collateral purpose.

xi)      Judicial Pronouncements on Search & Seizure: Some Basic Points
43.
The following points have emerged from judicial pronouncements made from time to time with regard to search and seizure.

(a) Though the sufficiency of reasons for the issue of search warrant under section 105 of the Customs Act, 1962 read with Section 12 of the Central Excise Act, 1944 is not  justifiable, the authorizing officer should arrive at this decision in an honest manner.  If the action of the authorizing officer is challenged, he has to satisfy the court that he had taken action on the basis of proper and relevant material leading to reasonable belief that such action is necessary.

(b) Though the Central Excise Act does not require that the warrant of authorization should specify the particulars of documents and books of accounts, it is necessary that the material is brought on record as a part of the satisfaction of the authorizing officer as to what is the nature of documents and books of accounts, inputs or manufactured goods and assets by way of cash, etc. which are sought to be seized.

(c) Any irregularity/omission in the course of search or error committed by the authorized officer in seizing the documents which may not be useful, will not by itself vitiate the search.  However, it is necessary to take precautions that no indiscriminate seizure is made.

(d) The information gathered as a result of search and seizure, even if such operation is held to be illegal in a case, can be used in evidence for the purposes of proceedings under the Central Excise Act, 1944.  Even the Evidence Act does not exclude relevant evidence on the ground that it was obtained during an illegal search and seizure.

(e) Bank lockers can also be searched even if the search warrant is for residential premises provided the family agrees to such search. 1987-(27)-ELT-528-(Trib). 

(f) The powers given under Section 105 (1) of the Customs Act, 1962 are of wide and general in nature which should be exercised only after satisfying the preliminary conditions.  The persons exercising such powers should have adequate reasons to believe that the goods and documents relevant for any proceedings under the Act ibid are secreted in that place. [AIR 1966 SC 1209]

(g) The words “the Asstt. Collector-------- has reason to believe” in Section 105 of the Customs Act, 1962 suggests that the belief must be that of an honest and reasonable person and should be based upon relevant material and circumstances. [AIR 1971 SC 2451]

(h) Another observation of the Hon’ble Supreme Court reads:

“after all when we are dealing with question as whether the belief in mind of the officer who effected the seizure was reasonable or not, we are not sitting in appeal over the decision of the said officer.  All that we can consider is, whether there is ground which prima-facie justifies the said reasonable belief”.  [AIR 1962 SC 1559 at Page 1563].

(xii)
Vexatious Search and Seizure
44.
Any search is intrusion into privacy of a person at his home, office, factory etc. The powers to seize goods and documents also lead to disruption of business activities. Therefore, it has been legally ensured that these powers are not misused.  Section 22 of Central Excise Act provides for punishment if an officer acts beyond the ordinary call of duty. It seeks to prevent harassment of assessees or abuse of power of search, seizure, arrest which have been vested with the officers. Section 22 provides that any Central Excise officer or other officer exercising powers under this Act or under the rules made there under who –
(e) without reasonable ground of suspicion searches or causes to be       searched any house, boat or place;
(f) vexatiously and unnecessarily detains, searches or arrests any person.

(g) vexatiously and unnecessarily seizes the movable property of any person, on pretence of seizing or searching for any article liable to confiscation under this Act;

(h) commits, as such officer, any other act to the injury of any person, without having reason to believe that such act is required for the execution of his duty;  shall, for every such offence, be punishable with fine which may extend to two thousand rupees.



Any person willfully and maliciously giving false information and so causing an arrest or a search to be made under this Act shall be punishable with fine which may extend to two thousand rupees or with imprisonment for a term which may extend to two years or with both.
45.
It may be noted here that the material collected/seized during such vexatious searches does not lose its evidentiary value, but the evidences obtained need to be examined carefully by the adjudicating authority. Even if searches or seizure is made by unauthorized persons, material seized would be admissible in evidence if the same is corroborated with other evidence or witnesses. It has also been held that any irregularity in seizure memo is neither fatal nor does it invalidate the seizure because seizure memo is a contemporaneous document evidencing seizure. The Tribunal has further held that seizure list made even after two days of seizure, where the goods are in large number and need to be segregated/sorted before seizure, does not turn the seizure as illegal.
**********

CHAPTER-IX

SHOW CAUSE  NOTICE


The Central Excise officers discharge functions which are quasi-judicial in nature.  These quasi-judicial functions require that the principles of natural justice be followed.  The first principle of natural justice is that there should be no bias.  The rule against bias is expressed in the maxim that "no one must be a judge in his own cause". The second broad rule is that "no party is condemned unheard".  This right to be heard needs to be substantive and therefore, the party must know precisely the case he has to meet.  He also must have a reasonable opportunity to present his case both in writing and orally.  The third rule entitles the party to know the reasons for eventual decision taken.  The requirement of Show Cause Notice flows directly from the second rule.

2.
Therefore, a Show Cause Notice is more than a notice. It gives an opportunity to the Department of leading evidence in support of its allegations and equally it gives an opportunity to the person/firm/company charged with, to make representation and adduce evidence against the allegations or charges made out against them.  Therefore,

i. The Show Cause Notice should be issued only after proper inquiry/investigation i.e. when the facts used are ascertained and allegations are justified.

ii. The Show Cause Notice should be in writing (not oral). The date of issue of Show Cause Notice should be clearly written.

iii. It should be clear on facts and legal provisions. Violation of the provisions of law should be clearly brought out in the Show Cause Notice.

iv. The charges should be specific. They should not be vague/or contradictory.

v. The provisions for imposing penalty and reasons and conclusion for the same be clearly mentioned.

vi. Copies of the relied upon documents should be listed in seriatim as per the references made in the Show Cause Notice and  given as Annexures to the Notice.

vii. The duty amount needs to be quantified and explained in a chart as to how the same was arrived at. The duty demanded should be manifestly specified in the notice itself. 

viii. The Show Cause Notice should be specific and unambiguous. It should not be an exercise in deliberate ambiguity. 

ix. If the time limit to reply is provided in Law, it should be adhered to, otherwise, adequate time should be given for filing a written reply.

x. The Show Cause Notice should clearly mention whether the noticee(s) wishes to be heard in person, apart from filing a written representation, in the matter.

xi. The authority to whom the Show Cause Notice is answerable should be specifically stated alongwith the postal address.


Issue of a Show Cause Notice only after proper investigation – 

          narration of facts.

3.
Once the necessary inquiries/investigations and critical examination of facts and evidence are completed, a draft Show Cause Notice (or a revised/supplementary Show Cause Notice, as the case may be) should be prepared incorporating all relevant facts and circumstances of the case in a logical, cogent and systematic manner.

3.1
Each of the allegations proposed to be levelled against the assessee should be carefully framed/ formulated. The provisions of the Central Excise Act and the Rules that are alleged to have been contravened by the assessee must be clearly mentioned after critical examination of available facts and evidence.

3.2
Appropriate narration of relevant facts and circumstances linked with or leading to an allegation must precede or follow each of the formulated allegation so as to clearly bring  out the specific facts and acts of omission or commission which are alleged to have been committed by the assessee and which form the basis of an allegation.

3.3
It is absolutely essential that each specific allegation is duly and adequately supported with substantive evidence so as to impart factual and legal sustainability to the allegation. This must be done by clearly spelling out in the Show Cause Notice the specific evidence that is proposed to be relied upon, documentary or otherwise, in relation to each distinct allegation. Extracts from documents /statements recorded under Section 14 may be reproduced appropriately wherever relevant.

3.4
In matters involving complex question of law, especially where an assessee is likely to raise a dispute about correct interpretation of law, relevant citations from judicial pronouncements and settled case laws may be given in support of the case made out in the Show Cause Notice.

Mention of specific period, citation of penal provisions and furnishing of relied upon documents

4.
The Show Cause Notice must clearly specify the period to which the Notice relates and the excisable goods in respect of which alleged evasion of duty has occurred and must contain sufficient details to make clear to the noticee as to how the duty liability has been quantified.

4.1
The penal provisions proposed to be invoked against the assessee and the reasons i.e. existence of facts and circumstances resulting in contravention based on which such penal provisions are attracted, must also be clearly spelt out. In particular, liability to penalty under Section 11AC, Rule 173Q and liability to interest under Section 11AB must be clearly indicated.

4.2
The Show Cause Notice must also incorporate a list of all the documents proposed to be relied upon in support of the case and this list must be carefully prepared keeping in view the need to ensure that no relevant evidence is missed out, (but at the same time no irrelevant documents need be listed) since it is the responsibility of the department to supply to each of the noticees, copies of each and every document that is proposed to be relied upon in support of the case against the assessee, along with the Show Cause Notice. A dated acknowledgement of receipt of legible copy of relied upon document must be obtained from the noticee. This is an area which requires special attention because non-supply/part supply of RUDs is seen to be one of the causes of delay in passing the adjudication order.

4.3
Supply of non-relied upon documents is a grey area.  These documents are often the source of litigation and delay in adjudication proceedings.  The documents which have not been relied upon in the Show Cause Notice and which are of no value to the Department should, therefore, be returned in original to the noticee under a dated acknowledgement. This will deprive the noticee of playing delaying tactics.


Issue Show Cause Notice for extended period only in deserving cases after due scrutiny of facts and circumstances of the case

5.
It has been observed that Show Cause Notices are issued for the extended period even in those cases where there is no basis for doing so.  It is agreed that there are instructions that to safeguard revenue a Show Cause Notice should be issued, especially when the audit objection has revenue implications. This, however, does not mean that a Show Cause Notice has to be issued/ is to be issued in the cases where the duty cannot be demanded for a period exceeding one year. Therefore when an audit objection is received, it should invariably be examined whether there is adequate basis for invoking the extended period i.e. period of more than one year. To invoke extended period, it is an absolute must that the investigation brings out positive act of suppression "with intent to evade payment of duty". In this regard Board’s Circular No. 268/102/96-CX dated 14.11.96 may be referred to. It is of utmost importance that the matter is thoroughly investigated, evidence collected to that extent and only then the Show Cause Notices be issued for the extended period.

Suppression of facts mis-statements etc. has to be clearly brought out

6.
The Board’s instructions contained in Circular No. 5/92 dated 13.10.92 clearly bring out how serious the matter is when the extended period of limitation is invoked.  The Show Cause Notice should, therefore, clearly brings out as to how an assessee has committed fraud or entered into collusion or made wilful mis-statement of facts with a view to evade payment of duty.  The matter should be examined as to what facts have been suppressed especially when the officers are visiting the units, checking the records, drawing samples for export under AR4 and AR4A procedure and for other miscellaneous work. Similarly, mere mention of the word ‘suppression’ is not enough. The same has to be proved and the burden of proof is on the Department. The practice of issuing a Show Cause Notice merely on the basis of statements of concerned persons, even of confession, may not be of much help because the same may be/can be denied. There is, therefore, no alternative to good investigation and collection of evidence for charges of suppression /misstatement etc. It also needs to be established that the suppression/misstatement was done consciously so as to evade duty. The mens rea factor has to be clearly brought on record to invoke the extended period of limitation.

Show Cause Notice should be brief, to the point and give a chart of short levy.

7.
The Show Cause Notice should be brief and to the point. There should be no repetition of facts. It is often seen that the statements of concerned persons are simply reproduced without judging their relevance to the issue at hand. Even otherwise, there is no need to reproduce the entire statement. The gist will suffice. Mere reproduction of statements without qualification makes the Show Cause Notice unduly lengthy, further making it difficult for the adjudicating authority to comprehend the issue.  In fact, it is seen to be one of the causes of delay in passing an adjudication order. The lengthy Show Cause Notices should, therefore, be avoided. The facts and allegations should be in brief and clearly brought out so that the adjudicating officer can make out/ understand the underlined facts and allegations on a first reading of the Show Cause Notice.  The clarity of thought and expression, brevity and lucidity in language used and coherence in presenting facts are hallmark of a good Show Cause Notice.  The Show Cause notice, in fact, should be luminous and not voluminous. The Show Cause Notice must give a chart indicting as to how the short levy has been worked out.


Show Cause Notice should provide a summary

8.
As mentioned above, many a time, the Show Cause Notices issued are very lengthy, running into hundreds of pages. In the absence of a summary after discussion of facts, the adjudicating authorities find it difficult to comprehend the facts and charges levelled in one go. Therefore, it is an absolute must that after discussion of facts and citation of material evidences in the Show Cause Notice, a summary of facts/gist of the case is described in 2-3 paragraphs.

The word suppression of facts, mis-statement etc. need  not be mentioned in the Show Cause Notice where demand is issued for a period upto one year

9.
In case a Show Cause Notice is issued for one year or for less than one year, the same should only say/mention that there is short levy. The use of word such as fraud, collusion, wilful mis-statement, suppression etc. need not be mentioned.


Recording of the statement

10.
In case of a demand or offence case, the statement of the party/parties to be show caused should be recorded to have their view on the various issues involved and specifically on the facts of the case. Contravention of the provisions and the statement should be a part of the Show Cause Notice in an offence case where penalty is to be imposed or penalty and confiscation is to be imposed. Relevant part of the section or rule (not section/rule as a whole) should invariably be mentioned.

Show Cause Notice for extended period not to be issued in piece meal

11.
It is obvious that once a Show Cause Notice for the extended period (i.e., the period more than one year) is issued due to misstatement, suppression etc., the five year period for Show Cause Notice is to be counted from the date prior to the issue of Show Cause Notice. No plea of suppression of facts, mis-statement etc. as such can be alleged for issuing another Show Cause Notice for extended period on the same issue to the same party. This is so because the mistake or suppression was known and the necessary action in the matter, such as, the issue of Show Cause Notice has already been taken.  In such a situation, after issue of detailed Show Cause Notice protective demands on regular basis need to be issued to guard the interest of revenue.  It is not necessary for the Division or Range to specifically mention about the mistake, suppression etc.  in these protective demands. The mere mention that there is a short levy would be sufficient to recover the same under Section 11-A.  Accordingly, word mis-statement, suppression of facts etc. should not be mentioned in subsequent protective demand Show Cause Notices. 

11.1
Further, the practice of sending Show Cause Notice to the issuing authority in piece meal  once for two year period and then for another one and half years or so, for the same party on the plea that data/information was not available should be stopped forthwith.  The executive officer should know how to get data/information.  There are various provisions available under the Central Excise Act, 1944 and rules made thereunder to obtain the same.

Provision for interest on delayed payments of duty under Section 11AA and 11AB and mandatory penalty under 11AC and similar provisions be specifically mentioned

12.
These provisions should be invoked in the Show Cause Notices wherever applicable, so that the possibility of having to issue a corrigendum can be avoided.

Issue  protective demands when there is no stay against the issue of demand as such.

13.
In spite of clear instructions on the subject, protective demand Show Cause Notices are not issued within one year.  It should be noted that except in those cases where issue of Show Cause Notice itself is stayed by the court, in all other cases, the Show Cause Notice should invariably be issued within one year. A mere stay does not mean that the Show Cause Notice is not to be issued except when the issue of Show Cause Notice itself is stayed. In case the department has filed an appeal against any order before the Commissioner (Appeals) or Tribunal, protective demands should be issued. It may be noted that in case the decision from the appellate authority is ultimately found to be in favour of the department, in the absence of protective demands, the amount due will become time barred.

Issue demand under a proper Show Cause Notice rather than under a letter

14.
No demand should be issued under a simple letter. Therefore, issue a regular Show Cause Notice duly signed by the proper officer. No demand can be issued under a letter. 

Finalisation of provisional assessment and  issue of demand Show Cause Notice

15.
In case of provisional assessments, the question of issuance of Show Cause Notices under section 11A would not arise. In such cases the provisional assessments should be finalised quickly. Finalisation of a provisional assessment should have two parts, namely 

(i) Deciding of the issue.

(ii) Quantifying the duty and confirming the demand so quantified.

15.1
The proper officer finalising the provisional assessment cases should issue Show Cause Notices for doing so and in the Show Cause Notices, it should be indicated that in view of the reasons given therein, the amount indicated in the Show Cause Notice is demanded. In a composite order the proper officer should (i) decide the issue and (ii) also confirm the demand if so confirmable under the Central Excise Rules. The rules give power to the proper officer to finalise the issue and confirm consequential demand. However, great care should be taken while finalising the provisional assessment cases. If the provisional assessments are on valuation issue, consequential demands cannot be confirmed on the classification issue.

Show Cause Notice not to prejudice the issue

16.
In the Show Cause Notices, it is often concluded like "from the facts and circumstances of the case, it is abundantly clear that........."  In one case, the hon'ble High Court has observed that the Show Cause Notice has left nothing for the enquiry officer to enquire into. The opportunity of hearing and explanation to the Show Cause Notice have become an idle formality and farce. The Show Cause Notice was therefore set aside.  The moral of the story is that the allegations and charges have to be made in a tentative manner (e.g. it appears that ……), so as not to give an opportunity to the noticee to state that the department has already made up its mind against him.

Citation of Board’s order/ Trade Notices/ Instructions/ Audit objections in the Show Cause Notice

17.
It has been noticed that the Ranges/ Divisions while issuing the Show Cause Notice mention therein that the classification/valuation of the product under a particular heading was questioned by CERA party. It may be noted that while issuing the Show Cause Notice on the basis of an objection raised by Internal Audit/ CERA, the audit objection should not be mentioned therein and similarly no reference should be made to the audit objection in the Order-in-Original.

17.1
A point is often raised whether the Board’s /Government’s order, Instructions, Tariff Advices, Trade Notices etc. should be quoted in the Show Cause Notice. It is clarified that Board’s instructions, clarification and Tariff Advices etc. can always be discussed in the Show Cause Notice, as the  instructions, circulars often clarify the legal position or the basis of classification of a particular product. However, the duty demands must not be confirmed by quoting the Board’s order. In the adjudication order, the legal position has to be clearly brought out and the demand confirmed on the basis of legal provisions. This is so, because the quasi-judicial functions are expected to be discharged judiciously and not on the dictation of superior authorities.

Provisionally released goods
18.
The status of seized goods at the time of issuing Show Cause Notice should be checked. Duty should always be demanded in the Show Cause Notice on seized goods irrespective of proposed action for confiscation thereof.  If these goods have been provisionally released, the Show Cause Notice should ask party to produce the goods provisionally released before the adjudicating authority and in case of failure by the noticee to do so, for enforcing the conditions of the bond executed.

Old and New Rules
19.
In recent times, the Central Excise rules have undergone repeated changes.  It is therefore important that in cases where the Show Cause Notice for a long period is issued, it should be checked whether all the rules, old and new, applicable are mentioned in the Show Cause Notice.

Issuing Authority
20.
Recently the Board has prescribed monetary limits for officers of various rank for the purposes of adjudication.  The Show Cause Notice has been prescribed to be approved in writing and signed by the officer competent to adjudicate the Show Cause Notice.  These limits have come to effect from 1st October, 2003 vide Circular No. 752/68/2003-CX dated 1.10.03. These limits have been uniformly prescribed for classification, valuation, CENVAT and demand of duty cases.  Briefly, these limits are, upto 5 lakhs - Assistant/Deputy Commissioner, above 5 lakhs and upto 20 lakhs - Joint Commissioner, above 20 and upto 50 lakhs - Additional Commissioner and without limit - Commissioner.  It is advised that the Circular be studied in detail.


Second Show Cause Notice
21.
If a Show Cause Notice has been struck down on technical grounds and the merits of the case have not been examined, a second Show Cause Notice may be issued in the case.


Service of Show Cause Notice
22. Notices under the Central Excise Act are to be served in terms of section 37C of the Central Excise Act.  The notice shall be served on the noticee:

	(i)
	by tendering a copy to the person concerned.



	(ii)
	by sending it by registered post with self addressed acknowledgement to the person concerned.

	(iii)
	if service is not possible by above methods, then by affixing a copy    there of in some conspicuous part of the factory, warehouse, place of    business or residence of the noticee in the presence of independent  witnesses. A panchnama, too, needs to be drawn on the spot.



	(iv)
	if service of Show Cause Notice is still not possible, service shall be deemed to have been made by affixing a copy of Show Cause Notice on the notice board of the authority issuing the notice.


************

CHAPTER-X

ARREST

Arrest - Legal Provisions


The provision relating to arrest is contained in section 13 of the Central Excise Act, 1944. Section 13 provides that any Central Excise Officer not below the rank of Inspector of Central Excise may, with the prior approval of the Commissioner of Central Excise, arrest any person whom he has reason to believe to be liable to punishment under this Act or the rules made thereunder.

2.
Section 19 of the said Act provides for disposal of the person arrested. The person arrested has to be forwarded without delay to the nearest central Excise Officer empowered to send persons so arrested to a Magistrate, or, if there is no such Central Excise Officer within a reasonable distance, to the officer-in-charge of the nearest police station. For the purpose of section 19 and 21, all officers not below the rank of Superintendent of Central Excise are empowered vide notification No.19/99-CE(NT) dated 10.2.99.

3.
Section 20 provides the procedure to be followed by the officer-in-charge of the police station. The officer-in-charge of police station to whom any person is forwarded under section 19 can either admit him to bail so that he appears before the Magistrate having jurisdiction, or in default of bail, forward him in custody to such Magistrate.

4.
Section 21 provides as to how enquires are to be conducted against the arrested person by the empowered officer, namely, the Superintendent of Central Excise, forwarded to him under section 19. It provides that the officer should enquire into the charges against him. The Central Excise Officer has the same power as that of an officer-in-charge of a police station; therefore, he can grant him a bail or in the event bail is not granted, forward the arrested person in custody to the Magistrate having jurisdiction in the case. In case bail is granted by him on taking a bond without surety asking the person to appear before the Magistrate having jurisdiction, the officer has to make a full report of all the particulars of the case to his superior. 

Practice
5.
As seen in section 13, the essential pre-requisite to arrest a person is that he should be liable for punishment under the Act or the rules made thereunder.  The offences and penalties are provided in section 9 of the Central Excise Act, 1944.  It is advised that the officers study this section carefully as this section provides the offences and the punishment for such offences.

6.
In practice, arrest under section 13 of the Central Excise Act, 1944 is generally ordered, when following conditions are met:- 

(a) the offence is of a serious nature involving a substantial loss of  revenue,

(b)
fraudulent intent is clear and

(c)  the preliminary evidence is considered  sufficient to  obtain a conviction

7.
Arrest can be made prior to the issue of the Show Cause Notice i.e. during the stage of pendency of proceedings, if the investigations have revealed a prima facie case against the person, that is to say, where fraudulent intent of the person is clear (prima facie, there is evidence of mens rea) or where the evidence is enough to secure a conviction or where the person is likely to abscond, tamper with evidence or influence the witnesses, if left at large. Arrest at the investigation stage should be restored to only when it is unavoidable.  It is a tool to further the interest of investigation. The actual punishment on the basis of evidences collected squarely lies with the judiciary.  The factors which are of importance while considering arrest at the stage of investigation are:-

i. whether the person concerned is cooperating with investigation,

ii. possibility of his tampering with evidence,

iii. possibility of influencing co-accused or witnesses of the case,

iv. possibility of fleeing from justice.

8.
Once a person is arrested, the general practice in Central Excise is to produce him before the Magistrate. The Magistrate may take him in judicial custody to further the interest of investigation.  However, a person can be kept in judicial custody only for a maximum period of 60 days.  If complaint is not filed within 60 days, i.e. prosecution is not initiated, the accused person is granted bail as a matter of right under section 167(2) of the Cr.P.C.

9.
The arrest is generally made in the cases where it is intended to prosecute the offender. Board's Circular No. 15/90 CX-6 issued vide F.No.218/7/89 – CX dated 09.08.90, has prescribed the guidelines for launching prosecution under the Central Excise Act, 1944.  These guidelines, therefore, need to be consulted at the time of considering arrest of a person as they are still of strong persuasive value. These, interalia, envisage:-

i. Prosecution should be launched with the final approval of the Principal Collector (now the Chief Commissioner) after the case has been carefully examined by the Collector (Commissioner) in the light of the guidelines.

ii. Prosecution should not be launched in cases of technical nature, or where the additional claim of duty is based totally on a difference of interpretation of law. Before launching any prosecution, it is necessary that the department should have evidence to prove that the person, company or individual had guilty knowledge of the offence, or had fraudulent intention to commit the offence, or in any manner possessed mens rea (mental element) which would indicate his guilt. It follows, therefore, that in the case of public limited companies, prosecution should not be launched indiscriminately against all the Directors of the company but it should be restricted to only against Directors like the Managing Director, Director in charge of Marketing and Sales, Director (Finance) and other executives who are in charge of day-to-day operations of the factory. The intention should be to restrict the prosecution only to those who have taken active part in committing the duty evasion or connived at it. For this purpose, the Collectors (Commissioners) should go through the case file and satisfy themselves that only those Chairman/Managing Director /Directors/ Partners/ Executives /Officials against whom reasonable evidence exists of their involvement in duty evasion, should be proceeded against while launching the prosecution. For example, Nominee Directors of financial institutions, who are not concerned with day-today matters, should not be prosecuted unless there is very definite evidence to the contrary. Prosecution should be launched only against those Director/Partners/Officials etc. who are found to have guilty knowledge, fraudulent intention or mens rea necessary to bind them to criminal liability.

iii. In order to avoid prosecution in minor cases, a monetary limit of Rs. 10,000/- was prescribed in the instructions contained in Board’s letter F.No.208/6/M-77-CX.6 dated 26.07.1980. Based on experience, and in order not to fritter the limited manpower and time of the Department on too many petty cases, it has now been decided to enhance this limit to Rs. 1 Lakh. But in the case of habitual offenders, the total amount of duty involved in various offences may be taken into account while deciding whether prosecution is called for. Moreover, if there is evidence to show that the person or the company has been systematically engaged in evasion over a period of time and evidence to prove malafide is available, prosecution should be considered irrespective of the monetary limit.

	Note:-
	The monetary limit for launching prosecution has been further enhanced to Rs. 25 lakhs by the Board, vide its letter of F.No. 208/31/97-CX.6 dated 12.12.97.




iv. One of the important considerations for deciding whether prosecution should be launched is the availability of adequate evidence. Prosecution should be launched against top management when there is adequate evidence/material to show their involvement in the offence.

v. Persons liable of prosecution should not normally be arrested unless their immediate arrest is necessary. 

vi. Prosecution should normally be launched immediately after adjudication has been completed. However, if the party deliberately delays completion of adjudication proceedings prosecution may be launched even during the pendency of the adjudication proceedings if it is apprehended that undue delay would weaken the department’s case.

vii. Prosecution should not be kept in abeyance on the ground that the party has gone in appeal/revision. However, in order to ensure that the proceedings in appeal/revision are not unduly delayed because the case records are required for purpose of prosecution, a parallel file containing copies of the essential documents relating to adjudication should be maintained. It is necessary to reiterate that in order to avoid delays, the Collector (Commissioner) should indicate at the time of passing the adjudication order itself whether he considers the case to be fit for prosecution so that it should be further processed for being sent to the Principal Collector (the Chief Commissioner) for sanction.

Whom To Arrest 

10.
Any person who, the arresting officer has “reasons to believe”, has committed an offence punishable under the Central Excise Act, 1944 can be arrested with the approval of the Commissioner. The offences under the Central Excise Act are defined in Section 9 of the Act. As per section 9, the following constitute an offence under the Central Excise Act:-

a) Contravention of any of the provisions of section 8, or a rule made under clause (iii) or clause (xxvii) of sub-section (2) of section 37.

b) Evading the payment of any duty payable under the Act.

c) Removal of any excisable goods in contravention of any of the provisions of the Act or any rule made thereunder or concerned with such removal.

d) Acquisition/possession of, or any association/concern with transportation, deposition, keeping, concealment, sale or purchase, or in any other manner dealing with any excisable goods which the person knows or has reason to believe are liable to confiscation under the Act or any rule made thereunder.

e) Contravention of any of the provisions of the Act or the rules made thereunder in relation to credit of any duty allowed to be utilized towards payment of excise duty on final products.

f) Failure to supply any information which the person is required by rules made under the Act or (unless with a reasonable belief, the burden of proving which shall be upon him, that the information supplied by him is true) supplies false information.

g) Attempts to commit or abets the commission of any of the offences listed in (a) and (b) above.

10.1
However, a person committing an offence under the Central Excise Act is liable to be taken into custody only in exceptional cases and when a person is cooperating with the investigations and is also not likely to abscond or tamper with evidence he should not generally be arrested.

10.2
Further, merely because a person is liable to prosecution is no ground for arresting him unless his "immediate arrest" is necessary for preventing the tampering of evidence, and unduly influencing the witnesses.

10.3
Also, taking a person into custody is unwarranted when enquiry is only at a preliminary stage and further material is required for forming a tentative view.

Arrests in case of offences committed by companies or partnership             firms
11.
In case the offence has been committed by a limited company or a partnership firm, then as per the provisions of Section 9AA of the Central Excise Act, 1944 the following persons are vicariously liable for the offence:

a) Person who, at the time of commission of the offence, was in charge of (i.e. in overall control of the day to day business of the company/firm) and was responsible to the company/firm/association of persons for the conduct of the business of the company, unless he proves that the offence was committed without his knowledge and that he had exercised all due diligence to prevent the commission of the offence.

b) Director of the company, partner of a firm, manager, secretary or any other officer of the company/firm if it is proved that the offence has been committed with their consent or connivance or is attributable to their neglect.

11.1
In the case against companies and firms, therefore, the persons vicariously liable can be arrested provided that the ingredients as mentioned in Section 9AA are fulfilled. Separate and independent allegations have to be made in such a case for offences committed under section 9AA.

11.2
The vital ingredient for arrest in offences under section 9AA is that "an offence" should have been committed and the person proposed to be arrested is "incharge of and responsible for running of business".  Thus, the section contains a deeming provision such that person incharge of running of a company is deemed to be guilty of offence committed by the company. This section transfers the burden of proof from prosecutor to the accused, when an offence has been committed.

Arrest Procedure
12.
Before proposing arrest, complete details of the evidence giving rise to the reason to believe that the person proposed to be arrested has committed an offence punishable under the Central Excise Act, 1944 for which his immediate arrest is necessary, should be recorded on the file. The arrest should then be approved by the Commissioner. In case of DGCEI, by an administrative order, it has been directed that the approval of the Director General be taken, as far as practicable.

13.
Before effecting an arrest the following documents are advised to be kept handy:-

i.
AE-I report where detection is based on a prior information/ intelligence.

ii. Preliminary Investigation/Offence Report containing the name of the offender, names of the company/firms, approx. duty evasion detected or suspected, brief facts of the case, documents and statements relied upon, facts giving rise to the reason to believe that the person has committed an offence punishable under the Central Excise Act, 1944.

iii. Copies of the documents relied upon have to be prepared as these documents have to be produced before the Magistrate when the accused is produced before him.  A copy of the documents may also have to be supplied to the accused on his or on his lawyer’s request, if the court so allows.  

iv. Where any person is arrested without a warrant under the Central Excise Act, he must be informed of the grounds of arrest.  This is done by furnishing him a copy of the Arrest Memo containing the grounds of arrest.  

13.1
Arrest Memo should be made in triplicate and the original should be furnished to the accused. A sample copy of an Arrest Memo is enclosed as Annexure  VIII.
13.2
Dated signatures of the person arrested alongwith the time should be obtained on the other two copies as a token of having received the Arrest Memo.

13.3
Arrest Memo should be in a language which the accused can understand.  In case of an illiterate person the Arrest Memo should be read out to the accused & the fact should be recorded on the Arrest Memo.

13.4
Immediately after the arrest, the Arresting Officer should conduct a “Jamma Talashi’ of the accused and record a report on Jamma Talashi on the body of all the three copies of the Arrest Memo along with his dated signatures.  A sample format of the manner of recording the proceedings of Jamma Talashi is contained in Annexure relating to Arrest Memo.   

13.5
Jamma Talashi essentially means taking an inventory of the goods/valuables which the arrested person is carrying on his person. This includes clothes, ornaments, wallet, watches, shoes, socks, spectacles, pen etc.

13.6
It is advisable that the valuables which the arrested person is carrying on his person are kept in a sealed cover in custody of the Arresting Officer. A precise inventory of such valuables should be made. These valuables should be released to the person on his release on bail.

13.7
In making an arrest the officer shall actually touch or confine the body of the person to be arrested, unless there be a submission to the custody by word or action.

13.8
If the person forcibly resists arrest, or attempts to evade arrest, the officer may use all means to effect the arrest. However, this does not give him the right to cause death of the person or inflict injuries on his body.

13.9
The arrested person should be produced in the Court of Chief Judicial Magistrate (economic offences) within 24 hours of the arrest for seeking remand. In case it is not possible to produce him before the CJM for reason that the court is situated at a distant place, then the arrested person should be produced before a local duty Magistrate for seeking transit remand.

13.10
Under section 19 of the Central Excise Act, 1944, any person arrested is to be forwarded to the nearest Central Excise Officer (not below the rank of Superintendent of Central Excise) empowered to send such person so arrested to a Magistrate, or, if there is no such Central Excise Officer within a reasonable distance, to the officer in-charge of the nearest police station.  If this provision is read with section 13 it will be clear that the officer empowered to arrest a person would not necessarily be the officer who will send the arrested person to the Magistrate.

13.11
Attempt should be made to produce the arrested person before the Magistrate on the same day. Arrested person should generally not be retained in the office in night as it can often lead to serious allegations of use of third degree methods.

13.12
In the eventuality that it is not possible to produce the arrested person before the Magistrate on the same day and there are no facilities to keep him in the custody for the night, he can be handed over to the jurisdictional police station. The format of the challan for handing over persons arrested to a police station is contained in Annexure IX.  However, it may be mentioned here that in such circumstances the officer in-charge of the police station has the power to admit the person to bail with the condition that he will appear before the Magistrate on the next day. Generally, the arresting officer should take back the person arrested from custody of police and then the department should produce the arrestee before the Magistrate.

13.13
Immediately after arrest, the Central Excise Officer can either admit the person to bail to appear before a Magistrate having jurisdiction in the case, or forward him in custody to the Magistrate.  The format of the bail and the bond is given in Annexure X. The amount of bond executed for the purpose of bail is entirely at the discretion of the officer granting bail with the only restriction that it should not be excessive. When there is a possibility of the accused jumping the bail, high bond amount may be fixed. The officer may also take surety bonds from the known and respectable persons of the area, as a guarantee against the availability of the accused for investigations and prosecution purposes.

13.14
The officer empowered under section 21 to produce the arrested person before a Magistrate can either request for Judicial Remand or Police Remand.  Police Remand is normally not granted unless special reasons for the same are given like requirement of presence of the accused for recovery of documents etc.

13.15
In case the Magistrate remands the accused to judicial custody and the preventive officers want to record a statement then they should apply to the Magistrate for the same.  A statement in the judicial custody can only be recorded with the permission of the Magistrate.

13.16
The general practice in the Commissionerates and DGCEI is to arrest a person only when the ingredients of arrest are satisfied and to produce him before the Magistrate with the request that the arrested person be taken to judicial custody.  The powers to grant bail as envisaged under section 21 is rarely exercised.

Hon’ble Supreme Court Directives regarding Rights of an Arrestee

14.
The Hon’ble Supreme Court of India in their judgment dated 18.12.1996, in the case of Shri D.K Basu v. State of West Bengal in W.P. (CRL) No. 539 of 1986 with W.P (CRL)592 of 1987 in the case of Ashok K. Johri v. State of U.P [JT 1997 (1) S.C.1] stipulated the following requirements to be observed by the officers of the Customs & Central Excise and DRI in all cases of  arrest/detention.

(i) The personnel carrying out the arrest and handling the interrogation of the arrestee should bear accurate, visible and clear identification and name tags with their designations.

(ii) The officer carrying out the arrest should prepare a memo of arrest at the time of arrest and such memo shall be attested by at least one witness, who may be either a member of the family of the arrestee or a respectable person of the locality from where arrest is made. The memo should also be countersigned by the arrestee and shall contain the date/time of arrest.

(iii) A person who has been arrested or detained, shall be entitled to have one friend or relative or other person known to him or having interest  in his welfare being informed, as soon as practicable, unless the attesting witness of the memo of arrest is himself a friend or a relative of the arrest.

(iv) The time, place of arrest and venue of custody of arrestee must be notified, where the next friend or relative of arrestee lives outside the district or town, through the Legal Aid Organization in the District and the Police Station of the area concerned telegraphically within a period of 8 to 12 hours after the arrest.

(v) The person arrested must be made aware of this right to have someone informed of his arrest or detention as soon as he is put under arrest or is detained.

(vi) An entry must be made in the diary, at the place of detention regarding the arrest of the person which shall also disclose the name of the next friend of the person who has been informed of the arrest and the names and particulars of the officials in whose custody the arrestee is.

(vii) The arrestee should, where he so requests, be also examined at the time of his arrest and major and minor injuries, if any present on his/her body, must be recorded at that time. The “Inspection Memo”, must be signed both by the arrestee and the officer effecting the arrest and its copy provided to the arrestee.

(viii) The arrestee should be subjected to medical examination by a trained doctor every 48 hours of his detention in custody by a doctor on the panel of approved doctors appointed by the Director of Health Services of the concerned State or Union Territory.

(ix) Copies of all the documents including the memo of arrest, referred to above, should be sent to the 'illaqa' Magistrate for his record.

(x) The arrestee may be permitted to meet his lawyer during interrogation, though not throughout the interrogation. 

***************

CHAPTER-XII

REWARDS

Reward to Government servants and informers is granted as an incentive and in recognition of their contribution in bringing the tax evaders to book. The basic principle of the reward scheme is that it is an ex-gratia payment and is calculated as a percentage of the duty evaded plus the amount of fine and penalty levied/imposed and recovered. Thus the scheme envisages payment of part of the amount recovered by the Government from tax-evaders as reward to the informer and Government servants. The CBEC has issued guidelines for sanction of reward from time to time. The present guidelines in operation are the consolidated guidelines issued vide F.No.R-13011/6/2001 – Cus (AS), dated 20.06.01, further  clarified vide guidelines of even number dated 23.08.02 . It is suggested that these guidelines be studied in detail before sanctioning any reward to the informer(s) or Government servants. These guidelines are exhaustive and deal with cases under the Central Excise, Customs and Narcotics Acts. However, in this chapter only those points which are relevant to a Central Excise Officer are being highlighted. 
Scope and Quantum

2.
Reward can be sanctioned, interalia, in all cases detected under the provisions of the Central Excise Act, 1944. Informers and Government servants are eligible for reward upto 20% of the net sale-proceeds of the contraband goods seized and/or amount of duty evaded plus the amount of fine and penalty levied/imposed and recovered. It deserves to be mentioned here that reward is purely an ex-gratia payment and cannot be claimed by anyone as a matter of right. Reward should also not be sanctioned to Government servants for routine and normal nature of work.


Reward to Government Servants
3.
The Government servants are ordinarily paid reward upto 10% of the net sale-proceeds of goods seized and confiscated and/or amount of duty evaded plus amount of fine/penalty levied/imposed and recovered. Reward in excess of this limit but not exceeding 20% can be sanctioned in cases where the Government servant has exposed himself/herself to a great personal hazard or displayed an exemplary courage, commendable initiative or resourcefulness of an extraordinary nature or where his/her personal efforts have been mainly responsible for the detection of case of seizure/evasion of duty. It is advisable that the sanctioning authority records the reasons and grounds considered in cases where the amount greater than 10% of the total recovery is sanctioned as reward to the Government servants.

3.1
The Government servants are eligible for sanction and payment of total reward of Rs.10 lakhs in their entire service career. All rewards sanctioned should, therefore, be entered in the service book to monitor this total ceiling.  In a single case, an individual officer can be sanctioned reward upto Rs.1 lakh (advance and final reward put together). Reward in excess of this limit can be sanctioned by the Board on the recommendation of the sanctioning authority routed through the DGCEI. Experience shows that the Board uses this power in very rare cases and therefore, the sanctioning authorities should preferably settle the issue at their level only.

Eligibility and Criteria for Reward to the Government Servants

4.
Government servants upto the rank of Deputy Commissioner of Central Excise are eligible for reward. The factors to be taken into consideration for sanctioning reward to Government servants are his contribution in

(i) collection of intelligence,

(ii) detection of evasion related evidences particularly during search and seizure operation,

(iii) risks involved and troubles undertaken in collection of intelligence & detection of case.

(iv) post-seizure scrutiny of documents,

(v) interrogation of crucial persons,

(vi) drafting of SCN etc.

4.1
Officers posted in adjudication, legal and prosecution cells are also eligible for grant of a lump-sum reward of upto Rs. 5,000/- per case. Officers posted in Audit who have contributed to detection of major cases of evasion of central excise duty are also eligible for payment of lump-sum reward upto Rs. 5,000/- per case. Officers working in CEGAT/CESTAT can also be sanctioned reward by the Ministry in deserving cases on the basis of specific proposals sent by the Chief Departmental Representative. 

Reward to the Informer 

5.
Within the prescribed limits, reward can be sanctioned to the informer taking into consideration the following factors:-

(i) Accuracy and specificity of information,

(ii) Risk involved and efforts taken for collection of intelligence,

(iii) Efforts made in securing the information, 

(iv) Help rendered by him in detection and investigation of duty evaded.

5.1
At the time of collection of information from an informer an undertaking should be taken from him that he is aware that if the information is found to be false he would be liable for prosecution. The informer should further undertake that he understands that the extent of reward depends on the precision of the information and the Government is not obliged to pay him the maximum admissible reward of 20%. These undertakings are useful in avoiding un-necessary litigation. It may, however, be noted that though reward is an ex-gratia payment in the absolute discretion of the competent authority, it cannot be arbitrarily denied or refused. 


Advance Reward

6.
Normally no advance reward is granted in Central Excise cases. However, in cases where parties/persons involved have voluntarily paid the amount   of duty   evaded   during   the course of investigation, admitting their liability, 25% of the admissible reward may be considered for payment as advance/interim reward to the informers.

6.1
Advance reward to the informers can be sanctioned only after the show cause notice has been issued and the authority competent to sanction reward is satisfied that there is reasonable chance of the case being established in adjudication and sustained in appeal.

6.2
The Government servants can also be sanctioned advance reward upto 25% of the total admissible reward after adjudication of the show-cause notice resulting in confirmation of duty. Here also, the sanctioning authority should be reasonably satisfied regarding the success of the case.

6.3
At the time of sanctioning of advance reward it is very important that the sanctioning authority is aware of the latest position of the case. Care should be taken to ensure that advance reward is not sanctioned to the officers on the basis of adjudication order confirming the demand which has already been set aside by the CESTAT/other appellate forums.  The same applies to sanction of final rewards. Another aspect to be borne in mind is whether the Government has earned any additional revenue on account of the efforts made or trouble taken by the informers/Government servants. It may so happen that the additional amount paid by/recovered from a particular unit would have been taken as CENVAT credit by another unit.  In this example, the Government has not earned any additional revenue. The question of giving reward in such cases, therefore, does not arise.  The point made here is that the sanctioning authority should examine the proposal for reward in all its aspects so that the purpose for which the scheme was formulated is not lost sight of. 

6.4
In exceptional cases, the Heads of the Departments may sanction suitable reward on the spot to be adjusted against advance reward. The consideration for 

such sanction is the value of seizure, magnitude of evasion, special efforts or ingenuity displayed by the officers concerned.


Final Reward

7.
Final reward to the officers and informers can be sanctioned after conclusion of adjudication/appeal/revision proceedings. The advance and final reward put together shall not exceed 20% of net sale proceeds plus the amount of additional duty/fine/penalty recovered in the case. Final reward can also be paid in respect of cases settled by the Settlement Commission.

Reward Sanctioning Authority

8.
Monetary limits for sanction of rewards to the informer and Government servants are as given below:-

8.1 To Informers

	Monetary Limit
	Reward Sanctioning Authority

	Upto Rs.5 Lakhs 
	Jurisdictional Head of Department i.e, Commissioner of Customs and Central Excise/Addl. Director General, DRI/Addl. Director General, DGCEI.

	Above Rs. 5 Lakhs & upto Rs. 10 Lakhs
	A Committee comprising:

(i) Jurisdictional Commissioner of Customs & Central Excise/ADG, DRI/ADG, DGCEI,

(ii) One of jurisdictional Addl. Commissioner/Director or senior most  Jt. Commissioner/Director of the Commissionerate or the DRI/DGCEI as the case may be, and

(iii) An officer of equivalent rank, outside the Commissionerate/Directorate i.e. Addl. or Jt. Commissioner of Customs & Central Excise of another local Commissionerate/nearest Jt. Director (DRI) or Jt. Director (CEI) or Jt. Director (DPO), nominated by Jurisdictional Commissioner/ADG, DRI/ADG,CEI.

	Above Rs. 10 Lakhs & upto Rs. 20 Lakhs
	A Committee comprising:

(i) Jurisdictional Chief Commissioner/DGRI/DGCEI,

(ii) Jurisdictional  Commissioner of Customs & Central Excise/ADG, DRI/ADG, DGCEI, and 

(iii) Commissioner (Preventive Operations) or any other Commissioner rank officer, nominated by the Chief Commissioner/DGRI/DGCEI.

	Above Rs. 20 Lakhs
	A Committee comprising:

(i) Jurisdictional Chief Commissioner,

(ii) Director General (Revenue Intelligence) and 

(iii) Director General (CEI).


8.2
To Government Servants

	Monetary Limit
	Reward Sanctioning Authority

	Upto Rs. 5,000/-
	Jurisdictional Addl. Commissioner/Jt. Commissioner/Director of Customs & Central Excise.

	Above Rs. 5,000/- & upto Rs. 10,000/-
	Jurisdictional Head of the Department i.e Commissioner of Customs & Central Excise/Addl. Director General (DRI)/Addl. Director General (CEI).

	Above Rs. 10,000/- & upto Rs. 50,000/-
	A Committee comprising:

(i) Jurisdictional Commissioner of Customs & Central Excise/Addl. Director General (DRI)/Addl. Director General (AE),

(ii) Jurisdictional Add. Commissioner of Customs & Central Excise/Jt. Director (DRI)/Jt. Director (CEI),

(iii) An outside Addl./Jt. Commissioner/Jt. Director (DRI)/Jt. Director (CEI), nominated by Jurisdictional Commissioner in consultation with concerned Commissioner/DG/ADG.

	Above Rs. 50,000/- but less than Rs. 1 Lakh
	A Committee comprising:

(i) Jurisdictional Chief Commissioner/DGRI/DGCEI;

(ii) Jurisdictional Commissioner of Customs & Central Excise/ADG(DRI)/ADG(CEI), and 

(iii) Commissioner (Preventive Operations) or any other Commissioner of Customs/Central Excise, nominated by the Chief Commissioner/DGRI/DGCEI.



Special Powers of Board

9.
Proposal for sanction of reward above Rs. 1 lakh to an officer in an individual case or to an officer senior in rank to Deputy Commissioner can be considered by the CBEC. These proposals are to be routed through the DG of CEI. Reward can also be sanctioned by the Board to the officers working in CESTAT on proposals forwarded by the Chief Departmental Representative. Further, final reward sanctioned by the authority/committee may also be reviewed or reopened by the Board to redress any grave injustice on the recommendations of DGRI, DGCEI and or the Chief Commissioner. These powers are extraordinary in nature and therefore should be recommended to the Board only in the rarest of the rare cases.


Cases not Eligible

10.
Cases covered by Section 11A(2B) and Section 11D of the Central Excise Act, 1944 are not eligible for reward. Cases of evasion of Service Tax under the Finance Act, 1994 are also not eligible for reward.

Judicial Interpretation

11.
The honorable Supreme Court in case of Union of India Vs R. Padmanabhan    [2003(57) RLT 851 (SC)] examined the guidelines of 1989, for reward to the informers and officers and made some important observations which are relevant even for the new guidelines of June, 2001. Some of these observations are as follows:

(i) Informants and Government servants are placed on different pedestal under the Reward Scheme of 1989 i.e reward can be considered more liberally to the informer. Reward is purely an ex-gratia payment and is subject to guidelines. No right accrues to any sum till reward is determined and awarded, though it can not be arbitrarily denied or refused.

(ii) Relevant date: Guidelines issued in April 1989 to be applied to all cases which are adjudicated after the issue of these guidelines, though seizure was effected earlier.

(iii) Eligibility of Government officers: Clause 7 of reward guidelines of April 1989, excludes officers of rank senior than a Deputy Commissioner of Central Excise. This will apply to all Government departments and not only of Customs and Central Excise Department Thus senior officers of other departments are also not eligible for reward.


Procedure for Sanction of Reward:-

12.
In the Commissionerates of Central Excise, all the proposals for sanction of rewards would be generally examined, prepared and put up to the sanctioning authority   by the   Assistant / Deputy Commissioner of  Hqrs.  Preventive. The proposals received from the field formations of the Commissionerate would also be sent to the Assistant/Deputy Commissioner incharge of Hqrs. Preventive. The reward proposal should consist of, inter alia, the following:-

(a) Nature of reward, i.e., advance or final to informer or Government servant.

(b) Brief facts of the case.

(c) Total amount of duty, fine and penalty imposed in the adjudication order.

(d) Market value of the goods involved.

(e) Role played  by the officers in detection of the case.

(f) Total amount of duty, penalty and fine realized and particulars of realization (in cases of final reward).

(g) Gist of the information and assistance given by the informer (in case of rewards to informers).

(h) Date of recording of information, if any.

(i) Date of detection.

(j) Date of submission of AE-I First Information Report with reference no. if the case was based on prior information/intelligence

(k) Date of detection.

(l) Date of Show Cause Notice.

(m) Date of adjudication.

(n) Date of realization of fine/penalty/duty.

(o) A copy of the AE-I report (particularly important in case of rewards to informers and to officers where the role of the officer in gathering of intelligence has been highlighted).

(p) A copy of the seizure/offence report (AE-II).

(q) A copy of the show cause notice.

(r) A copy of the adjudication order.

(s) Copies of the TR-6, drafts etc. vide which duty/fine/penalty has been realized (in case of final rewards).

(t) If appeal filed with the CEGAT/CESTAT/Supreme Court by the party, then the grounds of appeal and the current status of the appeal.

Procedure for Disbursal of Reward to the Informer
13.
Once the reward is sanctioned and order signed by the Competent Authority, it is sent to the administration section for drawing the amount. The cheque is received from the Pay and Accounts office. The cash payment against the cheque is generally drawn on the date of disbursal of the amount to the concerned informer. In the mean time the officer who has recorded the Intelligence is informed and is requested to keep the informer briefed about the date, time, and place for the disbursal of the reward amount. The disbursing authority fixes the date and time for the disbursal and the same is communicated to the recording officer for informing the informer suitably. The officers of Intelligence /Preventive Section then take out the sealed envelope and AE-1 from the custody of the Additional Director (Int)/Deputy Commissioner (Prev) and prepare the certificate of disbursal for departmental purposes, -Annexure XII (two copies),  proof of disbursal to the correct informer -Annexure XIII (one copy) and the certificate for income tax purposes -Annexure XIV (two copies). Proforma for all three are enclosed. Along with these certificates two envelopes -one for the receipt (Annexure XIII) and the other for the original information are prepared giving details of the sanction order, case against M/s.---- , date of detection, amount of reward sanctioned, whether advance or final, etc..  At the time of disbursal the original sealed cover containing the information is opened and the disbursing authority writes the amount disbursed on the information sheet and puts his dated signature. The disbursing officer records and signs on the original envelope that it was opened by him. The reward amount in cash is disbursed, after the thumb impression of the informer on the original information is checked with the informer present, in presence of two witnesses. Generally two gazetted officers are taken as witness. A receipt (Annexure XIII) to this effect is obtained from the informer. The old envelope which was containing the original information is resealed with the original information inside a new envelope.  On this envelope, the disbursing officer records that it has been sealed in his presence.  In the other envelope, the receipt given by the informer is placed and sealed. Both the envelopes are sealed and again kept in the safe custody. A copy of the Certificate is given to the informer for his record and a copy of Annexure is sent to the cashier for his record. Necessary entries are thereafter, made in the Reward Register. Reward register has generally following columns:

1. Name of the Unit & case file Number

2. Sanction Order number and date

3. Sanctioned by

4. Amount

5. Advance or final

6. AE-1 Officer or identifying officer

7. Disbursing Officer

8. Witnessed by (i) and (ii)

************

CHAPTER-XI

PROSECUTION


Legal Provision

Prosecution is the institution or commencement of a criminal proceeding, the process of exhibiting formal charges against an offender before a court of law on behalf of the Government. Thus, in Central Excise, prosecution sets in motion a legal process by which Government attempts to obtain punishment of companies and persons concerned with evasion of Central Excise duty in a court of law. The offences and the punishments under the Central Excise Act, 1944 are provided in section 9 of the said Act. These offences are:-

(i) contravention of provisions relating to registration under the Central Excise Act or provisions relating to prohibition on possession and transit of excisable goods,

(ii) evasion of the payment of Central Excise duty, 

(iii) removal of any excisable goods in violation of legal provisions or being concerned  with such removal,

(iv) acquiring,  possessing, transporting, depositing, keeping, concealing, selling or purchasing, or in any other manner dealing with any excisable goods with the knowledge that the goods are liable to confiscation,

(v) contravention of legal provisions in relation to CENVAT credit,

(vi) failure to supply  information which is legally required or supplying false information,

(vii) attempting to commit, or abet the commission of, any of the offences mentioned above.

Punishment
2.
The punishments for the offences mentioned above are also provided in section 9 of the Act. These are as follows:-

(i) in the case of an offence relating to any excisable goods where the duty evaded exceeds one lakh of rupees, with imprisonment for a term upto seven years and with fine. The minimum prescribed term of imprisonment is six months.

(ii) in any other case, with imprisonment for a term which may extend to three years or with fine or with both.

(iii) if any person convicted of an offence under section 9 is again convicted of an offence under this section, then he shall be punishable for the second and for every subsequent offence with imprisonment for a term which may extend to seven years and with fine. The minimum prescribed term of imprisonment is six months.

Offences by Companies
3.
The offences by companies are provided in section 9AA of the Central Excise Act.  This section provides that:-

(i) Where an offence has been committed by a company, every person who, at the time the offence was committed was in charge of, and was responsible to, the company for the conduct of the business of the company, as well as 
the company, shall be deemed to be guilty of the offence and shall be liable to be proceeded against and punished accordingly unless he proves that the offence was committed without his knowledge or that he had exercised all due diligence to prevent the commission of such offence.

(ii) Where an offence has been committed by a company and it is proved that the offence has been committed with the consent or connivance of, or is attributable to any neglect on the part of any director, manager, secretary or other officer of the company, such director, manager, secretary or other officer shall also be deemed to be guilty of that offence and shall be liable to be proceeded against and punished accordingly.

3.1
Section 9AA above is a deeming provision. If the two vital ingredients are met i.e. "an offence" has been committed and the accused was "in charge of" the company, he would be deemed to be guilty. The proviso to the sub-section (1) enables a person in charge to prove his innocence. Thus, the prosecution need not prove that the contravention was done intentionally and deliberately by the accused.  It would be sufficient for the prosecution to establish that "an offence" has been committed and the accused is the "person-incharge" of the day-to-day functioning of the company.  In other words, the burden on the shoulders of the prosecution is considerably lighter while proving a contravention of central excise law.

Presumption of Culpable Mental State
4.
Section 9C of the Central Excise Act provides that in any prosecution which requires a culpable mental state on the part of the accused, the Court shall presume the existence of such mental state.  This section makes an important departure from the general principle that no act is an offence in the absence of mens rea, namely, a guilty mind.  Mens rea is an essential ingredient of a statutory offence, but the same has been rebutted by express words in the Central Excise Act. The section further provides that it is for the accused to prove that he had no such mental state. Thus, the burden of proof has been shifted to the shoulders of the accused. This section further provides that a fact is taken to be proved only when the Court believes it to exist beyond reasonable doubt.  Therefore, the accused person has to prove the absence of mens rea, beyond the reasonable doubt, to prove his innocence. The burden cast on him is same that is cast upon the prosecution in an ordinary trial. This section is an indication of the gravity and seriousness with which the offence under the Central Excise Act is viewed by the legislature.

Practice
5.
Though the provisions relating to prosecution in Central Excise Act are fairly stringent, the practice follows Board's guidelines issued in this regard from time to time.  These guidelines are issued to ensure that the limited manpower, time and resources of the Department are utilized efficiently and not frittered away in a large number of small cases.  The guidelines are contained in Circular No.15/90-CX.6 dated 9.8.90. They interalia state that:-

viii. Prosecution should be launched with the final approval of the Chief Commissioner after the case has been carefully examined by the Commissioner in the light of the guidelines.

ix. Prosecution should not be launched in cases of technical nature, or where the additional claim of duty is based totally on a difference of interpretation of law. Before launching any prosecution, it is necessary that the department should have evidence to prove that the person, company or individual had guilty knowledge of the offence, or had fraudulent intention to commit the offence, or in any manner possessed mens rea (mental element) which would indicate his guilt. It follows, therefore, that in the case of public limited companies, prosecution should not be launched indiscriminately against all the Directors of the company but it should be restricted to only against Directors like the Managing Director, Director in charge of Marketing and Sales, Director (Finance) and other executives who are in charge of day-to-day operations of the factory. The intention should be to restrict the prosecution only to those who have taken active part in committing the duty evasion or connived at it. For this purpose, the Commissioners should go through the case file and satisfy themselves that only those Chairman/Managing Director /Directors /Partners /Executives / Officials against whom reasonable evidence exists of their involvement in duty evasion, should be proceeded against while launching the prosecution. For example, Nominee Directors of financial institutions, who are not concerned with day-today matters, should not be prosecuted unless there is very definite evidence to the contrary. Prosecution should be launched only against those Director/Partners/Officials etc. who are found to have guilty knowledge, fraudulent intention or mens rea necessary to bind them to criminal liability.

x. In order to avoid prosecution in minor cases, a monetary limit of Rs. 10,000/- was prescribed in the instructions contained in Board’s letter F.No.208/6/M-77-CX.6 dated 26.07.1980. Based on experience, and in order not to fritter the limited manpower and time of the Department on too many petty cases, it has now been decided to enhance this limit to Rs. 1 Lakh. But in the case of habitual offenders, the total amount of duty involved in various offences may be taken into account while deciding whether prosecution is called for. Moreover, if there is evidence to show that the person or the company has been systematically engaged in evasion over a period of time and evidence to prove malafide is available, prosecution should be considered irrespective of the monetary limit.

	Note:-
	The monetary limit for launching prosecution has been further enhanced to Rs. 25 lakhs by the Board, vide its letter of F.No. 208/31/97-CX.6 dated 12.12.97.




xi. One of the important considerations for deciding whether prosecution should be launched is the availability of adequate evidence. Prosecution should be launched against top management when there is adequate evidence/material to show their involvement in the offence.

xii. Persons liable of prosecution should not normally be arrested unless their immediate arrest is necessary. 

xiii. Prosecution should normally be launched immediately after adjudication has been completed. However, if the party deliberately delays completion of adjudication proceedings prosecution may be launched even during the pendency of the adjudication proceedings if it is apprehended that undue delay would weaken the department’s case.

xiv. Prosecution should not be kept in abeyance on the ground that the party has gone in appeal/revision. However, in order to ensure that the proceedings in appeal/revision are not unduly delayed because the case records are required for purpose of prosecution, a parallel file containing copies of the essential documents relating to adjudication should be maintained. It is necessary to reiterate that in order to avoid delays, the Commissioner should indicate at the time of passing the adjudication order itself whether he considers the case to be fit for prosecution so that it should be further processed for being sent to the Chief Commissioner for sanction.
Procedure for Prosecution
6.
Procedure for prosecution is also provided in the Circular No.15/90-CX.6 dated 9.8.90.  The procedure envisaged is as follows:-

(i) Consequent upon the creation of the post of Chief Commissioner, the procedure for sanctioning of the prosecution is being modified. In all such cases where the Commissioner of Central Excise in charge of judicial work is satisfied that prosecution should be launched, an investigation report for the purpose should be launched.  An investigation report for the purpose of launching prosecution should be carefully prepared and signed by an Assistant Commissioner, endorsed by the Commissioner and forwarded to the Chief Commissioner for decision within one month of the adjudication of the case.  A criminal complaint in a Court of Law should be filed only after the sanction of the jurisdictional Chief Commissioner has been obtained.

(ii) It is hardly necessary to emphasize that prosecution, once launched, should be vigorously followed. The Commissioner of Central Excise, incharge of judicial work should monitor cases of prosecution at monthly intervals and take the corrective action wherever necessary to ensure that the progress of the prosecution is satisfactory.  In large cities, where a number of Central Excise Divisions are located at the same place, all the prosecution cases could be centralized in one office so that it will be easier for the officers to deal with the cases.

(iii) In order that the prosecution may have a deterrent effect, it is necessary that conviction should be secured with utmost speed.  This can only be done if regular monitoring of the progress of the prosecution is undertaken.

(iv) It has been reported that delays in the court proceedings are often due to non-availability of the records required to be produced before the Magistrate.  As a matter of practice, whenever a case is taken up for seeking the approval of the Chief Commissioner for launching prosecution, the concerned officer should immediately take charge of all documents, statements and other exhibits that would be required to be produced before a Court. The list of exhibits etc. should be finalized in consultation with the Public Prosecutor at the time of drafting of the complaint.  No time should be lost in ensuring that all exhibits are kept in safe custody.

(v) Section 9 of the Central Excise Act provides that imprisonment for a term which may extend to 3 years or a fine or both may be imposed on a person convicted for offences under this Section. It has been found, however, that most Courts do not impose prison sentences inspite of the statutory provision of the Act.  In relation to offences where the duty leviable on the excisable goods exceeds one lakh of rupees, Section 9 provides that the convicted person shall be punishable with imprisonment for a term not less than six months, which could extend to 7 years. In addition, the person would also be liable to a fine. In such cases, a Court can order imprisonment of a term less than six months only where there are special and adequate reasons to impose a lighter sentence and such reasons have to be duly recorded by the Court in the judgements.  It has been found that in one case where the amount of duty involved was more than Rs. one lakh and the accused had even pleaded guilty, simple imprisonment till the rising of the Court was awarded.  It is apparent that generally in cases of sizable evasion, persons convicted under the Central Excise Act suffer very light penalties which is contrary to the spirit of the Act, as well as the purpose of launching prosecution. 

(vi) The Board, therefore, desires that the Commissioners of Central Excise responsible for the conduct of prosecution should study the judgements of the Courts and, where it is found that the accused persons have been let off with light punishment than what is envisaged in the Act, the question of filing appeal under the law should invariably be examined with reference to the evidence on record within the stipulated time. This is equally applicable to cases in which a Court orders acquittal without recording sufficient reasons in the judgement even though adequate evidence was available and  was provided in the Court.

(vii) Section 9B of the Central Excise Act grants power to publish name, place of business etc. of person convicted under the Act by a Court of Law.  The power is being exercised very sparingly by the Courts.  The Board desires that in all cases, the department should make a prayer to the Court to invoke this section in respect of all persons who are convicted under the Act.

(viii) A Prosecution Register may be maintained in the prosecution Cell of the Commissionerate Headquarters.

6.1
In cases where prosecution is to be launched and there is one Adjudication Officer for number of factories located under the jurisdiction of different Commissionerates, the Circular No. 35/35/94-CX dated 29.4.94 must be followed. This circular clarifies as to who would be proper sanctioning authority for prosecution in such cases.

6.2
Format for approval of prosecution is provided at Annexure XI.

****************

CHAPTER XIV

MISCELLANEOUS

CHECK LIST FOR THE DIVISIONAL OFFICER/RANGE OFFICER/SECTOR OFFICER LOOKING AFTER THE WORK OF THE EOUS/STP/EHTP UNITS
GENERAL
(a) Study thoroughly Chapter 6 of the EXIM Policy and Appendix 14-I of Handbook (Vol-I). Also study carefully Appendices 14-IA, 14-IB, 14-IC, 14-IE, 14-IF, 14-IG and 14-IH of the Handbook.

(b) Study carefully notification Nos. 52/2003-Cus (providing for duty-free import), 22/2003-CE (providing for duty-free procurement) and 23/2003-CE (DTA Sales).

I
Letter of Permission/Letter of Intent

(a) Study/check Project Report, application for approval of EOUs, Letter of Permission (LOP)/Letter of Intent (LOI) and Letter of Undertaking (LUT) filed before the Development Commissioner.
(b) Under the Policy, EOUs shall have separate ear-marked premises for each LOP. Ensure this.

II      Grant of Warehousing Licence

(a) Application for private bonded warehouse licence (Sec.58 of the Customs Act, 1962) and application for manufacture under Customs Bond (Sec. 65 of the Customs Act, 1962).  Check the requirement of Manufacture and Other Operations in Warehouse Regulations, 1966. At the time of granting the warehousing licence to the EOUs, check/verify/ensure the following :

(i) Correctness of office & residential  address of the applicant and  telephone numbers of the persons concerned. To be placed on record.
(ii) The lease agreement, if any and the terms and conditions.  It should also be ensured that the lease is valid at least for a minimum period of five years.  Copy of lease deed should be kept in office file. Keep a watch on the EOUs operating from leased premises obtained from private parties.

(iii) The financial status of the applicant through discreet inquiries.
(iv) The safety of the premises, coverage of insurance for reasonable amount depending upon the capacity of the unit.

(v) Solvency Certificate with the details of the property submitted for Surety at the time of execution of B-17 bond. To be thoroughly cross verified, instead of relying on the CA’s certificate.  If need be, the bonafides of the values of the properties to be checked with the revenue authorities. 
(b) Permission to carry out manufacturing operations under Customs bond may be granted only for such goods as listed in LOI/LOP. Incorporate cost recovery amount in the sanction.

(c) Check whether the applicant has any other EOU(s) or unit(s) in DTA. And also verify through the jurisdictional Commissionerates whether these units have come to adverse notice.

(d) If a warehousing license is to be issued to the unit having any Proprietor/ Partner/Director who had been earlier a Proprietor/Partner/Director in a unit whose facility has been withdrawn on account of misuse/non-fulfillment of export obligation, then it should be specifically brought to the notice of the licensing authority.

(e) Before issuing licence, ensure that separate spaces in the premises of the unit are ear marked for storage of duty-free raw material and finished goods made there from. Waste/rejects may be kept in some other place which should be ear marked for storing such waste.

III
Issue of Procurement Certificate & CT-3

(a) Check whether the EOU has its own website and permanent e-mail address. Under the Policy, duty free procurement facility cannot be allowed unless the EOU has its own website and permanent e-mail address.
(b) Issue Procurement Certificates only for those items which are required for production of goods mentioned in the LOP/LOI. 

(c) Verify utilization of earlier imports, capacity for storage and production before issuing the Procurement Certificates. Ensure that the unit does not import goods in quantities which is disproportionate to its annual production/processing capacity. 

(d) Ensure that complete description and technical characteristics, quantity and value of the goods are incorporated in the Procurement Certificate. 

(e) Take special care while dealing with the requests of the units in textile and chemical sector for issue of Procurement Certificates. Ensure compliance with the Board’s instructions contained in Circular No. 66/2002-Customs, dated 8-10-2002. 

(f) Check the specifications of the product such as GSM, Denier, Purity, Gauge, Part No., Make and Brand Name etc. and issue re-warehousing certificates only after physical verification of the goods. 

(g) Some units have procured raw-material in huge quantities by self-issuing CT-3 certificates, although they have no space to store them, nor have they the capacity to consume the raw materials within a reasonable time.  In order to check this, issue the pre-authenticated CT-3 booklets so as to cover the requirements of the unit for a maximum period of three months.

(h) In the case of defunct units, ensure that all unused CT-3s are recovered from the unit and sent to the Divisional Office.

IV
Duty Free Import/ Procurement under Notification No. 52/2003-Cus. and 22/2003-CE

(a) Check the Bond Register and import and other related documents so as to ensure that the goods obtained duty free are covered by the Annexures to the notification.

(b) Check the Bond Register and import and other related documents so as to ensure that the goods obtained duty free are covered by the Annexures to the notification.

(c) Ensure that the goods imported/procured duty free are utilized for the intended purpose of the scheme and under no circumstances should they be allowed to be cleared into DTA except to the extent such clearance is permitted under the EXIM Policy. 

(d) Check and ensure that the goods imported are utilized within the stipulated period, (i.e. five years in respect of capital goods and three years in respect of raw material, components etc.) or the extended period as permitted by the competent authority. 

(e) Check whether the capital goods are installed within one year from the date of importation or the extended period not exceeding five years. In case of other goods, check whether they are used for intended purposes or re-exported within one year/extended period.  
(f) Check whether NFEP and export performance (Positive NFE under the new EXIM Policy) are achieved as stipulated in the LOPs. In case of failure to achieve positive NFE, raise demand on proportionate basis in proportion to default as explained in notification No. 22/2003-CE and 52/2003-Cus.

(g) Items of manufacture for export specified in LOP/LOI alone are to be taken into account for calculation of NFE. Check and ensure this.

(h) No duty free import/procurement facility should be allowed to the trading EOUs, as the said facility has been withdrawn with effect from 22-6-2002. 
V
   B-17 Bond

(a) Check whether the bond executed by the unit is in the prescribed proforma, duly corrected to reflect the latest rules, regulations and instructions. Ensure that the bond amount is equal to 25% of the duty foregone on the sanctioned requirement of capital goods plus the duty foregone on the raw material required for three months.

(b) Ensure that bank guarantee / cash security equivalent to 5% of the bond amount is furnished or personal surety `for the bond amount is furnished along with verification report of the Chartered Accountant giving details of verifiable assets and liabilities.

(c) Ensure timely debiting or crediting of the bond. In case the bond amount falls short, take additional bond along with surety/security. 

(d) A fresh bond may be obtained from all existing EOUs where the existing bonds do not conform to Board’s instructions or where the bank guarantee has expired or net worth of surety has changed.
VI
  Payment of Cost Recovery/Supervision Charges
(a) Check whether the unit has paid the charges for cost recovery/supervision charges.
VII    Subcontracting

  General
(a) Check whether the unit was earlier involved in fraudulent removal of duty free imported/indigenous goods into DTA.
(b) Ensure that the substantial activity of manufacture is carried out within the bonded premises of the unit and that there is no attempt to parcel out the substantial manufacturing operations outside the bonded premises.

(c) Ensure correlation between raw material sent out for job work and finished/semi-finished goods received back. This will ensure that the finished products are manufactured out of imported/ domestically procured raw materials and there is no substitution/diversion of duty free goods in the DTA.

(d) Ensure that a sample of the goods being sent out for job work is drawn and retained in the Range Office. This will help establish the identity of the goods so returned with reference to the sample retained at the time of removal.

(e) Check whether bank guarantee has been furnished by the unit to cover situations described in Board’s Circular No. 65/2002-Cus., dated 7.10.2002.

(f) Verify the premises of the job worker, his processing capacity, existence of facility for carrying out the declared processes in the job worker’s premises by way of personal visits or by letters/fax/e-mail.

(g) Check whether there is any substitution of duty free goods by verifying job work registers, challans, LOPs, input out put norms etc.
(h) Check the transit document and the register. Verify whether challans are serially numbered for each calendar year.
(i) Check whether goods sent on job work are received within 90 days from the date of removal/extended period.
(j) Ensure that export of finished goods from job worker’s premises is not allowed through third parties.

(k) Export of finished goods directly from the job worker’s premises can be permitted provided the job worker is a Central Excise registrant. Check and ensure this. 

(l) Ensure that scrap, waste or remnants generated during the processing operations is either returned to the unit or cleared from job worker’s   premises on payment of applicable duty or destroyed in the presence of customs and central excise authorities.

(m) Ensure that the moulds, jigs, tools, fixtures etc. removed for job-work are brought back to the unit within a period of six months.

(n) Keep a watch on the goods sent out for the purposes of repairs, processing, testing, display etc. and ensure that these goods are returned to the unit within the stipulated period or exported, as mentioned above, from the premises of job worker who is a Central Excise registrant.

Contract Farming in Agricultural Sector

(o) Check and ensure that the conditions specified in notification   Nos.52/2003-Cus and 22/2003 –CE for availing of the facility are followed in all respects. Only the specified goods should be allowed to be taken out for use outside the bonded area.

(p) In case the EOU is in existence for less than 2 years, take bank guarantee equal to the total duty foregone on the goods so transferred to the fields or firms of contract farmers.

(q) In case of failure of the unit to bring back the agriculture or horticulture produce so produced in the fields or farms of contract farmers within the same season/extended period, ensure that the duty equal to the duty foregone on the inputs so taken out to the fields/firms is paid by the unit.

(r) Scrutinise the accounts of the unit with regard to the goods transferred to the fields or farms of the contract farmers.

Sub-contracting in Granite Sector.

(s) Check and ensure that the conditions stipulated in notification No.52/2003-Cus and 22/2003-CE for availing of the facility are followed  in all respects.

(t) Ensure that the granite quarries, to which the goods are transferred for the purposes of quarrying of granite, are in the name of the EOU either on lease basis or on ownership basis.

(u) Scrutinise the accounts of the unit showing proper receipt, consumption and utilization of the goods taken out, of granite so quarried and transferred to its processing unit or to any other EOU/SEZ unit.

(v) Ensure that the goods are not transferred or shifted to any other site or quarry owned or taken on lease by the unit without proper permission.

(w) Check and ensure that the accounts of the goods used at the quarrying site are kept at the site in a properly constructed office to enable verification of the same.

(x) Check and ensure that the quarried granite is removed from the quarry site only for supply to unit’s own processing unit or for supply to another EOU/SEZ unit.  Ensure that the said granite is not exported as such or cleared into DTA.

Sub-contracting in Gem & Jewellery Sector

(y) Check and ensure that the conditions stipulated in notification No.52/2003-Cus for availing of the facility are followed.  In particular, ensure that wastage is allowed within the overall limit of wastage as specified in the said notification.  Also, ensure that goods, finished or semi-finished, including studded jewellery taken out for sub-contracting are brought back to the unit within 30 days.

(z) Check and ensure that the DTA unit undertaking job work or supplying jewellery against exchange of Gold/Silver/Platinum does not avail of deemed export benefits.

(zz)
 Check and ensure that no cut and polished diamonds, precious or semi

         -precious stones are allowed to be taken out of the unit for sub

         -contracting.

VIII
    DTA Sales
(a) Sales in DTA are subject to the payment of applicable duties as per notification No.23/2003-CE.  The notification covers situations under which the goods can be cleared into DTA as also the conditions to be fulfilled for availing of the benefit of the notification.  Study it carefully along with the instructions issued by the Board from time to time, including those issued in the context of erstwhile notification Nos.8/97-CE and 13/98-CE. Check whether the rates of duty shown in the invoice(s) have been correctly indicated and the duty correctly calculated as explained in notification No.23/2003-CE.

(b) Check whether the DTA sale permission granted by the Development   Commissioner is valid and is adequate to cover the DTA sales.
(c) Check whether the goods cleared into DTA are in accordance with sub-paragraphs (a),(b), (d) and (h) of Paragraph 6.8 of the EXIM Policy.

(d) Check and verify whether the goods being cleared into DTA, other than scrap, waste or remnants are similar to the goods which are exported or expected to be exported from the unit.

(e) Ensure that the total value of concessional DTA sales does not exceed 50% of FOB value of exports (physical exports) made during the preceding year. DTA sale on payment of concessional duty must not be allowed on the basis of entitlements earned against deemed exports.

(f) Sale of goods in DTA at concessional rate of duty under the Policy i.e. under paragraph 6.8(b) is subject to fulfillment of positive NFE.  Check whether the unit has achieved positive NFE.

(g) If the unit has not achieved positive NFE, clearance of rejects into DTA in excess of 5% of FOB value of exports made by the said unit during the preceding year can not be allowed under notification No.23/2003-CE. Ensure this.

(h) Check the valuation of goods, especially of rejects & waste sold in the DTA and the goods sold to the sister units. Ensure that the goods are valued in accordance with the provisions of the Customs Act & the Rules made there under and the instructions issued by the Board on the subject.

(i) In case an EOU has used imported inputs (raw materials or consumables) even if in negligible quantity in the manufacture of  export product , otherwise manufactured out of wholly indigenous raw materials, the concessional duty (normal excise duty payable by DTA units on similar goods) under S.No.3 of the Table of notification No.23/2003-CE is not available on DTA sales.  In such cases, excise duty is payable in an amount equal to 50% of the aggregate duties of customs in terms of S.No.2 of the Table. Check this. 

(j) In respect of sales made by EOUs in DTA against payment from the EEFC Account under para 6.9 (b), the excise duty is payable in an amount equal to the aggregate duties of Customs.  Ensure this, it has been reported that certain unscrupulous EOUs have cleared goods under this paragraph without payment of appropriate duty. Some units have cleared goods merely on payment of Central Excise duty.

(k) In case of clearance of non-excisable goods into DTA, ensure that the duty foregone equal in amount to that leviable on the inputs used for the manufacture of the said goods is paid at the time of such clearance.

(l) In case of sale of surplus power in DTA, check and ensure that the duty in an amount equal to the duty leviable on consumables and raw materials used for generation of power so sold in DTA is paid by the unit.

(m) Advance DTA sale is a potential area for abuse. Keep a close watch on such sales, as cases have been reported where the EOUs have sold the imported material as it is in the names of fictitious buyers.

(n) Advance DTA sale is not covered by B-17 Bond. Therefore, take a separate bond and also ensure that such sale is adjusted against the subsequent entitlements in a maximum period of three years in the case of drugs and pharmaceuticals and two years in all other cases. 

(o) Check and ensure that repaired, re-conditioned or re-engineered goods are not cleared outside the unit, whether for sale, exports through a third party, transfer to another unit or for job work.

(p) Sale of waste /scrap/remnants by the units not entitled to DTA sale or sales beyond the DTA sale entitlement is allowed to the EOU on payment of excise duty equal to the aggregate duties of customs. Check and ensure this.

IX
Maintenance of Accounts

(a) Study and check the Quarterly and Annual Report as prescribed in Annexure to Appendix-14IF of the Handbook.
(b) Scrutinise the monthly return (Form ER 2) as prescribed under Rule 17 of the Central Excise Rules, 2002.

(c) Scrutinise the records of the unit relating to the receipt, storage and utilization of goods, sub-contracting, DTA sales/clearances, inter-unit transfer, exports etc. Check and ensure that the unit is able to account for the entire quantity of goods imported/procured duty-free, by way of exports, sales/supplies in DTA or transfer to other SEZ/EOU/EHTP/STP units and balance in stock.

(d) Check and ensure that raw material is taken out of the place of storage after making due entry in the ex-bond register (issue register) and subsequent issue is taken only after consumption of the raw material. Finished goods made out of the said raw material should be immediately reflected in the finished goods register. 

(e) Scrutinize Bond Register and ensure that each and every entry is duly filled in.

(f) Check and ensure that in the Manufacturing/Waste/Reject Register, details of goods indicating all particulars viz. Yardage, Weight, Deniers etc. as applicable are mentioned.

X      Inter unit Transfer
(a) Check whether the goods supplied are rewarehoused and the Range Officer of the receiving unit has issued the rewarehousing certificate.    The Range Officer to issue the re-warehousing certificate only after physical verification of the goods with respect to their detailed description, quality and quantity. 

(b) Verify whether the receiving unit is an EOU/unit in EHTP/STP/SEZ and its licence/LOP is in force.
(c) ARE-3s are self certified by the licensees in token of receipt of raw materials etc. and the same are counter signed by the Range Officers. Dispatch the ARE-3s, after counter signature, promptly by post to the originating Ranges. 

(d) Check whether the duty liability in respect of goods short received or not received has been demanded after 90 days of clearance.
(e) Inter-unit transfer of raw material is not permitted under the EXIM Policy except for what is allowed under Para 6.16. In terms of this paragraph, unutilized material can be transferred from one EOU to another EOU/STP/EHTP/SEZ unit provided there are valid reasons for such sale/transfer. Ensure that such sale/transfer does not become a regular feature for the units.
(f) The supply from one EOU/EHTP/STP/SEZ unit to another shall be treated as import for the recipient unit and necessary endorsement to the effect may be made on all the documents pertaining to such inter – unit transfers. Ensure this as also ensure that Board’s instructions contained in circular No. 91/2002-Cus dated 20.12.2002 are followed.
XI
       Destruction of Goods

(a) Ensure that destruction of goods (capital goods, raw materials, consumables, waste/scrap etc.) takes place in the presence and under supervision of customs/central excise officers.

(b) If the goods destroyed still have commercial value and are cleared into the DTA, appropriate duty on such goods is to be collected.

(c) Destruction of gold, silver, platinum, diamonds, precious and semi-precious stones shall not be allowed. 
XII           Exports
(a) Exports from EOU are allowed under ARE-1 procedure.  Ensure that the duty foregone is correctly reflected in ARE-1.

(b) Verify proof of exports with respect to ARE-1, shipping bills and export realization certificate of bank.  Ensure that the goods are exported under ex-bond shipping bill without availing of any other export benefits, such as, duty drawback, DFRC, DEPB, Advance Licence, EPCG etc.

(c) Check whether the proof of export has been received within the stipulated time limit. In case of non-receipt check whether show cause notice has been issued demanding duty.
(d) Check third party exports as per para 6.10 of the Exim Policy. Any exports effected through merchant exporters should be subjected to thorough scrutiny, since a number of EOUs have recently deliberately tried to mislead the Department by shifting the onus to absconding merchant exporters for recovery of duty wherever fictitious exports have been detected by the Department. Under Para 6.10 the responsibility of proper utilization of inputs and giving proof of exports (even when the goods are exported through merchant exporter) is that of the EOU only.

(e) In case of third party exports, ensure that the goods are directly transferred from the unit to the port of shipment.

(f) Exports effected by units located in Western  India through Ports/Land Customs Stations located on the Eastern border should be subjected to thorough scrutiny, since a number of cases of forged/fictitious exports have come to light.
XIII
   Debonding
(a) Exit from the scheme is subject to payment of duties of customs and central excise. Therefore, a unit cannot be said to be debonded unless the applicable duties have been paid. 
(b) Check whether the goods intended to be debonded are within the bonding period or within the extended period as permitted by the Chief Commissioner/Commissioner.
(c) Check whether the Director/Development Commissioner has given approval for the debonding of capital goods/ raw material etc.
(d) Clearance of capital goods may be allowed on payment of an amount equal to the excise duty leviable on such goods on either on the depreciated value thereof and at the rate in force on the date of payment of such duty or on the transaction value, whichever is higher.

(e) The depreciation on capital goods may be allowed at the rate of 20% per annum of the original value in respect of computer and computer peripherals and 10% per annum in case of other capital goods. Ensure this.

(f) In case of clearance of other goods (other than used packing material) the excise duty payable is on the full value at the time of their clearance from the factory of manufacture CIF value at the time of import and the rates in force on the date of payment of such duty.

XIV      Others
(a) If any EOU is found to have not commenced its production even after receipt of the raw materials and installation of the capital goods, the same has to be promptly reported to the Asstt./Deputy Commissioner for taking timely action.

(b) After expiry of LOP, the unit no longer remains as an EOU. In such cases, no duty-free import/procurement facility should be allowed.  Further, action has to be taken against the unit for recovery of duty along with interest. Ensure this.

(c) Keep a watch on the units which are not doing well or which have stopped production.  Take immediate steps to recover the duty along with interest.

(d) Study the input-output ratio, wherever feasible.

(e) Keep a special watch where the EOU and non-EOU of the same management are existing in the same premises with separate boundaries. Through physical verification of warehoused goods, input-output ratio, power consumption etc. find out whether there is any possible misutilisation of duty free goods.

(f) Verify whether the DTA unit adjacent to EOU has availed of any facility/received any material of/from EOU.

(g) The EOUs are not eligible for the benefit of exemption schemes, such as, DEPB, Drawback, DEEC etc. Check and ensure that no EOU avails of these benefits.

(h) Keep a watch on fax machine, laptop computers, video projection systems, personal computers which are permitted to be taken out of bonded premises as per Board’s instructions.

(i) Ensure maintenance of separate accounts, from the raw material stage to the finished goods stage, when the finished goods are manufactured simultaneously with at least one imported raw material and also with wholly indigenous raw material, to avail of the benefit of S.No.3 of the Table of notification No.23/2003-CE.

(j) Verify whether the procedure adopted for conversion of a DTA unit to EOU is in accordance with the provisions.

CHECK LIST - CENVAT


Aspects to be taken care of by anti-evasion formations while doing a check on CENVAT credit availed by an assessee:-

1. Since the receipt of goods along with duty paying documents is the basis for taking credit, verify the supporting transport documents.

2. Verify whether the inputs are utilised as specified.  In case inputs are not utilized and removed as such, credit should be disallowed/appropriate duty to be demanded.

3. Check whether the final products are dutiable.  If not, the assessee is required to pay duty on common inputs used except fuel where separate inventory is not maintained.

4. In the case of certain electronic and other goods, certain inputs become obsolete and are written off from the account.  In such cases, credit should be disallowed.

5. In case of capital goods, actual date of receipt should be verified.  Check whether capital goods fall within the definition under CENVAT Rule 2.

6. Check whether the capital goods are used exclusively for manufacturer of exempted goods.  In such cases, credit should be disallowed.

7. The credit in respect of capital goods is allowed to the extent of 50% in that financial year and the remaining 50% is allowed in subsequent financial years provided the machinery is in use with the assessee.  Physical verification of capital goods when 50% credit taken is very much necessary.

8. In case of spares, components, accessories, grinding wheel, refractory etc. the actual utilization has to be verified with reference to the assessee’s record.

9. As there is no restriction to avail of CENVAT credit on any particular copy of invoice, it is very essential to check that the assessee has not taken credit more than once on different copies of same invoice.

10. As there is no system of defacing the invoice, possibility of having taken credit twice on the same invoice should be verified.

11. Check whether the duty paying document is consigned in the name of the manufacturer.

12. Verify whether the credit is taken on the document which is not specified under CENVAT Rule 7and also on incomplete documents.

13. Check whether full amount of credit is taken on input/capital goods short received or not received. Credit on goods short received should be recovered.

14. Verify whether the credit is taken on inputs/ capital goods received and stored outside the factory.

15. Verify whether the credit taken of the amount debited under CENVAT Rule 6 for exempted goods.

16. Verify whether the credit is availed of without accounting the receipt of goods in CENVAT stock account.

17. Check whether the credit is availed of on damaged inputs/ capital goods in respect of which insurance amount has been claimed and recovered.

18. Verify whether the credit is availed of on capital goods even though depreciation is claimed under Section 32 of Income Tax Act on the amount of Excise duty.

19. Verify whether the waste and scrap received from the job workers has been properly accounted.

20. Check whether the capital goods on which credit is availed of is used in the office as an equipment or an appliance.

21. When the inputs/ intermediate products sent for job work have not come back for reasonable period, check whether the goods have actually been disposed off or otherwise.

22. The investigation teams should verify some of the records maintained by an assessee for availment of CENVAT credit such as:

(1) Material requisition slip

(2) Material issue slip

(3) Goods inspection report

(4) Monthly list of rejected items/ inputs

(5) List of inputs found short at the time of receipt

(6) Insurance claims/ fixed asset register 

(7) Report on obsolescence

(8) Lorry receipts in respect of receipt of inputs, purchase vouchers/ ledger

(9) Test check of credit particulars especially credit availed using  Bill of Entries.

(10) Ensure that depreciation is not claimed under Income Tax Act.

23. Check whether any inputs have been cleared as such and duty on it has been paid or not.

24. Sometimes, intra company movement of inputs is effected to pass on the credit not utilized by one unit to other having low CENVAT balance.  In such cases it is necessary whether-

(a) issue of invoice/document by one unit to another is without the actual transfer of goods,

(b) over invoicing of clearances made by “CENVAT rich” unit to the “CENVAT deficit unit” of the same company,

(c) under invoicing of clearances made by CENVAT deficit to CENVAT rich under same company.

*******

CHECK LIST - VALUATION

Aspects to be taken care of by anti-evasion formations while doing a check on assessable value arrived  by an assessee:-

1. Check whether the description and the classification of goods assessed are correctly declared and whether the rate of duty applied is correct.

2. Check whether or not the goods are covered under M.R.P. based assessment under Section 4A, if ‘NO’ proceed to conduct checks enumerated in the following paragraphs.

3. Check whether the assessee has filed a declaration containing the marketing pattern adopted by them. Check whether there is any change in the pattern compared to the one adopted prior to 1.7.2000.  Probe the intentions behind the change and check whether there is any impact on revenue.

4. Where the valuation adopted is the transaction value in terms of section 2(1)(a) 

· Check whether there is a ‘sale’ involved

· Check whether such sale is for delivery at the time and place of removal i.e., factory

· Check whether the buyer is a non-related person in terms of the definition under Section 4(3)(b) read with Rule 10 Valuation Rules, 2000.

· Ascertain and confirm whether price is the sole consideration for the sale i.e., whether the assessee receives any consideration over and above the price indicated on the invoice.

In case the answer to any one of the four checks is ‘NO’ then proceed to the value in terms of Valuation Rules.  If the answer is ‘Yes’, the transaction value may be taken as the assessable value.  However, check the following aspects to further ensure that all the ingredients of transaction value as per definition have been included:

· Check whether any charges toward warrant after sale service is collected from the buyer directly or indirectly,

· Check whether drawing, design and developmental charges are collected separately and the same have been included in the assessable value,

· Check whether the same are included in assessable value,

· Check whether any charges towards outward handling and storage are collected from the buyer separately and the same are included in assessable value,

· Check whether any pre-delivery inspection charges have been incurred and collected from the buyer, and if so, the same have been included in the assessable value.

· Check whether the taxes which are claimed as abatement are actually payable.

5. Where the goods are sold for delivery at a place other than the place of removal. (Abatement of transportation charges).

· Check whether any abatement towards cost of transportation has been claimed,

· If ‘yes’, check whether such cost of transportation has been arrived at on the actual and is shown separately in the invoices.

· Check whether the assessee is selling the goods at uniform price at factory gate and other place, including averaged freight, in which case the assessee is not entitled to abatement on account of freight.

6. Where price is not the sole consideration for the sale – (Rule 6 of the valuation rules)

· Check whether moulds, dies, tools have been sent by the buyer free of cost amortized value/ depreciation has been appropriately taken for determining assessable value.

· Check whether the buyer has given any raw materials/ packing materials and its value is included in the assessable value.

· Check whether the value of engineering drawing, design and development undertaken elsewhere, have been included.

7. Where there is a sale through depots regional sales offices etc., (Rule 7 of the valuation)

· Check whether the normal transaction value adopted represents the sale value at highest aggregate quantity of goods sold to an un-related buyer.

· Check whether the transaction value adopted is at or about the time of removal from the factory.

· Check whether the adjustments claimed for time difference are substantiated.

· Check whether the goods are sold by the assessee through the consignment agent, in which case the value shall be determined in terms of Rule 7 of Valuation Rules.  The difference between the old valuation provisions and the present in respect of sale, through consignment agent is that earlier the cost of transportation was not allowable and now the same is allowed, subject to the conditions that it is actuals and is shown separately in the invoice.

8. Where the goods are not sold but used captivity – (Rule 8 of Valuation Rules).

· Check whether correct landed cost of the raw material and component parts have been taken.  In case of imported components check whether all the elements such as customs duty have been included. The certificates furnished by the Chartered/Cost Accountants should not be accepted blindly.  If the certificate furnished is ‘qualified’ by conditions obtain clarifications from the assessee.

· Check the value determined at 115% of cost of production is less or more compared to the value declared prior to 1.7.2000.

· Check the costing calculation in the case of similar products manufactured if any by the other manufacturer, to ensure that all elements of costs have been included in the value for the goods under assessment.

9.

When goods are sold through the related person: [Rule 9 of 
the valuation rules]

· Check if the related person transaction has influenced the transaction value.

10.
General Risk Indicators:-

· Examine whether any payments have been or received by the assessee by way of credit/debit notes, supplementary invoices etc., and check whether these are satisfactorily explained by the assessee.

· Examine the balance sheet of the assessee to check the nature of other income shown if any.  See whether such income is attributable to sale of goods.

· In respect of pharmaceutical products, motor vehicle parts, consumer goods check whether advertisement expenses are incurred by the dealer on behalf of the assessee.

· Check the value adopted generally to see whether there is reduction in price adopted compared to the period prior to 1.7.2000. Examine the reasons for the reduction, see whether it conforms to the provisions of section 4.
DISSEMINATION OF INTELLIGENCE BY DGCEI

One of the functions of the DGCEI, as laid down in its Charter, is dissemination of information to the various field formations on the modus operandi adopted by tax evaders. The underlying principle is that the field formations, due to their proximity to the alleged tax evaders, can act fast and bring the offenders to book.

The DGCEI normally disseminates the information in the following manner-

1. Sealed Cover Operations
Based on specific intelligence, the DGCEI conveys information in respect of a specific manufacturer or assessee in sealed covers to the jurisdictional Commissionerates. The sealed cover operation envisages carrying out anti-evasion operation on a particular date and time by the officers of the Commissionerates. The sealed cover normally contains specific information about a manufacturer’s modus operandi in evading duties and contains therein, the list of premises to be covered simultaneously. The Commissionerates act on the intelligence and conduct further investigations in the case and keeps the DGCEI informed about the outcome of the investigations.

2. Modus Operandi Circulars
The DGCEI analyses the various inputs collected/received from market sources, reports from the Commissionerates and other channels of information about any particular commodity or industry. Based on the analysis of these information inputs, the DGCEI circulates Modus Operandi Circulars indicating the gist of the methodology adopted in the case of a particular commodity or sector of an industry for evasion of duty. These Modus Operandi Circulars are serially numbered and are addressed to the Commissioners of Central Excise. They are expected to be endorsed right up to the Division and Range levels through the Preventive Wing of the Commissionerates, to help in checking evasion of duty in their jurisdictions.

3. Quarterly Meetings of Zonal ADGs with Jt/Addl/Dy/Asstt. Commissioners in Charge of Preventive/ Anti-Evasion Wing
The DGCEI has also initiated regular interaction with the Commissionerates by way of quarterly meetings taken by the Zonal ADGs of DGCEI with middle and senior level supervisory officers incharge of preventive wings of the Commissionerates. In these quarterly meetings, the Zonal ADGs give an overview of the general anti-evasion scenario and also discuss commodity and industry specific issues having implications for revenue. The officers of the Commissionerate are informed about the modus operandi being adopted to evade duty in various sectors of the industry. The quarterly meetings are also a forum for the exchange of views and sharing of information on anti-evasion matters. The quarterly meetings have been found to be very useful by the Commissionerates not only on general aspects of anti-evasion but also on particular cases being investigated by them.

4. Scrutiny of AE-2 Reports of Commissionerates:
The DGCEI, being one of the recipients of the AE-2 reports from the Commissionerates of Central Excise, also undertakes scrutiny of these AE-2 Reports. On the basis of analysis of these AE-2 reports, the DGCEI issues alert circulars explaining the Modus Operandi adopted by the various sectors of industry to evade duty.

5. Periodic Compilation of M.O. Circulars & Alerts:
The DGCEI also conducts a review of the M.O. Circulars and other alerts. Based upon their relevance in the context and the changes in law and procedures, the DGCEI also makes a periodic compilation of the contextually relevant alerts. These compilations are sent to the Commissionerates for their use. The DGCEI also conducts sector specific studies and advises the Board to take corrective action to prevent leakage of revenue. Two such studies were undertaken recently, one on EOU scheme and the other on area based exemption.

6. Annual Report of DGCEI:
Annual Report of the DGCEI is also a useful publication which summarizes the anti-evasion work done by itself and the Commissionerates. Interesting and useful briefs on anti-evasion work are contained in the Annual Report. Further, the Annual Report also gives an All-India perspective on anti-evasion scenario. This publication also disseminates the Action Plan for the next year. Based upon the Annual Report of DGCEI, the Commissionerates also make their annual anti-evasion action plans.

*************
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